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CACC UTUU ITT OII NOO ANN RY STATT TETT MEE EMM NEE TNN REGAGG RDRR IDD NII GNN FOFF ROO WAWW RDRR -L- OOKOO IKK NII GNN STATT TETT MEE EMM NEE TNN STT
ThiTT sii annual repore t contains “f“ orff ward-looking statementstt ” within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (t(( he “Securities Act”)” , and Section 21E of the Securities
ExEE change Act of 1934, as amended (t(( he “E“ xEE change Act”)” , and isii subject to the safeff harbor
created by those sections. All statementstt , other than statementstt of hisii torical facff tstt , included in
thisii annual repore t,t includid ng, without limitation, stattt ementstt regare ding the assumptm ions we makekk
about our business and economic model,l our dividedd nd policyc ,yy business strategye and other plans
and objectives forff our futff ure operations, are forff ward-looking statementstt forff purposr es of fff eff deral
and state securities lawsww .
ForFF ward-looking statementstt involve risii kskk and uncertainties, such as statementstt about our plans,
objectives, exee pex ctations, assumptm ions or futff ure eventstt .. InII some cases, you can idedd ntifi yff forff ward-
looking statementstt by terminology such as “may,”yy “will,l ” “should,” “would,”ll “could,”
“exee pex ctstt ,” “pl“ ans,” “contemplm ate,” “anticipati es,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predictstt ,”
“projectstt ,” “intend” or “continue” or the negate ive of such terms or other comparm able
terminologygg denoting uncertaintytt or an action that may,yy will or isii exee pex cted to occur in the futff ure,
although not all forff wrr ard-looking statementstt contain these identifi yff ing words. ForFF ward-looking
statementstt are subject to inherent risii kskk and uncertainties in predicting futff ure resultstt and
conditions that could cause the actual resultstt to difi fff eff r materiallyl frff om those projected in these
forff ward-looking statementstt . Some, but not all,l exee amplm es of the forff ward-looking statementstt
contained in thisii annual repore t include, among other things, statementstt about the folff lowing:

• our abilitytt to obtain regue latoryr approval to markrr ekk t and sell our product candidates in the
UniUU ted States, Europe and elsll ewhere;

• the initiation, timing, cost,t progress and success ofo our research and development
programs, preclinical studies and clinical trialsll foff r our product candidates;
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• our abilitytt to advance product candidates into, and successfs ulff lyl complm ete, clinical trialsll ;

• our abilitytt to successfs ulff lyl commercializii e the sale of our product candidates in the UniUU ted
States, Europe and elsll ewhere;

• our abilitytt to recruit suffff iff cient numbersrr of patff ientstt forff our futff ure clinical trialsll forff our
pharmaceutical productstt ;

• our abilitytt to achieve profo iff tabilitytt ;

• the implm ementation of our business model and strategie c plans;

• our abilitytt to develop and commercializii e product candidates forff orphanr and niche
indications indepee ndentlyl ;

• our commercializii ation, markrr ekk ting and manufacff turing capabilities and stratrr egye ;

• our abilitytt to protect our intellectual propertytt and operate our business without
infrff inging upon the intellectual propertytt righti stt of othersrr ;

• our exee pex ctations regare ding feff deral,l state and forff eigni regule atoryr requirementstt ;

• the therapeutic benefe iff tstt , efe fff eff ctiveness and safeff tyt ofo our product candidates;

• the accuracyc of our estimates of the sizii e and characterisii tics of the markrr ekk tstt that may be
addressed by our productstt and product candidates;

• the rate and degre ee of markrr ekk t accepte ance and clinical utilitytt of our futff ure productstt , ifi
any;

• our exee pex ctations regare ding markrr ekk t risii k,kk including interest rate changes, foff reigni currencyc
flff uctuations and regie onal or global economic impm actstt caused by public health threatstt ,
such as the outbreak of coronavirus or other infeff ctious disii eases;

• our abilitytt to engage and retain the emplm oyees required to grow our business;

• our futff ure fiff nancial perfr off rmance and projected exee pex nditures;

• developmentstt relating to our compem titorsrr and our industryr ,yy including the success of
compem ting therapies that are or become available; and

• estimates of our exee pex nses, futff ure revenue, capital requirementstt and our needs forff
additional fiff nancing.

TheTT ultimate correctness of these forff ward-looking statementstt depee nds upon a number of knowkk n
and unknowkk n risii kskk and eventstt . WheWW n reviewing the disii cussion below,w you should kekk epe in mind
the substantial risii kskk and uncertainties that impacm t our business. InII particular,r we encourage you
to review the risii kskk and uncertainties described in the “R“ isii k FacFF torsrr ” and the other cautionaryr
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statementstt made in thisii annual repore t in our other SEC fiff lings as being applicable to all related
forff ward-looking statementstt wherever theye appear in thisii annual repore t. WeWW cannot assure you
that the forff ward-looking statementstt in thisii annual repore t will prove to be accurate and therefe orff e
you are encouraged not to place undue reliance on forff ward-looking statementstt . YouYY should read
thisii annual repore t complm etelyl .
TheTT forff ward-looking statementstt spes ak onlyl as of the date on which theye are made, and, exee cepte as
required by law,w we undertakekk no obligati ion to update any forff ward-looking statement to refe lff ect
eventstt or circumstances aftff er the date on which the statement isii made or to refe lff ect the
occurrence of unanticipati ed eventstt . InII addition, we cannot assess the impam ct of each facff tor on
our business or the exee tent to which any facff tor,r or combination of fff acff torsrr , may cause actual
resultstt to difi fff eff r materiallyll frff om those contained in any forff ward-looking statementstt . NoneNN theless,
we reserve the righti to makekk such updates frff om time to time by press release, periodic repore t,t or
other method of publff ic disii closure without the need forff spes cifi iff c refe eff rence to thisii Quarterlyl
Repore t. NoNN such update shall be deemed to indicate that other statementstt not addrdd essed by such
update isii incorrect or create an obligati ion to provide any other updates.

TheTT inforff mation included in thisii ManageMM ment’s Discussion and Analyl syy isii of FiFF nancial CondiCC tion
and Resultstt of OpeO rations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated fiff nancial
statementstt and notes contained in thisii annual repe ort.
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PART I

ITEM 1 BUSINESS

Overview

XBiotech Inc. (“XBiotech” or the “Company”) is a biopharmaceutical company that discovers and
develops Trurr e Human™ monoclonal antibodies foff r trtt eating a variety of diseases. XBiotech was incorpr orated in
Canada on March 22, 2005. The Company’s Internet address is www.xbiotech.com. The Company makes available
frff ee of charge on or through its website its annual report on Form 10-K, quara terly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports fiff led or fuff rnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as well as proxy statements, as soon as reasonably practicable aftff er the Company
electronically fiff les such material with, or fuff rnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company’s
website is included in this annual report on Form 10-K as an inactive textutt al refeff rence only. The infoff rmation on, or
accessible through, tht e Compana y’s website is not a part of,ff or incorprr orated by refeff rence in, this annual report on
Form 10-K. The SEC maintains an Internrr et site that contains these reports at httpt ://// www.sec.gov.

XBiotech’s Trur e Human™ monoclonal antibodies are derived frff om human donors that mount a natut ral
human immune response. All other markrr eted antibody therapaa eutics are derived frff om animal immunization or
otherwise engineered. It is intutt itive that natutt rally occurrrr ing human ana tibodies have the potential to be safeff r, more
effff eff ctive and faff ster to develop than engineered counterpr arts. XBiotech has developed a pipeline of produdd ct
candidates targeting both inflff ammatory ana d infeff ctious diseases. The Company has also developed mana ufaff ctut ring
technology that reduces the cost and time to launch new product candidates. The Company designed ana d built a
state-of-ff the-art physical plant and infrff astrur ctut re to manufaff ctut re therapaa eutic antibodies at its Company’s 48 acre
research campus in Austin, Texas. XBiotech is thus a fuff lly integrated developer of biophara maceuticals.

An area of medical foff cus foff r XBiotech are therapa ies that block a potent substance, known as interleukin-1
alpha (IL-1α), that mediates tissue breakdown, angiogenesis, the foff rmation of blood clots, malaise, muscle wasting
and inflff ammation. IL-1α is a protein that is on or in cells of the bodydd and is involved in the body’s response to
injn ury or trauma. In almost all chronic ana d in some acute injn ury scenarios (such as stroke or heart attack), IL-1α may
mediate harmfuff l disease-related activity.

At the end of 2019, XBiotech sold a Trur e Human™ ana tibodydd therapeutic it was developing thtt at targeted IL-
1α foff r $1.35 billion in cash and potential milestone payments. The uniquqq e deal strur ctut re had XBiotech agree not to
fuff rther develop any anti-IL-1α antibodies only foff r dermatology, while XBiotech was permrr itted to continue to
discover and develop new Trur e Human™ana ti-IL-1a antibodies foff r use in areas of medicine outside of dermatology.
The Company quickly identififf ed new IL-1α targeting product candidates that it is has already brought into clinical
stut dies in oncology and rheumatology. While the Compana y previously was foff cused on a single Trur e Human™
antibody targeting IL-1α, we are now developing in parallel two product candidates, and may develop one or more
others. Since IL-1a is involved in the pathology of multiple diseases, it makes business sense to use diffff eff rent anti-
IL-1a antibodies foff r specififf c araa eas of medicine, allowing para trr nership or sale of each ana tibody separately foff r diffff eff rent
disease indications.

FiFF nii anciai l

XBiotech received $675 million on December 30, 2019 and $75 million on June 30, 2021 frff om the sale of
of its Trur e Humana ™ana tibodydd targeting IL-1a. In Februrr ary 2020, XBiotech used apa proximately $420 million to
repurchase stock frff om its shareholders. In July 2021, XBiotech distributed $75 million cash dividend to its
shareholders. The remaining cash was reserved foff r ongoing operations as part of its multi-year business plan to
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identifyff and develop Trurr e Human™ antibodies, including anti-Il-1α therapa ies, aiming to commercialize these drurr g
candidates.

Since January 1, 2020 XBiotech also used its proprietary manaa ufaff ctutt ring technology, its manaa ufaff ctutt ring
plant and infrff astrur ctut re to produce drurr g produdd ct foff r under a supply agreement. In addition, during 2020 ana d 2021
XBiotech provided clinical trial operations services foff r two Phase II clinical stutt dies. In 2022 XBiotech executed a
new manufaff ctutt ring supply agreement to extend its production of the anti-IL-1a antibody it sold. We believe that
XBiotech is in a very faff vorable position foff r an R&D stage biopharmaceutical companaa y, with a strong cash position
in its balance sheet related to sale of its drur g candidate, the aba sence of debt, a robust pipeline and a remarkrr ably
modest burnrr rate.

FuFF rthtt er Develoll po ment ofo ILII -1αα ThTT erapa ies

IL-1α plays a key role in many disease processes. While it is produced natut rally by the body, when not
properly controlled, in situt ations of acute or chronic injn ury, IL-1α can contrtt ibute to tht e development and
progression of a variety of medical conditions, such as cancer, stroke, heart attack or arthritis, to name a feff w.
Completed clinical stut dies and a myriad of scientififf c research have shown that blocking IL-1α may have a
benefiff cial effff eff ct in some or most of these medical conditions. The potential unmet medical need foff r blocking IL-1α
is therefoff re very signififf cant. In 2021, the Compm any entered the clinic with a molecule targeting IL-1⍺ in oncology
(Pancreatic Cancer). The Company has also started its clinical program in RhRR eumatology; and has fiff led ana
investigational new drurr g apaa plication foff r a stroke treatment.

Because the potential medical use foff r anti-IL-1α therapaa y is so large, the Company is developing more thana one Trur e
Human™ antibody, each neutralizing IL-1α, but designating diffff eff rent ana tibodies foff r use in specififf c areas of
medicine. This will potentially allow XBiotech to individually partner diffff eff rent antibodies according to unique
medical areas. The Compana y expects this will diversifyff risk foff r anti-IL-1α therapaa ies, allow multiple partnerships,
maximize value ana d faff cilitate greater resource dedication to these Trur e Human™ therapa eutics.

InII fn eff ctitt ous Disii ease PiPP pii elill nii e

XBiotech continued to achieve signififf cant milestones with its infeff ctious disease pipeline in 2021. The
Company has identififf ed several maja or areas of urgent unmet medical need foff r Trur e Humana ™ anti-infeff ctive antibody
therapies. Trur e Human™ ana tibodies may be used therapaa eutically or prophylactically to supplement immunity in
individuals where tht e robustness of the immune system has declined, such as in the elderly or individuals taking
immunosuppressive drur gs (ie. methotrexate). The Compana y is confiff dent that Ture Human ana tibodies can be a highly
effff eff ctive means foff r providing protection against numerous related infeff ctious diseases, such as shingles or inflff uenza.
Donations frff om blood bana ks ara e screened foff r healthy antibodies that have exceptionally strtt ong natut ral immunity to
specififf c diseases. Trur e Human™antibodies are derived only frff om donors with the best disease fiff ghting antibodies in
the population.

Trur e Humana ™ antibodies may also be used to provide highly potent and targeted immunity against
infeff ctious diseases in young, otherwise healthy individuals, where infeff ctious agents have overwhelmed natut ral
immunity. For example, this can occur during intravenous drurr g use, frff om a deep punctut re wound, or frff om tht e result
of surgeryrr , where bacteria has gained unnatut ral entry into a body compartment where it can establish and evade tht e
immune system. Stapa hylococcus aureus, including the deadly methicillin resistant (MRSA) variant, is an example of
our candidate anti-infeff ctive therapeutics.

Another patient population where Trur e Human™ ana tibodies may be particularly usefuff l is in infaff nts. Prior to
developing strong immunity, infaff nts can be vulnerable to infeff ctions. Particularly prematutt re infaff nts may need
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supplemental immunity against specififf c infeff ctious agents, such as respiratory syncytial virurr s (RSV). In 2022, the
Company continued making progress in its search foff r a Trur e Human™ana tibodydd therapaa eutic candidate foff r RSV.

We believe Trur e Humana ™ antibody tht erapa ies have a veryrr impm ortant apa plication in tht e case of potent
virur ses, such as inflff uenza, where the aggressive natut re of the virur s takes even relatively strong immune systems to
the limits. Here again, in elderly, the young or tht ose with weakened immune systems, an aggressive virur s like
inflff uenza can be lifeff threatening. XBiotech has developed ana antibody cocktail that is capa able of neutralizing all
known foff rms of inflff uenza—aa frff om the deadly 1918 strain to tht e most recent versions of flff u. On its research campus,
XBiotech has a fuff lly dedicated infeff ctious disease and ana imal faff cility laboratoryrr . The faff cility is just a short walk
frff om the Company’s main mana ufaff ctut ring headquara ters and incorpr orates an animal biological safeff ty level 2
(ABSL2) infeff ctious disease laboratoryrr foff r testing the Company’s Trur e Human™ ana tibodies against infeff ctious disease
targets.

InII fn rff astrtt ucture

In 2022 XBiotech completed its expansion of its manufaff ctut ring and R&D center. The expana sion resulted in
the creation of two new wings: one provides state-of-ff tht e-art wet laboratory research benches foff r scientists; another
area provides administrative space foff r dozens of personnel working in manufaff ctut ring, clinical and othtt er operations.
The building additions have enhanced the Company’s ability to house a larger workfoff rce, expand R&D activities
and orchestrate the production of multiple drur g products frff om its existing manufaff ctut ring ana d R&D center. XBiotech
owns its 48-acre campm us—and all strur ctut res on tht e property—dyy ebt-frff ee.

A Backgk round on ThTT erapa eutitt c Antitt bi odidd es

A centut ry ago, scientists and physicians envisioned being able to custom design therapa eutic "antibodies”
that were highly specififf c foff r a single target. By selectively attacking disease while sparing healthy tissue, these
“magic bullets” were anticipated to be ideal therapa eutic agents. It was not until the early 1970’s, however, that tht is
vision was realized when Kohler and Milstein developed a ground-breaking method foff r making target-specififf c
monoclonal antibodies—a Nobel prize-winning endeavor. Using this new apa proach, numerous monoclonal
antibody-based research, diagnostic, and therapa eutic produdd cts developed.

Kohler and Milstein’s discovery was based on their knkk owledge that the immune system of higher ana imals
produdd ces antibodies as a method of protecting them frff om vara ious harmfuff l agents, such as virur ses, bacteria, and
diseased cells. White blood cells, known as B cells, produce billions of diffff eff rent typyy es of ana tibodies, each with a
unique potential to bind ana d neutralize diffff eff rent disease targets. The vast array of possible treatments based on
antibodies led to the development of what is now a maja or indudd stry around the use of tht erapa eutic antibodies.

TrTT ue HuHH man™ Antitt bi odidd es

White blood cells in the humanaa bodydd secrete billions of diffff eff rent antibodies that circulate tht rough the blood
to react and protect us frff om toxins, infeff ctious agents or even other unwanted substances produced by our bodydd . Trurr e
Human™ antibodies, as the name implies, are simply those that are derived frff om a natut ral antibodydd identififf ed frff om
the blood of ana individual. To develop a Trur e Human™ antibody tht erapa y, donors are screened to fiff nd an individudd al
that has a specififf c antibodydd that matches the desired chara acteristics needed to obtain thtt e intended medical benefiff t.
White blood cells frff om tht at individual are obtained, the uniquqq e gene tht at produced the antibody is cloned, ana d the
genetic infoff rmation is used to produdd ce an exact replica of the antibodydd sequence. A Trur e Human™ antibodydd is,
therefoff re, not to be confuff sed with other markrr eted antibodies, such as so-called “fuff lly human” antibodies—where
antibody reactivity is developed through gene sequence engineering in tht e laboratory.



9

FuFF ndadd mentatt l ScSS ience ofo TrTT ue HuHH man™ Antitt bi odidd es

To apa preciate the background safeff ty and toleraba ility of Trur e Human™ antibodies, it is important to
consider the fuff ndamental biology of natut ral antibody produdd ction.

Billions of diffff eff rent white blood cells secrete billions of unique antibodies every day into circulation. The
vast number of diffff eff rent antibodies (and cells that produdd ce thtt em), are essential to enable adequate molecular
diversity to ward offff a vast range of potential infeff ctious or toxic threats. In other words, since antibodies act to bind
and thereby neutralize unwana ted agents, any given circulating antibody must be able to react with a potentially
limitless number of existing or evolving disease entities.

The staggering numbm er of diffff eff rent antibodies needed to achieve this level of preparedness, however, is a
daunting concept frff om a genetics point of view. If ana individudd al antibodydd gene was needed to encode each of a
billion diffff eff rent antibodies, there would be apa proximately 20,000 times as many genes needed just foff r antibodies as
there would be needed to encode the rest of tht e entire human genome. Individual cells would need to be gigantic,
and monumental resources of the bodydd would be required to make, copy and maintain all of the DNA. Clearly, the
system of antibodies could not have evolved to protect us, had not ana elegant solution emerged to deal with this
genetic conun ndrurr m.

Thus, a hallmarkrr of the immune physiology of all vertebrates (all have antibodies) is the ability to
recombine ana d selectively mutate a relatively small number of gene segments to create a phenomenal and effff eff ctively
unlimited number of antibody genes. By rearrana ging, recombm ining ana d mutating the genetic code, specialized white
blood cells, or B lymphocytes, are able to create an unlimited array of anaa tibodydd genes. The consequence of thtt is
genetic engineering, however, is that each antibodydd gene is unique to the individual B lympm hocyte thtt at created it—tt
and no copy of the gene exists in the human germline. The only place to fiff nd a uniquqq e antibody gene is in the
individual cells that created it.

The extraordinaryrr process of gene rearranaa gement anaa d mum tation results in a multitutt de of unique B
lymphocytes and consequently an incredibly diverse repertoire of antibodies in any given individual.

Elucidating the mechanisms behind the production of unique antibodydd genes must be considered one of the
maja or achievements of medical research in the 20th centut ry. Yet unfoff lding this mystery created another problem to
solve: If antibodies were not produced frff om genes encoded in the human genome and tht e products of these genes
were new to the bodydd , why were these antibodydd molecules not recognized by the immune system as foff reign
substances—like any other foff reign substance that they were intended to eradicate? How could the body distinguish
the apa parently “foff reign” ana tibody molecules frff om the bona fiff de infeff ctious intrur ders?

Unraveling the genetics of ana tibody production led to another maja or advance in medicine: tht e discoveryrr of
how an endless array of antibody proteins could be made in a way that individual molecules were always tolerated
by the body.

In the early 1990s, research began to demonstrate that the production of ana tibodies was not an unregulated
process. Rather, it was learned that the antibodies produced by each ana d every B lympm hocyte were subjb ect to intense
scrur tiny. Stut dies showed that B lymphocytes which produced acceptable antibodies were stimulated to grow while
those that produced “autoreactive” antibodies were not. B lymphocytes that produced “good” antibodies were
stimulated to prolifeff rate ana d enabled to produce copious amounts of ana tibodydd in the event it was needed to ward offff
a harmfuff l agent. B lympm hocytes that rearranged genes to produce antibodies that were ineffff eff ctive or were
autoreactive were given signals that instrur cted them to engage in a process of programmed cell death. Thus, B
lymphocytes producing harmfuff l or useless antibodies are simply killed offff .ff This mechanism foff r creating antibody
diversity on tht e one hand, while protecting the individual frff om a mass of unwana ted or intolerable antibody
molecules on the other, was as elegant as it was fuff ndamental to the success of vertebrate immune physiology.

This process of “selection” has been elucidated in great detail. There can be no more important feff atut re of
immune physiology than tht e process of selection. Selection is a fuff ndamental step to enable the body to produce an
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extremely diverse set of antibody molecules without, in tht e process, producing an arrrr ay of novel molecules that
cause harm.

InII dustrtt yr CoCC ntett xee t

Until now each and everyrr therapa eutic antibody on the mara ket has been derived frff om ana imals and/or through
gene sequence modififf cation in the laboratory to produce a desired antibodydd reactivity. Markrr eted antibodies to date,
described as “fuff lly humana ”, are not derived frff om human gene sequences that have undergone the crur cial process of
selection in a humana .

Without exception, all mara keted products to date tht at are described as “fuff lly human”, are in faff ct engineered
and are not selected based on natut ral tolerance in the human body. The use of the term “fuff lly human” to describe
these products has thus created consideraba le confuff sion. To our knkk owledge, there ara e at present no Trur e Human™
antibodies manufaff ctut red, using recombm inant protein technology, currently marketed.

PlPP all tftt off rmrr TeTT chnololl go ygg

Our Trur e Human™ antibody tht erapa eutics are developed in-house using our proprietary discovery platfoff rm.
There are signififf cana t technical challenges in identifyff ing ana d cloning genes foff r Trur e Human™ antibodies. A key
problem to overcome canaa be to fiff rst identifyff individudd als with the desired ana tibodydd reactivity. This can involve
screening thousands of blood donors to enable tht e identififf cation of a single, clinically relevant antibody—discovered
frff om literally trillions of irrelevant background ana tibodydd molecules in the blood of donors. To distinguish the
clinically relevant antibodies frff om irrelevana t background antibody molecules in donor bloods, we use our Supuu er
High Stringency Antibodydd Mining (SHSAM™) technology. White blood cells frff om that individual canaa then be
isolated, and the unique gene thtt at produced tht e native ana tibody obtained. We currrr ently obtain blood donor samples
through a Research and Collaboration Agreement with tht e South Texas Blood & Tissue Center, a Texas 501(c)(3)
non-profiff t corpr oration.

Novel cloning technologies developed at XBiotech have enaba led us to clone the crurr cial antibody gene
sequences frff om thtt ese donors in order to reproduce a Trur e Human™ antibodydd foff r use in clinical therapa y. A Trur e
Human™ monoclonal antibodydd should thtt erefoff re not be confuff sed with other marketed tht erapa eutic monoclonal
antibodies, such as those currently refeff rrrr ed to as “fuff lly humana ” antibodies.

MaMM rkrr et OpOO ppp ortunitii ytt

We have a numbm er of indications in various stages of clinical or pre-clinical development with signififf cant
market opportutt nities. These include an arrrr ay of inflff ammatoryrr conditions as well as infeff ctious disease indications.
The potential maraa ket opportutt nities in these various indications are vast and we believe our research and
manufaff ctutt ring technologies, designed to more rapa idly, cost-effff eff ctively and flff exibly produce new therapies, will be
advantageous in each market space.

Our StSS rtt atett ge ygg

Our objb ective is to fuff ndamentally change tht e way drd ur gs are developed and commercialized and become a
leading biopharmaceutical company foff cused on the discovery, development and commercialization of therapaa eutic
Trur e Humana ™ antibodies.

PrPP oduct PiPP pii elill nii e

Our product development statut s foff r the end of the year 2022 was as foff llows:



11

Employees and Human Capital

Our management team is comprised of highly experienced pharmaceutical and biotechnology executives
with successful track records in researching, developing, gaining approval for and commercializing novel medicines
to treat serious diseases. Together, the management team has covered the spectrum of pharmaceutical antibody and
drug discovery, preclinical research, formulation development, manufacturing, human clinical trials, regulatory
submissions and approval, and global commercialization. Additionally, the team has significant experience in
company formation, capital raises, mergers/acquisitions, business development, and sales and marketing in the
biopharmaceutical industry. Our board of directors (“Board”) is constituted by individuals with significant
experience in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. As of December 31, 2022, we had 85 full-time
employees. None of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced
any work stoppage. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

We are committed to growing our business over the long term. As a result of the competitive nature of the
industry in which we operate, employees have significant career mobility and as a result, the competition for
experienced employees is great. The existence of this competition, and the need for talented and experienced
employees to realize our business objectives, underlies the design and implementation of our compensation
programs. At the same time, we seek to keep our approach to compensation simple and streamlined to reflect the
still relatively moderate size of our company. We have compensation, leave and benefits programs necessary to
attract and retain the talented and experienced employees necessary to develop our business including competitive
salaries, stock options awards to permanent employees, both upon initial hiring and annually thereafter, and pay
annual bonuses to permanent employees contingent on the achievement of corporate and/or personal objectives. We
have developed an Employee Handbook that contains all corporate policies and guidelines for professional behavior.
Our policies and practices apply to all employees, regardless of title. These guidelines include our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics which is posted on our website.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, commencing in March 2020, we implemented a work-from-home
mandate and ceased all non-essential business travel. In the recent months, some employees have recommenced
limited business travel and some have transitioned back to working on-site in conjunction with the implementation
of additional safety and infection prevention measures including enhanced cleaning, additional personal protective
equipment, and contact tracing protocols. We continue to provide our employees with the option to work from
home.
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CoCC mpm etitt tii itt on

The therapa eutic antibody space is dynamic as there continues to be a highly active commercial pipeline of
therapa eutic antibodies globally, involving a complex arrayaa of development cycles as products reach the end of their
patent lifeff and as new candidate produdd cts proceed into pivotal stut dies and apa proach registration. There are nun merous
independent reviews on the subu jb ect in both trade journals and academic press (one such example being Reichert JM,
Antibodies to watch in 2018 MAbs. 2018 Jan 4:1-21).

We believe Trur e Humana ™ therapa eutic antibodies have impm ortant diffff eff rentiating faff ctors frff om other
monoclonal antibodies currently marketed. However, regardless of the potential advd antages or uniqueness of our
current or fuff tut re produdd ct candidates in the market, we do expect these produdd cts to compete head-to-head with the
numerous existing candidate ana tibody products in development, including emerging biosimilar therapa eutic
antibodies.

SaSS fa eff tytt

The Company’s Trur e Human™n antibodies are derived frff om a natut ral human immune response. It is
expected that this will faff cilitate better tolerability when used as a therapa eutic compared to humanized or “fuff lly
human” monoclonal antibodies. Antibody therapa ies are knkk own to be associated with signififf cant risk foff r infuff sion
reactions, including serious anaphylactic reactions. It is the Company’s belief tht at these reactions are, in large part,
the result of using antibodies that were not derived frff om natutt ral humana immunity but rather had engineered
specififf cities.

InII tett llll ell ctual PrPP opo ertytt

XBiotech has developed a large international intellectut al property (IP) portfoff lio to protect important aspects
of its technology, services, and products, including patents, trademarks and trade secrets.

GoG vernrr mentatt l Rege ulall titt ons

We operate in an industry that is regulated by various governrr mental agencies both in tht e U.S. and globally.
The success of our business is heavily dependent on our produdd cts gaining regulatoryrr apa proval. The compm liance with
regulations by the FDA in the U.S., the European Medicines Agency, or EMA in the European Union ana d otht er
regulatoryrr bodies in other geographic ara eas has a material effff eff ct on our capaa ital expenditut res, our earnrr ings and
competitive positions.

Our ability to fiff nance our operations and commercialize our produdd cts (both in the U.S. and abroad) are tied
to our aba ility to obtain regulatory apa proval foff r our products. In the U.S., the FDA strictly regulates the advertising
and promotion of drur g products, and drur g produdd cts may only be markrr eted or promoted foff r their FDA apa proved uses,
consistent with the produdd ct’s apaa proved labeling. Advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains
apa proval in the U.S. ana d is covered by feff deral insurance programs such as Medicare or Medicaid, will be heavily
scrur tinized by tht e FDA, the Department of Justice, (DOJ), the Offff iff ce of Inspector General of the Depara tment of
Health and Humanaa Services, (HHS), state attorneys general, members of Congress and the public. The regulatory
apa proval process is unpredictaba le, costly and time-consuming with no guarana teed positive outcomes. Even if we
believe clinical trials to be successfuff l, the FDA or compara able foff reign regulatory auaa thority may deem our clinical
trials insuffff iff cient and not providing adequate data on safeff ty and adequacy. The FDA or comparable foff reign
regulatoryrr apa provals, if ana d when obtained, mayaa contain substantial limitations on the use of the produdd ct, which
would restrict our ability to sell the produdd cts to the public at large.

In the Europeana Union and many other jurisdictions, in order to markrr et and sell our products, we must
obtain separate markrr eting apaa provals, such as frff om the EMA, and comply with numerous ana d varyrr ing regulatory
requirements. We have not obtained regulatory apaa proval foff r any product cana didate, ana d it is possible that none of the
produdd ct candidates we are developing or may discover in the fuff tut re will ever obtain regulatory apa proval. Change in
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political leadership within the U.S. and elsewhere could result in shiftff s in regulatoryrr policies as they pertain to our
business. While we may be aba le to anticipate certain changes, policy statements oftff en are not always translated into
actionable legislation. Therefoff re, fuff tutt re regulatoryrr changes may have a material impact on the timing ana d process
of obtaining the regulatory apa proval foff r our product candidates.

EnEE vironmentatt l Rege ulall titt ons

Our business is subjb ect to numerous environmental, health ana d safeff ty laws and regulations both in the U.S.
and elsewhere, which include regulations relating to the handling, use, storage, treatment ana d disposal of hazardous
materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of hazara dous and flff ammaba le materials, including chemicals and
biological materials. Our operations also produdd ce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties
foff r the disposal of these materials and waste.

We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injn ury frff om these materials, which would result in us
being liable foff r resulting damages, including signififf cant costs associated with civil or criminal fiff nes or penalties.

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Summary

The foff llowing summarizes some of the key risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affff eff ct us. You
should read this summary together with the more detailed description of each risk faff ctor contained below.

Risii kskk Related to our Business, FiFF nancial CoCC ndition and CaCC pa ital Requirementstt

• We will incur signififf cant losses during development of our current pipeline over the foff reseeable fuff tut re.
• We currently have limited opportut nities to generate revenue and may never sustain profiff taba ility.
• Our fuff tut re success may be dependent on the regulatory apaa proval and commercialization of our produdd ct

candidates.
• New laws or regulations could impact our ability to receive tht e necessary apa provals to successfuff lly market

and commercialize our product candidates.
• Product candidates we advance into clinical trials may not have faff vorable results in clinical trials or receive

regulatoryrr apa proval.
• For various reasons, we may be unable to complete clinical trtt ials on a timely basis, incurrrr ing higher costs

and delayed development timelines.
• The regulatory apaa proval processes of the FDA and comparaba le foff reign regulatory authorities are lengthy,

time consuming anaa d inherently unpredictable.
• Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effff eff cts or have other properties that could delay or

prevent their regulatory apaa proval, limit the commercial profiff le of an apaa proved laba el, or result in signififf cant
negative consequences prior to or foff llowing ana y mara keting apa proval.

• Any product cana didates that we commercialize may not receive coverage and adequqq ate reimbursement
frff om third-para ty payaa ers.

• If we are unable to establish ana effff eff ctive sales foff rce ana d mara krr eting infrff astrur ctutt re or enter into acceptable
third-partytt sales and markrr eting or licensing arrangements, we may be unable to create optimal revenue
frff om FDA apa proved products.

• Approved product cana didates may not achieve adequate mara krr et acceptance foff r commercial success.
• We faff ce substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing

produdd cts befoff re or more successfuff lly than we do.
• Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit

commercialization of any products that we may develop.
• Potential milestone payments, negotiated as a para t of the sale of Bermikimab, are at the discretion of the
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buyer ana d mayaa never materialize.
• Crur cial components used in our manun faff ctutt ring process are acquired frff om vendors. There are feff w alternate

sources of these compm onents, and ongoing supply could be disrur pted.
• We are highly dependent on our Chief Executive Offff iff cer.
• We depend on key personnel to operate our business, and we may be unable to retain, attract and integrate

qualififf ed personnel.
• Failure to comply with environmental, health ana d safeff ty laws and regulations could subu jb ect us to fiff nes,

penalties or other costs.
• Our business may be disrur pted by natut ral disasters, infrff astrurr ctut re interrurr ptions, or otht er public health

threats.

Risii kskk Related to InII tellectual Propo ertytt

• We may be unaba le to obtain or protect certain intellectut al property rights.
• Intellectut al property rights do not necessarily addrd ess all potential threats to any competitive advana tage we

may have.
• Our technology may be foff und to infrff inge upon third-para ty intellectut al propertytt rights.
• We may be unaba le to license needed intellectut al property frff om third para ties on commercially reasonable

terms or at all, including intellectut al property we in-license foff r manufaff ctut ring.
• If we are unable to protect the confiff dentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position

may be harmed.

Risii kskk Related to Owning ShSS arerr s ofo our CoCC mmon Stock

• Our share price may be volatile, which could subjb ect us to securities class action lawsuits and prevent you
frff om being aba le to sell your shares at or above the price at which you purchased them.

• Our directors, executive offff iff cers and principal shareholders continue to have subu stantial control over our
company and could hinder apa propriate corpr orate control.

• Provisions in our charter documents under Canadian law could make anaa acquqq isition of us, which may be
benefiff cial to our shareholders, more diffff iff cult.

• Against the judgment of tht e Company, we may be considered a passive foff reign investment company foff r
US tax purpr oses which may negatively affff eff ct US investors.

• We are governrr ed by the corpr orate laws in British Columbia, Canada which in some cases have a diffff eff rent
effff eff ct on shara eholders than the corpr orate laws in Delaware.

General Risii k FaFF ctorsrr

• Raising additional capa ital may cause dilution to our existing shareholders, restrict our operations or requqq ire
us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product cana didates.

• Futut re sales, or the possibility of fuff tut re sales, of a substantial number of our common stock could adversely
affff eff ct the price of the shares and dilute shareholders.

• Any inability to accurately report our fiff nancial results or prevent frff auaa d dudd e to a faff ilure to maintain effff eff ctive
internal control over fiff nana cial reporting could cause shareholders to lose confiff dence in our fiff nancial and
other public reporting.

Risks Related to our Business, Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

WeWW have inii curred sigi nifi iff cant loll sses sinii ce our inii cepe titt on and maya inii cur sigi nifi iff cant loll sses inii thtt e fuff ture.ee

We are a pre-markrr et phara maceutical company with a limited operating history. We had no net income prior to
the foff urth quqq arter of 2019, when we sold certain assets to Janssen Biotech, Inc. and entered into certain related
commercial agreements (the “Janssen Transaction”). Investment in pharmaceutical produdd ct development is highly
speculative because it entails substantial upfrff ont capa ital expenditutt res and signififf cant risk that any potential product
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candidate will faff il to demonstrate adequate effff iff cacy or an acceptable safeff ty profiff le, gain regulatory apaa proval or
become commercially viaba le. We do not have any products apa proved by regulatory authorities foff r marketing or
commercial sale and have not generated ana y revenue frff om product sales to date, and we continue to incur signififf cant
research, development ana d other expenses related to our ongoing operations. As a result, we incurred losses in every
reporting period frff om our inception in 2005 through the third quarter of 2019. Although we were profiff table during
the foff urth quqq arter and fiff scal year ended December 31, 2019 due to the cash received in the Janssen Transaction, that
was an extraordinary trana saction outside of normal business operations that had never previously occurrrr ed and may
not be repeated. We incurred a net loss foff r the fiff scal year ended December 31, 2022.

We expect to continue to incur signififf cant expenses and mayaa incur operating losses foff r the foff reseeable fuff tut re.
We anticipate these expenses will increase as we continue the research and development of,ff and seek regulatory
apa provals foff r our current ana d fuff tut re product candidates in vara ious indications, and potentially begin to
commercialize any products tht at may achieve regulatory apaa proval. We may encounter unfoff reseen expenses,
diffff iff culties, complications, delays and other unknown faff ctors that may adversely affff eff ct our fiff nancial condition. The
amount of our fuff tut re net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of fuff tutt re growth of our expenses and our ability to
generate revenues. Our prior losses have had, and any fuff tut re losses may continue to have, an adverse effff eff ct on our
fiff nancial condition. If any of our product cana didates faff il in clinical trials or do not gain regulatory apa proval, or if
approved faff il to achieve maraa ket acceptance, we may never sustain profiff tability.

Since inception, we have dedicated the vast maja ority of our resources to the discovery ana d development of our
proprietaryrr preclinical and clinical produdd ct candidates, and we expect to continue to similarly expend substantial
resources foff r tht e foff reseeable fuff tutt re. These expenditut res will include costs associated with conducting research ana d
development, manun faff ctut ring product cana didates, conducting preclinical experiments and clinical trials and obtaining
and maintaining regulatory apa provals, as well as commercializing any produdd cts later approved foff r sale. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized apaa proximately $31.5 million in expenses associated with research
and development.

We completed our initial public offff eff ring on April 15, 2015 ana d additional registered offff eff rings in March 2017
and May 2019. We also received a signififf cant amount of cash proceeds frff om the sale of bermekimab. However, the
net proceeds frff om these transactions and cash on hana d mayaa not be suffff iff cient to complete clinical development of any
of our product cana didates nor may it be suffff iff cient to commercialize any product cana didate. In addition, we
completed a modififf ed Dutch auaa ction tender offff eff r foff r our common shares in Februr aryrr 2020, which consumed $420
million of our cash resources. We also distributed $75 million cash dividend to our investors in July 2021.
Accordingly, we may require substantial additional capa ital to continun e our clinical development and potential
commercialization activities. Our fuff tut re capa ital requqq irements depend on mana y faff ctors, including but not limited to:

• the numbm er of fuff tut re product candidates we pursue;

• the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing ana y of our fuff tutt re produdd ct candidates, and
conducting preclinical research and clinical trials;

• the timing of,ff and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatoryrr apa provals foff r any fuff tut re product candidates we
develop;

• the cost of fuff tut re commercialization activities foff r our product candidates and the cost of commercializing ana y
fuff tut re produdd cts apa proved foff r sale;

• the cost of manaa ufaff ctutt ring our fuff tutt re produdd cts; and

• the costs involved in preparing, fiff ling, prosecuting, maintaining, defeff nding and enfoff rcing patents, including
litigation costs and the outcome of any such litigation.

We are unable to accurately estimate the fuff nds we will actut ally require to compm lete research and development
of our product canaa didates or the fuff nds required to commercialize any resulting produdd ct in tht e fuff tut re or tht e fuff nds that
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will be required to meet otht er expenses. Our operating plan may change as a result of many faff ctors currently
unknown to us, and our expenses may be higher than expected. Raising fuff nds in tht e fuff tutt re may present additional
challenges and fuff tut re fiff nancing may not be available in suffff iff cient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

Our business maya be advdd ersrr elyll afa fff eff ctett d byb thtt e ongn oinii gn COCC VIVV DII -19 pandedd mic.cc

The sustained COVID-19 global pandemic has disrur pted our business operations, ana d we expect it to continue
throughout tht e remainder of 2023 and possibly beyond. Depending upon the length and severity of the pana demic,
which cannot be predicted, we may continue to experience disrur ptions that could materially and adversely impm act
our business including:

• If any tht ird parties in our supply chain are or continue to be adversely impacted by restrictions resulting frff om
the COVID-19 pandemic, including staffff iff ng shortages, produdd ction slowdowns, or disrur puu tions in frff eight and
other transportation services ana d deliveryrr distribution systems, our supply chain may be disrur pted, which would
limit our ability to manufaff ctutt re our produdd ct candidates foff r our clinical trials, to meet our obligations to
manufaff ctut re drurr gs foff r Janssen under our clinical manufaff ctut ring agreement, or to conduct our research,
development and clinical operations.

• The pandemic has alreadydd affff eff cted and mayaa continue to affff eff ct our obligations and perfoff rmance under our
agreements with Janssen. We cannot predict the likely potential adverse impact of COVID-19 on Janssen’s
fuff tut re purchase orders or our ability to complete the manufaff ctut ring required by tht ose purchase orders.

• Various aspects of our clinical trials could be limited or take longer thana expected, including delays or
diffff iff culties in enrolling patients in our clinical trials, in clinical trial site initiation, and in recrur iting clinical site
investigators and clinical site staffff ;ff increased rates of patients withdrawing frff om clinical trials; diversion of
healthcare resources away frff om the conduct of clinical trials; interrur ption of key clinical trial activities such as
clinical trials site data monitoring due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by governrr mental
authorities; impact on employees and others or interrurr ption of clinical trial visits or stut dy procedudd res which mayaa
impact the integrity of subjb ect data and clinical stut dydd endpdd oints; and interrur puu tion or delayaa s in the operations of
the FDA and compara able foff reign regulatory agencies, which may impact regulatoryrr review and apa proval
timelines.

• The FDA and compm arable foff reign regulatory agencies may experience disrur ptions, have slower response times
or be under-resourced to continue to monitor our clinical trials or to conduct required activities and review of
our produdd ct candidates seeking regulatory review, or may prioritize review and apaa proval of COVID-19
treatments and vaccines over other product candidates, and such disrur ptions could materially affff eff ct the
development, timing ana d apaa proval of our product candidates.

The ultimate impact of the pana demic on us will depend on fuff tut re developments, which cana not be accurately
predicted. Given the uncertainties, we may be unaba le to maintain operations as planned prior to the COVID-19
pandemic.

WeWW currentltt yll have no source ofo pff roduct revenue and maya never sustatt inii profo iff tii att bilii ill tii ytt .yy

To date, we have not generated any revenun es frff om commercial product sales. Our aba ility to generate revenue
in the fuff tut re frff om produdd ct sales and achieve profiff tability will depend upon our aba ility, alone or with any fuff tutt re
collaborators, to commercialize produdd cts successfuff lly, including any current product cana didates or any produdd ct
candidates that we may develop, in-license or acquire in the fuff tut re. Even if we ara e able to achieve regulatory
apa proval foff r any current or fuff tutt re product cana didates, we do not know when anaa y of these products will generate
revenue frff om product sales, if at all. Our ability to generate revenue frff om product sales frff om any of our produdd ct
candidates also depends on a number of additional faff ctors, including our ability to:

• complete development activities, including the necessary clinical trials;
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• complete and submit new drd ur g apa plications, or NDAs, to the US Food and Drur g Administration, or FDA, and
obtain regulatory apa proval foff r indications foff r which there is a commercial markrr et;

• complete and submit apa plications to, and obtain regulatory apaa proval frff om, foff reign regulatory authorities such as
the European Medicines Agency, or EMA;

• establish our manufaff ctut ring operations;

• develop a commercial organa ization capa able of sales, marketing and distribution foff r our product candidates and
any products foff r which we obtain marketing apa proval ana d intend to sell ourselves in the mara kets in which we
choose to commercialize on our own;

• fiff nd suitable distribution partners to help us mara ket, sell and distribute our apaa proved products in other markrr ets;

• obtain coverage ana d adequate reimbursement frff om thtt ird-partytt payers, including government and private payaa ers;

• achieve market acceptance foff r our produdd cts, if any;

• establish, maintain and protect our intellectut al property rights; and

• attract, hire and retain quqq alififf ed personnel.

In addition, becauaa se of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical produdd ct
development, including that our product cana didates may not advance tht rough development or achieve tht e endpdd oints
of applicable clinical trials, we are unaba le to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses, or if we will be
able to sustain profiff tability. In addition, our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we decide to or are
required by tht e FDA, or foff reign regulatory auaa thorities, to perfoff rm stut dies or trials in addition to those that we
currently ana ticipate. Even if we are able to complete the development and regulatory process foff r our product
candidates, we anticipate incurring signififf cana t costs associated with commercializing these produdd cts.

Even if we are able to generate revenues frff om tht e sale of any of our product candidates that may be apaa proved,
we may not become profiff table and mayaa need to obtain additional fuff nding to continue operations. If we are unable to
sustain profiff tability on a continuing basis, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and
be foff rced to reduce our operations.

Our fuff ture success isii dedd pee endedd nt on thtt e rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval and commerciai lill zii atitt on ofo our product candidd dadd tett s.

We do not have any products tht at have gained regulatoryrr apa proval. As a result, our aba ility to fiff nance our
operations and generate revenun e, are substantially dependent on our ability to obtain regulatory apa proval foff r, and, if
approved, to successfuff lly commercialize our produdd ct candidates in a timely manner. We cannot commercialize our
other product candidates in the U.S. without fiff rst obtaining regulatory apaa proval foff r each product frff om the FDA;
similarly, we cannot commercialize any product cana didates outside of the U.S. without obtaining regulatory
apa proval frff om compm arable foff reign regulatory auaa thorities, including the EMA. The FDA review process typically
takes years to complete ana d apa proval is never guaranteed. Befoff re obtaining regulatory apa provals foff r the commercial
sale of any of our potential product candidates foff r a target indication, we must demonstrate with substantial evidence
gathered in preclinical and well-controlled clinical stut dies, including two well-controlled Phase III stut dies, and, with
respect to apa proval in tht e U.S. to the satisfaff ction of the FDA, and in Europe, to the satisfaff ction of the EMA, that the
produdd ct candidate is safeff and effff eff ctive foff r use foff r that target indication; and that the mana ufaff ctut ring faff cilities,
processes and controls are adequate. Obtaining regulatory apaa proval foff r mara keting of our current or fuff tut re product
candidates in one country does not ensure we will be able to obtain regulatoryrr apa proval in other countries. A faff ilure
or delay in obtaining regulatoryrr apa proval in one countryrr may have a negative effff eff ct on tht e regulatoryrr process in
other countries.
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Even if ana y of our product cana didates were to successfuff lly obtain apa proval frff om the FDA or compm arable
foff reign regulatory auaa thorities, any apa proval might contain signififf cant limitations related to use restrictions foff r
specififf ed age groups, warnrr ings, precautions or contraindications, or mayaa be subu jb ect to burdensome post-apa proval
stut dies or risk management requirements. If we are unable to obtain regulatory apa proval foff r our product cana didates
in one or more jurisdictions, or any apaa proval contains signififf cant limitations, we may not be able to obtain suffff iff cient
fuff nding or generate suffff iff cient revenue to continue the development of any of our other product candidates that we
are developing or mayaa discover, in-license, develop or acquqq ire in the fuff tutt re. Also, any regulatory apa proval of our
produdd ct candidates, once obtained, mayaa be withdrd awn. Furthermore, even if we obtain regulatory apa proval foff r ana y of
our produdd ct candidates, their commercial success will depend on a numbm er of faff ctors, including tht e foff llowing:

• development of a commercial organization within XBiotech or establishment of a commercial collaboration
with a commercial infrff astrur ctutt re;

• establishment of commercially viable pricing and obtaining apa proval foff r adequqq ate reimbursement frff om third-
party and government payaa ers;

• our ability to manufaff ctut re quana tities of our product candidates using commercially satisfaff ctory processes and at
a scale suffff iff cient to meet anticipated demand and enable us to reduce our cost of manufaff ctutt ring;

• our success in educating physicians and patients about the benefiff ts, administration and use of our product
candidates;

• the availability, perceived advdd antages, relative cost, relative safeff ty and relative effff iff cacy of alternative and
competing treatmtt ents;

• the effff eff ctiveness of our own or our potential strategic collaborators’ markrr eting, sales and distribution strategy
and operations;

• acceptance as a safeff and effff eff ctive therapy by patients and the medical community; and

• a continued acceptable safeff ty profiff le foff llowing apa proval.

Many of tht ese faff ctors are beyond our control. If we are unaba le to successfuff lly commercialize our produdd ct
candidates, we may not be aba le to earn suffff iff cient revenues to continue our business.

NeNN w lall wsww or rege ulall titt ons maya be promulgll atett d or modidd fi iff ed inii thtt e UnUU itii ett d StSS att tett s,s inii Europo e,e or othtt er
jurisii didd ctitt ons thtt at couldll imii pm act our abilii ill tii ytt tott receive thtt e necessaryr apa ppp rovalsll tott successfs uff llll yll markrr et and
commerciai lill zii e our product candidd dadd tett s.

The phara maceutical and biotechnology industry is one of the most regulated on a state, feff deral and
international level. There ara e a number of laws, regulations, and court decisions which impm act the daily activities of
our business. As a result, we must ensure that strategies and planning in relation to our product candidates are in
line with the current regulations governrr ing our industry. When there are changes in leadership, whether within the
U.S., or elsewhere, we must anticipate the possibility of shiftff s in regulatory policies as they pertain to our business.
New or modififf ed regulations may impact our ability to quickly respond with upuu dates to our programs. While we
may be aba le to anticipate certain changes, policy statements oftff en are not always translated into actionable
legislation. We continue to track updates and chana ges internrr ally to ensure we are in compliance with regulatoryrr
authority guidelines and expectations. Court decisions at botht the state and feff deral level canaa also impact the way in
which we operate ana d make specififf c product related program decisions. New laws, regulations, or court orders could
materially alter or impm act our ability to receive necessary approvals frff om regulatoryrr authorities to market and
commercialize our product cana didates.
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Because thtt e resultll stt ofo earlrr ill er clill nii ical trtt iai lsll are not necessarilii yll predidd ctitt ve ofo fff uff ture resultll stt ,s product candidd dadd tett s we
advdd ance inii tott clill nii ical trtt iai lsll ,s maya not have faff vorablell resultll stt inii lall tett r clill nii ical trtt ialsll or receive rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval.ll

Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will generate
adequate data to demonstrate the effff iff cacy ana d safeff ty of an investigational drur g. A number of compm anies in the
pharmaceutical ana d biotechnology industries, including those with greater resources and experience, have suffff eff red
signififf cant setbt acks in clinical trials, even aftff er seeing promising results in earlier clinical trials. We do not knkk ow
whether the clinical trials we ara e condudd cting, or mayaa conduct, will demonstrate adequqq ate effff iff cacy and safeff ty to result
in regulatory apa proval to markrr et any of our product cana didates in any para ticular jurisdiction. Even if we believe tht at
we have adequate data to support an apa plication foff r regulatoryrr apa proval to market our produdd ct candidates, the FDA
or other compm arable foff reign regulatory auaa thorities may not agree and could requqq ire us to conduct additional research
stut dies, including late-stage clinical trials. If late-stage clinical trials do not produdd ce faff voraba le results, our aba ility to
achieve regulatory apaa proval foff r any of our produdd ct candidates may be adversely impacted.

IfII we are unablell tott enrollll subjb ectstt inii clill nical trtt iai lsll ,s we wilii lll be unablell tott compm lell tett thtt ese trtt iai lsll on a titt mii elyll basisii .

Patient enrollment, a signififf cana t faff ctor in the timing of clinical trials, is affff eff cted by mana y faff ctors including the
size and natut re of the patient population, the proximity of subu jb ects to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria foff r the trial,
the design of the clinical trial, ability to obtain anaa d maintain patient consents, risk that enrolled subjb ects will drop out
befoff re completion, compm eting clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to tht e potential advantages
of the drd ur g being stut died in relation to other available therapaa ies, including any new drur gs that may be apa proved foff r
the indications we are investigating. Furthermrr ore, we rely on clinical trial sites to ensure the proper and timely
conduct of our clinical trials, ana d while we have agreements governrr ing their committed activities, we have limited
inflff uence over their actutt al, dayaa -to-dayaa perfoff rmana ce. We mayaa experience delays in starting-up clinical trial sites in a
timely manner, enrolling subjb ects in our trials, and may not be able to enroll a suffff iff cient number of subjb ects to
complete the trials. In addition, travel restrictions, shutdowns of or occupuu ancy limitations on certain businesses, bans
or restrictions on lara ge public gatherings and declarations of states of emergency remain in effff eff ct in some cities,
states and countries around the world in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Spikes in the nun mbers of
infeff cted patients, the rise and spread of new COVID-19 variants, delays in vaccine distribution or administration,
adverse reactions to existing or fuff tut re COVID-19 vaccines or fuff tut re similar regional or global health concerns could
negatively affff eff ct our ability to recrur it and retain subjb ects in clinical trials if they disproportionately impact the sites
in which we conduct ana y of our trials, which would have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business and our results of
operation ana d fiff nancial condition.

If we experience delays in the completion or if there is termination of,ff any clinical trial of any currrr ent or fuff tutt re
produdd ct candidates, the commercial prospects of our product candidates will be harmed, and our ability to generate
produdd ct revenues frff om any of these product candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our
clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and apaa proval process and could
shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or allow
our competitors to bring products to market befoff re we do, and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales,
which would impm air our abilitytt to generate revenues and mayaa harm our business, results of operations, fiff nancial
condition ana d cash flff ows and fuff tut re prospects. In addition, many of the faff ctors that could cause a delay in the
commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory apaa proval of our
produdd ct candidates.

ThTT e rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval processes ofo thtt e FDFF ADD and compm arablell foff reigi n rege ulall tott ryr authtt oritii itt es are lell ngn thtt yh ,yy titt mii e
consuminii gn and inii herentltt yll unpn redidd ctatt blell ,e and ifi we are ultll itt matett lyll unablell tott obtatt inii rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval foff r our
product candidd dadd tett s,s our businii ess maya faff ilii .ll

The time requqq ired to obtain apaa proval by the FDA and compm ara able foff reign regulatoryrr authorities is
unpredictable, but tytt pically takes several years foff llowing the commencement of preclinical stut dies and clinical trials
and depends upuu on numerous faff ctors, including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities and ana y shiftff s
in regulatory policy. In addition, apa proval policies, regulations, or the typyy e and amount of clinical data necessary to
gain apa proval mayaa chana ge dudd ring the course of a product cana didate’s clinical development and mayaa varyrr among
jurisdictions. We have not obtained regulatory apaa proval foff r any product cana didate, anaa d it is possible that none of the
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produdd ct candidates we are developing or may discover, in-license or acquqq ire and seek to develop in tht e fuff tut re will
ever obtain regulatory apaa proval.

Our product candidates could faff il to receive mara keting apaa proval frff om the FDA or a comparable foff reign
regulatoryrr authority foff r many reasons, including but not limited to:

• disagreement over the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

• faff ilure to demonstrate that a product cana didate is safeff and effff eff ctive;

• faff ilure of clinical trials to meet the level of statistical signififf cance required foff r apa proval;

• faff ilure to demonstrate that a product canaa didate’s clinical and other benefiff ts outweigh its safeff ty risks;

• disagreement over our interprr retation of data frff om preclinical stutt dies or clinical trials;

• disagreement over whether to accept effff iff cacy results frff om clinical trial sites outside the United States where the
standard of care is potentially diffff eff rent frff om thtt at in the United States;

• the insuffff iff ciency of data collected frff om clinical trials of our produdd ct candidates to supuu port the submission and
fiff ling of anaa NDA or other submission or to obtain regulatoryrr apa proval;

• irreparable or critical compm liance issues relating to our manufaff ctut ring and/clinical trial processes; or

• changes in the apaa proval policies or regulations that render our preclinical ana d clinical data insuffff iff cient foff r
apa proval.

The FDA or a compm arable foff reign regulatory auaa thority may require more infoff rmation, including additional
preclinical or clinical data to support apa proval, which may delay or prevent apaa proval and our commercialization
plans, or we mayaa decide to abandon tht e development program altogether. Even if we do obtain regulatory apaa proval,
our produdd ct candidates may be apa proved foff r feff wer or more limited indications than we requqq est, apa proved contingent
on the perfoff rmance of costly post-marketing clinical trials, or apa proved with a label that does not include the
labeling claims necessary or desirable foff r the successfuff l commercialization of tht at product candidate. In addition, if
any of our product cana didates produdd ce undesirable side effff eff cts or safeff ty issues, the FDA may require the
establishment of Risk Evaluation Mitigation Strategies, or REMS, or a compm arable foff reign regulatoryrr authority mayaa
require the establishment of a similar strategy, that may, restrict distribution of our products and impose burdensome
implementation requirements. Any of tht e foff regoing scenarios could materially hara m the commercial prospects foff r
our produdd ct candidates.

Even if we believe any completed, current or planned clinical trials are successfuff l, the FDA or a compm arable
foff reign regulatory auaa thority may not agree that our completed clinical trials provide adequqq ate data on the safeff ty or
effff iff cacy of our product cana didates, permitting us to proceed to additional clinical trials. Approval by comparaba le
foff reign regulatory auaa thorities does not ensure apa proval by the FDA and apa proval by one or more foff reign regulatory
authorities does not ensure apa proval by regulatoryrr authorities in other countries or by the FDA. However, a faff ilure
or delay in obtaining regulatoryrr apa proval in one countryrr may have a negative impact on the regulatoryrr process in
others. We may not be able to fiff le foff r regulatoryrr apa provals, ana d even if we fiff le, we mayaa not receive the necessary
apa provals to commercialize our products in anaa y maraa ket.
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Our product candidd dadd tett s maya cause undedd sirablell sidedd efe fff eff ctstt or have othtt er propo ertitt es thtt at couldll dedd lall ya or prevent
thtt eirii rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval,ll lill mii itii thtt e commerciai l profo iff lii ell ofo an apa ppp roved lall bel,ll or resultll inii sigi nifi iff cant nege atitt ve
consequences foff llll oll wingn anyn markrr etitt nii gn apa ppp roval.ll

Undesirable side effff eff cts caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrur puu t,
delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or tht e delay or denial of regulatory apaa proval by
the FDA or other compara able foff reign regulatory auaa thority. If toxicities occur in our current or fuff tutt re clinical trials
they could cause delay or even the discontinuation of fuff rther development of our produdd ct candidates, which would
impair our ability to generate revenues and would have a material adverse effff eff ct our business, results of operations,
fiff nancial condition and cash flff ows and fuff tut re prospects. There can be no assurance that side effff eff cts frff om our product
candidates in fuff tutt re clinical trials or that side effff eff cts in general will not prompm t the discontinued development or
possible market apa proval of our product cana didates. If serious side effff eff cts or other safeff ty or toxicity issues are
experienced in our clinical trials in the fuff tut re, we may not receive approval to mara ket any of our product cana didates,
which could prevent us frff om ever generating revenues frff om commercial product sales or sustaining profiff tability.
Results of our trials could reveal an unacceptably high severity and prevalence of side effff eff cts. In such an event, our
trials could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or compm arable foff reign regulatory autht orities could order us to
cease fuff rther development of or deny apa proval of our product candidates foff r ana y or all targeted indications. The
drur g-related side effff eff cts could affff eff ct patient recrur itment or tht e ability of enrolled subjb ects to complete the trtt ial or
result in potential product liaba ility claims. Any of these occurrences may have a material adverse effff eff ct on our
business, results of operations, fiff nancial condition ana d cash flff ows and fuff tut re prospects.

Additionally, if ana y of our product candidates receives marketing apa proval, ana d we or others later identifyff
undesirable side effff eff cts caused by such product, a numbm er of potentially signififf cana t negative consequences could
result, including:

• we may be foff rced to suspend marketing of such product;

• regulatoryrr authorities may withdraw their apaa provals of such produdd ct;

• regulatoryrr authorities may requqq ire additional waraa nings on the label that could diminish the usage or otherwise
limit the commercial success of such produdd ct;

• the FDA or other regulatory bodies may issue safeff ty alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases or
other communications containing warnings about such produdd ct;

• the FDA may require the establishment or modififf cation of REMS or a comparaba le foff reign regulatory auaa thority
may requqq ire the establishment or modififf cation of a similar strategy that may, foff r instance, restrict distribution of
our produdd ct and impose burdensome implementation requqq irements on us;

• we may be required to chana ge the way the produdd ct is administered or condudd ct additional clinical trials;

• we could be sued and held liaba le foff r harm cauaa sed to subjb ects or patients;

• we may be subjb ect to litigation or produdd ct liability claims; and

• our reputation may suffff eff r.

Any of thtt ese events could prevent us frff om achieving or maintaining markrr et acceptance of the particular
produdd ct candidate, if apa proved.



22

Even ifi our product candidd dadd tett s receive rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval,ll thtt eye maya stitt lii lll faff ce fuff ture challll ell ngn es,s inii cludidd nii gn
ongn oinii gn rege ulall tott ryr oversrr igi ht and markrr etitt nii gn challll ell ngn es.

Even if we obtain regulatoryrr apaa proval foff r any of our produdd ct candidates, it would be subjb ect to ongoing
requirements by the FDA and comparable foff reign regulatory authorities governing the mana un faff ctut re, quality control,
fuff rther development, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safeff ty survrr eillance, import, export, advertising,
promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of safeff ty and other post-market infoff rmation. The safeff ty profiff le of any
produdd ct will continue to be closely monitored by tht e FDA and compara able foff reign regulatory authorities aftff er
apa proval. If tht e FDA or compm arable foff reign regulatoryrr authorities become aware of new safeff ty infoff rmation aftff er
apa proval of ana y produdd ct candidate, they mayaa requqq ire labeling changes or establishment of a REMS or similar
strategy, impose signififf cant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or markrr eting, or impose ongoing requirements
foff r potentially costly post-apa proval stut dies or post-market surveillance. For example, the label ultimately approved
foff r any product cana didate, if it achieves marketing apa proval, may include restrictions on use.

In addition, manun faff ctut rers of drur g products and tht eir faff cilities are subjb ect to continual review and periodic
inspections by the FDA and otht er regulatory auaa thorities foff r compliance with current good manufaff ctutt ring practices,
or cGMP, and other regulations. If we or a regulatory agency discover previously unknkk own problems with a product,
such as adverse events of unana ticipated severity or frff equqq ency, or problems with the faff cility where the product is
manufaff ctut red, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that produdd ct, our manufaff ctutt ring faff cility, including
requiring recall or withdrawal of the produdd ct frff om the mara ket or suspension of manufaff ctut ring. If we, our product
candidates or our mana ufaff ctutt ring faff cilities foff r our produdd ct cana didates faff il to compm ly with apaa plicable regulatory
requirements, a regulatory agency may:

• issue warning letters or untitled letters;

• impose restrictions on the markrr eting or manufaff ctutt ring of the produdd ct candidates;

• mandate modififf cations to promotional materials or require us to provide corrective infoff rmrr ation to healthcaraa e
practitioners;

• require us or any fuff tutt re collaborator to enter into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various
fiff nes, reimbursements foff r inspection costs, required due dates foff r specififf c actions and penalties foff r
noncompliance;

• seek an injn unction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fiff nes;

• suspend or withdraw regulatoryrr apa proval;

• suspend any ongoing clinical trtt ials;

• refuff se to apa prove pending apaa plications or supplements to apaa plications fiff led by us;

• suspend or impm ose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufaff ctut ring requirements; or

• seize or detain products, refuff se to permit the import or export of produdd cts, or require us to initiate a product
recall.

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above mayaa inhibit our ability to commercialize our product
candidates and generate revenue.

The FDA strictly regulates the advertising and promotion of drur g products, and drur g produdd cts may only be
marketed or promoted foff r their FDA apa proved uses, consistent with the product’s apa proved labeling. Advertising
and promotion of any product candidate that obtains apa proval in the U.S., and is covered by feff deral insurance
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programs such as Medicare or Medicaid, will be heavily scrur tinized by the FDA, the Depara tment of Justice, (DOJ),
the Offff iff ce of Inspector General of the Depara tment of Health and Human Services, (HHS), state attorneys general,
members of Congress and the public. Violations, including promotion of our products foff r unapa proved or offff -ff label
uses, are subjb ect to enfoff rcement letters, inquiries and investigations, and civil, criminal and/or administrative
sanctions by the FDA and/or tht e DOJ. Additionally, advertising and promotion of,ff ana y product candidate that
obtains apa proval outside of the U.S. will be heavily scrur tinized by comparaba le foff reign regulatory autht orities.

In the U.S., engaging in impm ermrr issible promotion of our fuff tut re products foff r offff -ff label uses can also subjb ect us
to faff lse claims litigation under feff deral and state statutt tes, which can lead to civil, criminal ana d/or administrative
penalties and fiff nes and corprr orate integrity agreements that materially restrict the manner in which we promote or
distribute our drur g products. The feff deral False Claims Act, allows any individudd al to bring a lawsuit against a
pharmaceutical company on behalf of tht e feff deral government alleging submission of faff lse or frff auaa dulent claims, or
causing to present such faff lse or frff audulent claims, foff r payaa ment by a feff deral program, such as Medicare or Medicaid.
If the governrr ment prevails in tht e lawsuit, the individudd al may share in any fiff nes or settlement fuff nds. Since 2004,
False Claims Act lawsuits against pharmaceutical compm anies have increased signififf cantly in volume and breadth,
leading to several subu stantial civil and criminal settlements based on certain sales practices promoting offff -ff label drur g
uses. This growth in litigation has increased the risk that a pharmaceutical compana y will have to defeff nd a faff lse
claims action, pay settlement fiff nes or restitutt tion, agree to comply with burdensome reporting and compm liance
obligations, and be excluded frff om Medicare, Medicaid and other feff deral and state healthcare programs. If we do not
lawfuff lly promote our apa proved products, we may become subjb ect to such litigation and, if we are not successfuff l in
defeff nding against such actions, those actions could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our business, results of
operations, fiff nancial condition and cash flff ows and fuff tutt re prospects.

Existing government regulations may change and additional governrr ment regulations may be enacted that
could prevent, limit or delay regulatory apaa proval of our produdd ct candidates. If we are slow or unaba le to adapaa t to
changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requqq irements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain
regulatoryrr compm liance, we mayaa lose any mara keting apa proval that we may have obtained and/or be subu jb ect to fiff nes or
enhanced government oversight and reporting obligations, which would adversely affff eff ct our business, prospects and
ability to sustain profiff tability.

FaFF ilii ure tott obtatt inii rege ulall tott ryr apa ppp roval inii foff reigi n jurisii didd ctitt ons wouldll prevent our product candidd dadd tett s frff om beinii gn
markrr etett d inii thtt ose jurisii didd ctitt ons.

In order to market ana d sell our produdd cts in the Europeana Union and many other jurisdictions, we must obtain
separate marketing apaa provals and compm ly with numerous and varying regulatoryrr requqq irements. The apa proval
procedudd re vara ies among countries and can involve additional testing. The time requqq ired to obtain apa proval may
diffff eff r substantially frff om that required to obtain FDA apa proval. The regulatory apaa proval process outside the U.S.
generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA apa proval. Additionally, in many countries outside
the U.S., it is required tht at the produdd ct be apa proved foff r reimbm ursement befoff re the product can be effff eff ctively
commercialized in tht at countryrr . Obtaining foff reign regulatoryrr apa provals and compliance with foff reign regulatory
requirements could result in signififf cant delays, diffff iff culties ana d costs foff r us and could delay or prevent the
introduction of our products in certain countries. We may not obtain apa provals frff om regulatory autht orities outside
the U.S. on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure apa proval by regulatory authorities in other
countries or jurisdictions, and apa proval by one regulatoryrr autht ority outside the U.S. does not ensure apa proval by
regulatoryrr authorities in other countries or jurisdictions or by the FDA. A faff ilure or delay in obtaining regulatory
apa proval in one country may have a negative effff eff ct on the regulatory apaa proval process in others. We may not be able
to fiff le foff r marketing apa provals and mayaa not receive necessaryrr apa provals to commercialize our produdd cts in any
market. If we are unable to obtain approval of any of our product candidates by regulatory authorities in the
Europeana Union or ana other jurisdiction, the commercial prospects of that product canaa didate may be signififf cantly
diminished and our business prospects could decline.
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Even ifi we are ablell tott commerciai lill zii e our product candidd dadd tett s,s thtt e productstt maya not receive coveraga e and
adedd quatett reimii bursrr ement frff om thtt irii d-dd p- artytt paya ersrr ,s which couldll harmrr our businii ess.

Our ability to commercialize ana y products successfuff lly will depend, in para t, on the extent to which coverage
and adequate reimbursement foff r these products and related trtt eatments will be available frff om government auaa thorities,
private health insurers, health maintenance organizations and third-party payers. Patients who are prescribed
medications foff r tht e treatment of their conditions generally rely on third-para ty payaa ers to reimburse all or part of the
costs associated with their prescription drur gs. Coverage and adequate reimbm ursement frff om governrr ment healthcaraa e
programs, such as Medicare ana d Medicaid, ana d private healtht insurers are critical to new product acceptance.
Patients are unlikely to use our product candidates unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to
cover a signififf cana t portion of tht e cost of our produdd ct candidates. A primary trend in tht e US healthcare indudd stry and
elsewhere is cost containment. As a result, governrr ment auaa thorities and other third-para ty payaa ers have attempted to
control costs by limiting coverage and tht e amount of reimbursement foff r particular medications. Increasingly, third-
party payaa ers are requiring that drur g compana ies provide them with predetermined discounts frff om list prices and are
challenging tht e prices chara ged foff r medical products. Third-party payers may also seek additional clinical evidence,
beyond the data required to obtain marketing apaa proval, demonstrating clinical benefiff ts and value in specififf c patient
populations befoff re covering our products foff r those patients. We cannot be sure thtt at coverage and adequate
reimbursement will be available foff r any product tht at we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, what the
level of reimbm ursement will be. Coverage ana d reimbm ursement may impact the demand foff r, or the price of,ff ana y
produdd ct candidate foff r which we obtain markrr eting apaa proval. If coverage and reimbursement are not available or ara e
available only at limited levels, we may not be aba le to successfuff lly commercialize any produdd ct candidate foff r which
we obtain markrr eting apa proval.

There may be signififf cant delayaa s in obtaining coverage ana d reimbursement foff r newly apa proved drdd ur gs, anaa d
coverage may be more limited than the purpr oses foff r which the drur g is apa proved by tht e FDA or compm arable foff reign
regulatoryrr authorities. Moreover, obtaining coverage does not imply that any drurr g will be paid foff r in all cases or at a
rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufaff ctut re, sales and distribution. Interim
reimbursement levels foff r new drur gs, if apaa plicable, mayaa also be insuffff iff cient to cover our costs, and may only be
temporaryrr . Reimbursement rates may vary according to thtt e use of the drurr g anaa d the clinical setting in which it is
used. Reimbursement rates mayaa also be based in part on existing reimbursement amounts foff r lower cost drdd ur gs or
may be bundled into tht e payments foff r other services. Net prices foff r drurr gs may be redudd ced by mandatory discounts
or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payers and by any fuff tutt re relaxation of laws that
presently restrict imports of drurr gs frff om countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the U.S. Coverage
and reimbursement foff r drd ur g products can diffff eff r signififf cana tly frff om payer to payer. As a result, the coverage and
reimbursement determination process is oftff en a time-consuming and costly process with no assurance that coverage
and adequate reimbursement will be obtained or apa plied consistently. Third-para ty payaa ers oftff en rely upon Medicare
coverage policy ana d payaa ment limitations in setting their own coverage ana d reimbursement policies. Our inability to
promptly obtain coverage and profiff table reimbm ursement rates frff om both government-fuff nded and private payaa ers foff r
any apa proved products that we develop could have a material adverse effff eff ct on our operating results, our aba ility to
raise capital needed to commercialize produdd cts, and our overall fiff nancial condition.

WeWW have never markrr etett d a drdd ugu befe off re,e and ifi we are unablell tott estatt blill sii h an efe fff eff ctitt ve salell s foff rce and markrr etitt nii gn
inii fn rff astrtt ucture,e or entett r intott accepe tatt blell thtt irii d-dd p- artytt salell s and markrr etitt nii gn or lill censinii gn arrangn ementstt ,s we maya be
unablell tott generatett anyn revenue.ee

We do not currently have a comprehensive infrff astrur ctut re foff r the sales, marketing and distribution of
pharmaceutical drur g products. The cost of establishing anaa d maintaining such ana infrff astrur ctut re may exceed the cost-
effff eff ctiveness of doing so. In order to market any produdd cts that may be apaa proved by the FDA and compm arable foff reign
regulatoryrr authorities, we must build our sales, marketing, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make
arrangements with third paraa ties to perfoff rmrr these services foff r which we would incur subu stantial costs. If we are
unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution capa abilities, whether independently or with third
parties, we may not be able to generate produdd ct revenue and may not sustain profiff tability. We will be competing
with many companies that have extensive and well-fuff nded sales and marketing operations. Without an internal
commercial organization or the support of a third para ty to perfoff rm sales and marketing fuff nctions, or a combination
of bothtt , we may be unable to compete successfuff lly against more established compm anies.
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Our product candidd dadd tett s,s ifi apa ppp roved,dd maya not achieve adedd quatett markrr et accepe tatt nce amongn phyh siciai ns,s patitt entstt ,s
and healtll htt care paya ersrr and othtt ersrr in thtt e medidd cal communitii ytt necessaryr foff r commerciai l success.

Even if we obtain regulatoryrr apaa proval foff r any of our produdd ct candidates, such produdd ct(s) may not gain markrr et
acceptance among physicians, healthcare payaa ers, patients or the medical community within the U.S. or globally. Our
commercial success also depends on coverage and adequqq ate reimbursement of our produdd ct candidates by third-para ty
payers, including governrr ment payers, generally, which may be diffff iff cult or time-consuming to obtain, may be limited
in scope and may not be obtained in all jurisdictions in which we may seek to market our produdd cts. Market
acceptance of ana y of our produdd ct candidates foff r which we receive apa proval depends on a nun mber of faff ctors,
including:

• the effff iff cacy ana d safeff ty of such produdd ct candidates as demonstrated in clinical trials;

• the clinical indications foff r which the product cana didate is apa proved;

• acceptance by physicians and patients of the produdd ct candidate as a safeff and effff eff ctive treatment;

• the potential and perceived advd antages of product candidates over alternative treatments;

• the safeff ty of product candidates seen in a broader patient group, including a product canaa didate’s use outside the
apa proved indications;

• the prevalence and severity of any side effff eff cts;

• produdd ct labeling or produdd ct insert requirements of the FDA or other regulatory auaa thorities;

• the timing of market introdudd ction of our products as well as competitive products;

• the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments;

• the availability of coverage and adequqq ate reimbursement and pricing by third-para ty payaa ers and government
authorities;

• relative convenience and ease of administration;

• the effff eff ctiveness of our sales ana d markrr eting effff off rts and those of our collaborators; and

• unfaff vorable publicity relating to the product cana didate or the Company.

If any of our product candidates are apa proved but faff il to achieve market acceptance among physicians, patients,
or healthcare payers, we will not be able to generate signififf cana t revenues, which would compm romise our ability to
sustain profiff tability.

Our research progo rams maya not succeed.

In the last coupuu le of years, XBiotech has positioned itself with a pipeline of potential drurr g candidates at all
stages of development, frff om pre-clinical through Phase III clinical trial stage. Even though we have manaa y drdd ur gs in
development at this time, none of these research programs may succeed. There ara e several reasons why a drd ur g
program may faff il, including the foff llowing:

• In the development stage, we may be unable to develop a therapa y, which would mean us succeeding in isolating
appropriate antibodies to reach the clinical trial stage;
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• Any partnerships foff r tht e development of antibodies could faff il to produce results that would necessitate clinical
trials;

• We may not receive approval frff om regulatoryrr bodies to move frff om eara ly stage clinical trials to later stage
clinical trials;

• Even if we are able to move to later stage clinical trials, it may prove to be diffff iff cult to enroll patients into the
stut dies according to schedule, or at all;

• During the clinical trial, tht ere could be unexpected serious adverse events causing severe injn ury or deatht in
patients, requiring us to cease fuff rther enrollment or cauaa sing regulatory auaa thorities to place the trial on clinical
hold foff r an indefiff nite period of time;

• If a clinical trial is completed, we may not have the apa propriate personnel to submit a markrr eting apa plication to
regulatoryrr authorities foff r apa proval, and to fuff rther respond to the variety of foff llow up questions that regulatory
authorities may have dudd ring tht e review process;

• Regulatory authorities may reje ect drur g cana didates foff r a vara iety of reasons, preventing us frff om proceeding with
marketing ana d commercialization of apaa proved products; and

• We may rur n out of the fuff nds necessary to complete development foff r any of our potential drd ur g candidates.

Even an efe fff eff ctitt ve drdd ugu candidd dadd tett migi ht not be commerciai llll yll successfs uff l.

Even if we ultimately succeed in creating a safeff ana d effff eff ctive drur g, as determined by regulatory authorities,
based on our current product pipeline, there is no assurance it would be commercially successfuff l. Competitive
produdd cts might become availaba le faff ster or with lower costs or adverse risks to patients, resulting in feff w sales of any
produdd ct developed by XBiotech. Occurrences of certain disease indications, such as those in our pipeline, might
become suffff iff ciently rare, or victims might be suffff iff ciently impm overished, that commercial production is uneconomic.
Furthermore, we must have suffff iff cient buyu -in frff om patients and healthcare profeff ssionals to guarantee mara ket
exposure foff r our drur g candidates. If the end-users are not reached with our products, then it will be diffff iff cult to
generate revenue frff om our development effff off rts. And even though we could obtain regulatory apa proval foff r ana y of
our drd ur g cana didates, it is not necessarily the case that government or third-paraa ty payaa ers will decide to add our
produdd cts to their respective prescription drur g foff rmularies foff r reimbursement, thus inhibiting the aba ility foff r our drur g
candidates to reach the target patient populations, and health care profeff ssionals serving those patients.

WeWW faff ce substatt ntitt ai l compm etitt tii itt on, which maya resultll inii othtt ersrr didd sii coverinii gn ,gg dedd veloll po inii gn or commerciai lill zii inii gn productstt
befe off re or more successfs uff llll yll thtt an we dodd .

The development anaa d commercialization of new drdd ur g products is highly competitive. We faff ce competition
with respect to our current or fuff tut re product candidates to treat any relevana t indication(s). There are a numbm er of
large phara maceutical and biotechnology companies that currrr ently markrr et and sell products or are pursuing tht e
development of products foff r the treatment of the disease indications foff r which we ara e developing our fuff tutt re product
candidates. Some of these competitive products and thtt erapies are based on scientififf c approaches that are the same as
or similar to our apa proach, and others are based on entirely diffff eff rent apaa proaches. Potential competitors include
academic institut tions, government agencies and other pubu lic and private research organa izations that condudd ct
research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative ara rangements foff r research, development, manaa ufaff ctut ring
and commercialization.

More established compana ies may have a compm etitive advantage over us due to their greater size, cash flff ows
and institut tional experience. Compared to us, mana y of our competitors may have signififf cantly greater fiff nana cial,
technical and human resources. As a result of these faff ctors, our competitors may obtain regulatory apaa proval of their
produdd cts befoff re we do, which will limit our ability to develop or commercialize any of our produdd ct candidates. In
addition, mana y companies are developing new therapa eutics to supplant or expand upon the standard of care foff r a
number of diseases, as a result, we cannot predict what the standard of care will be as our product cana didates
progress through clinical development.
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Our faff ilii ure tott successfs uff llll yll idedd ntitt fi yff ,yy acquirii e,e dedd veloll po and commerciai lill zii e adddd idd tii itt onal produdd ct candidd dadd tett s or
apa ppp roved productstt couldll imii pm airii our abilii ill tii ytt tott grow.ww

Although a subu stantial amount of our effff off rts will foff cus on the continued clinical testing and potential apa proval
of our currrr ent produdd ct candidates, a key element of our growth strategy is to acquire, develop and/or mara ket
additional products and product candidates. All of these potential produdd ct candidates remain in the discovery ana d
clinical stut dy stages. Research programs to identifyff product candidates require substantial technical, fiff nancial ana d
human resources, whether or not any product candidates are ultimately identififf ed. Because our internal research
capa abilities are limited, we may be dependent upon pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic
scientists and other researchers to sell or license produdd cts or technology to us. The success of this strategy depends
partly upon our aba ility to identifyff , select and acquqq ire promising phara maceutical produdd ct cana didates and products.
The process of proposing, negotiating and impm lementing a license or acquqq isition of a produdd ct candidate or apa proved
produdd ct is lengthy ana d complex. Other companies, including some with substantially greater fiff nancial, mara keting
and sales resources, may compm ete with us foff r tht e license or acquisition of produdd ct candidates and apa proved products.
We have limited resources to identifyff and execute the acquqq isition or in-licensing of third-party products, businesses
and technologies and integrate them into our current infrff astrurr ctut re. Moreover, we may devote resources to potential
acquisitions or in-licensing opportut nities that are never compm leted, or we may faff il to realize the anticipated benefiff ts
of such effff off rts. Any product candidate that we acquqq ire mayaa require additional development effff off rts prior to
commercial sale, including extensive clinical testing and apa proval by the FDA and apaa plicaba le foff reign regulatory
authorities. All produdd ct candidates are prone to risks of faff ilure typical of pharmaceutical product development,
including tht e possibility that a produdd ct candidate will not be shown to be suffff iff ciently safeff ana d effff eff ctive foff r apa proval
by regulatory authorities. In addition, we cana not provide assurance that ana y produdd cts that we develop or apa proved
produdd cts that we acquire will be manufaff ctut red profiff tably or achieve market acceptance.

PrPP oduct lill ai bilii ill tii ytt lall wsww uitstt aga ainii st us couldll cause us tott inii cur substatt ntitt ai l lill ai bilii ill tii itt es and tott lill mii itii commerciai lill zii atitt on
ofo anyn productstt thtt at we maya dedd veloll po .

We faff ce an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our produdd ct candidates in
clinical trials and will faff ce an even greater risk if we commercially sell any products that we may develop. Product
liability claims may be brought against us by subjb ects enrolled in our clinical trials, patients, healthcare providers or
others using, administering or selling our produdd cts. If we cannot successfuff lly defeff nd ourselves against claims that
our produdd ct candidates or produdd cts caused injn uries, we could incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or
eventutt al outcome, liability claims may result in:

• decreased demana d foff r any product candidates or products that we may develop;

• termination of clinical trial sites or entire clinical trial programs;

• injn ury to our reputation and signififf cant negative media attention;

• withdrawal of clinical trial partrr icipants;

• signififf cant costs to defeff nd the related litigation;

• substantial monetary awards to clinical trial subjb ects or patients;

• loss of revenue;

• diversion of management and scientififf c resources frff om our business operations; and

• the inability to commercialize our produdd ct candidates.
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We will obtain insurance coverage foff r products to include the sale of commercial products if we obtain
marketing apaa proval foff r our product candidates, but we mayaa be unaba le to obtain commercially reasonable produdd ct
liability insurance foff r any products apa proved foff r marketing. Large judgments have been awaa arded in class action
lawsuits based on drur gs that had unana ticipated side effff eff cts. A successfuff l product liability claim or series of claims
brought against us, particularly if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely
affff eff ct our business.

WeWW wilii lll need tott exee pxx and our opo eratitt ons and grow thtt e sizii e ofo our orgr anizii atitt on inii thtt e fuff ture,e and we maya
exee pxx erience didd fi fff iff cultll itt es inii managa inii gn thtt isii growthtt .

As of December 31, 2022, we had 85 employees. As our development and commercialization plans and
strategies develop, or as a result of any fuff tut re acquisitions, we will need additional managerial, operational, sales,
marketing, scientififf c, ana d fiff nana cial headcount and other resources. Our mana agement, personnel and systems
currently in place mayaa not be adequate to supuu port this fuff tut re growth. Fututt re growth would impose signififf cant added
responsibilities on members of management, including:

• managing our clinical trials effff eff ctively, which we ana ticipate potentially being conducted at numerous clinical
sites on a global scale;

• identifyff ing, recrur iting, maintaining, motivating ana d integrating additional employees with the expertise and
experience we will requqq ire;

• managing our internal development effff off rts effff eff ctively while complying with our contrtt actut al obligations to
licensors, licensees, contractors and other tht ird parties;

• managing additional relationships with various strategic para trr ners, suppliers and other tht ird parties;

• improving our mana agerial, development, operational and fiff nance reporting systems and procedures; and

• expanding our faff cilities.

Our faff ilure to accomplish ana y of these tasks could prevent us frff om successfuff lly growing our Company.

WeWW maya never achieve anyn ofo thtt e potett ntitt ai l milii ell stott ne paya mentstt thtt at were nege otitt ai tett d as a part ofo thtt e JaJJ nssen
TrTT ansactitt on.

As part of the Janssen Transaction, we are eligible to receive milestone payments of $150 million foff r each
instance that Janssen, in its sole and absolute discretion, develops pharmaceutical products that contain bermekimaba
and that are foff r non-dermatological indications, provided that Janssen receives certain required commercial
authorizations foff r such products within a specififf ed timefrff ame. We are entitled to earn up to foff ur milestone
payments, foff r a maximum of $600 million. However, becauaa se the payment of tht ese fuff nds is subjb ect to Janssen’s
business decisions and discretion, as well as regulatoryrr apa provals and other faff ctors outside our control, we may
never receive any of these amounts. If we do not receive all or any of tht e milestone payaa ments, we may be required
to seek additional fuff nding frff om other sources, which mayaa not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all.

WeWW are higi hlyll dedd pee endedd nt on our ChCC iefe ExEE ecutitt ve OfO fff iff cer.rr

Our fuff tut re success depends in signififf cant part on the continued service of our Chief Executive Offff iff cer, John
Simard. Mr. Simard is critical to the strategic direction and overall management of our compm any as well as our
research and development process. Although we have an empm loyment agreement with Mr. Simard, it has no specififf c
duration. The loss of Mr. Simard could adversely affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial condition ana d operating results.
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WeWW dedd pee end on keye persrr onnel tott opo eratett our businii ess. IfII we are unablell tott retatt inii , atttt rtt act and inii tett ge ratett qualill fi iff ed
persrr onnel,ll our abilii ill tii ytt tott dedd veloll po and successfs uff llll yll grow our businii ess couldll be harmrr ed.dd

In addition to the continued services of Mr. Simard, we believe that our fuff tutt re success is highly dependent on
the contributions of our signififf cant employees, as well as our ability to attract and retain highly skilled and
experienced sales, research and development anaa d othtt er personnel in tht e United States and abroad. Some of our
signififf cant employees include our Chief Scientififf c Offff iff cer, our Vice President of Quality Assurance, our Vice
President of Quality Control, our Principal Finanaa cial Offff iff cer and Principal Accounting Offff iff cer. Changes in our
management team may be disrurr ptive to our business.

All of our employees, including our Chief Executive Offff iff cer, are frff ee to terminate their empm loyment
relationship with us at any time, subjb ect to any apa plicable notice requirements, and their knowledge of our business
and indudd stry may be diffff iff cult to replace. If one or more of our executive offff iff cers or signififf cant employees leaves, we
may not be able to fuff lly integrate new personnel or replicate the prior working relationships, and our operations
could suffff eff r. Qualififf ed individudd als with the breadth of skills and experience in tht e phara maceutical industry that we
require are in high demana d, ana d we may incur signififf cant costs to attract them. Many of the other pharmaceutical
companies that we compm ete against foff r qualififf ed personnel have greater fiff nancial and other resources, diffff eff rent risk
profiff les and a longer history in the indudd stry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportut nities and
better chances foff r career advana cement. Our faff ilure to attract and retain key personnel could impede the achievement
of our research, development and commercialization objb ectives.

IfII we faff ilii tott compm lyll witii htt envirii onmentatt l,ll healtll htt and safa eff tytt lall wsww and rege ulall titt ons,s we couldll become subjb ect tott fiff nii es
or penaltll itt es or inii cur coststt thtt at couldll have a matett rial advdd ersrr e efe fff eff ct on thtt e success ofo our businii ess.

We are subjb ect to numerous environmental, health and safeff tytt laws and regulations in the U.S. and elsewhere,
including, as a result of our leased laboratoryrr space, those governing laboratory procedures and the hana dling, use,
storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve tht e use of hazardous and
flff ammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste
produdd cts. We generally contract with third parties foff r the disposal of these materials and wastes.

We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injn ury frff om these materials. In the event of contamination or
injn ury resulting frff om our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable foff r any resulting damages, and ana y
liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur signififf cant costs associated with civil or criminal fiff nes and
penalties.

Although we maintain insurana ce foff r empm loyee injn ury to cover us foff r costs and expenses, we may incur due to
injn uries to our employees resulting frff om the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequqq ate
coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance foff r environmental liability or toxic tort claims
that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological or hazardous materials. In
addition, we mayaa incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or fuff tut re environmental, health and safeff ty
laws and regulations. These current or fuff tutt re laws and regulations may impair our research, development or
produdd ction effff off rts. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may also result in substantial fiff nes, penalties or
other sanctions.

Businii ess didd sii rupu titt ons caused byb natural didd sii astett rsrr ,s infn rff astrtt ucture inii tett rrupu titt ons,s COCC VIVV DII -19 or othtt er publill c healtll htt
thtt reatstt couldll seriouslyll harmrr our fuff ture revenues and fiff nii anciai l condidd tii itt on and inii crease our coststt and exee pxx enses.

Our operations could be subjb ect to earthquakes, power shortages or outages, telecommunications faff ilures,
water shortages, flff oods, hurricanes, typhoons, fiff res, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics such as
contagious disease outbt reaks, and other natut ral or mana made disasters or business interrur ptions, foff r which we are
predominantly self-ff insured. We do not carryrr insurance foff r all categories of risk that our business may encounter.
The occurrence of any of these business disrur ptions could seriously harm our operations ana d fiff nana cial condition and
increase our costs and expenses. We rely on third-parties to supply various items which araa e critical foff r produdd cing our
produdd ct candidates. Our ability to produce clinical supplies of product cana didates could be disrur pted, if the
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operations of these suppliers araa e affff eff cted by a mana -made or natut ral disaster, a pubu lic healtht crisis or other business
interrur ption. For example, the ongoing coronavirur s threat has spread to a nun mber of countries, including the United
States and various countries in Europe, resulting in the declara ation by the World Health Organization of a global
pandemic ana d the ana nouncement of extended trtt avel restrictions, business shutdowns, cancellations and prohibitions
of large public gatherings ana d declarations of states of emergency in cities, states and countrtt ies around the world.
The imposition of any of these restrictions in one of the regions where our faff cilities or those of our third-partytt
suppliers are located would have a disproportionately negative impact on us. The extent of the ultimate impact to
us, our signififf cana t suppliers and our general infrff astrur ctut re resulting frff om concentrtt ation in certain geograpa hical ara eas
is unknown and cana not be estimated, but our operations and fiff nancial condition would likely suffff eff r in tht e event of a
maja or earthquake, fiff re or other natut ral disaster or public health threat such as the coronavirurr s pandemic in one or
more of those areas. Further, ana y signififf cant uninsured liability may require us to pay subu stantial amounts, which
would adversely affff eff ct our business, results of operations, fiff nancial condition and cash flff ows frff om fuff tut re prospects.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

If we are unablell tott obtatt inii or protett ct inii tett llll ell ctual propo ertytt rigi htstt ,s our compm etitt tii itt ve positii itt on couldll be harmrr ed.dd

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secret, patent, copyright and
trademark laws, and confiff dentiality, licensing and otht er agreements with employees and third parties, all of which
offff eff r only limited protection. Our commercial success will depend in large part on our ability to obtain anaa d maintain
patent protection in the U.S. and other countries with respect to our proprietary technology and produdd cts. Where we
deem apa propriate, we seek to protect our proprietaryrr position by fiff ling patent apaa plications in the U.S. and aba road
related to our novel technologies and products that are impm ortrr ant to our business. The patent positions of
biotechnology ana d pharmaceutical companies generally are highly uncertain, involve compm lex legal and faff ctutt al
questions and have in recent years been the subjb ect of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity,
enfoff rceaba ility and commercial value of our patents, including those patent rights licensed to us by thtt ird paraa ties, are
highly uncertain.

The steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights mayaa not be adequqq ate to preclude misapa propriation of
our proprietary infoff rmation or infrff ingement of our intellectut al property rights, both inside and outside the U.S. The
rights already granted under ana y of our currently issued patents and those that mayaa be granted under fuff tutt re issued
patents may not provide us with the proprietary protection or competitive advantages we ara e seeking. If we are
unable to obtain ana d maintain patent protection foff r our technology anaa d produdd cts, or if thtt e scope of the patent
protection obtained is not suffff iff cient, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products
similar or superior to ours, and our ability to successfuff lly commercialize our technology anaa d products may be
adversely affff eff cted.

With respect to patent rights, we do not know whether our pending patent apa plications foff r any of our
technologies or product cana didates will result in the issuance of patents that protect such technologies or product
candidates, or if any of our issued patents will effff eff ctively prevent others frff om commercializing competitive
technologies and products. Our pending patent apa plications cannot be enfoff rced against third parties practicing tht e
technology claimed in such apa plications unless and until a patent issues frff om such apa plications. Further, thtt e
examination process may require us to narrrr ow the claims foff r our pending patent apaa plications, which may limit the
scope of patent protection that may be obtained if these apa plications issue. Because the issuance of a patent is not
conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enfoff rceaba ility, issued patents that we own or have licensed frff om
third parties may be challenged in the courts or patent offff iff ces in the U.S. and aba road. Such challenges may result in
the loss of patent protection, the narrowing of claims in such patents or tht e invalidity or unenfoff rceability of such
patents, which could limit our ability to stop others frff om using or commercializing similar or identical technology
and products, or limit the dudd ration of the patent protection foff r our technology anaa d produdd cts. Protecting against the
unauthorized use of our patented technology, trademarkrr s and other intellectut al property rights is expensive, diffff iff cult
and, in some cases, not be possible. In some cases, it may be diffff iff cult or impossible to detect third-partytt
infrff ingement or misapa propriation of our intellectut al property rights, even in relation to issued patent claims, and
proving any such infrff ingement may be even more diffff iff cult.
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InII tett llll ell ctual propo ertytt rigi htstt dodd not necessarilii yll adddd rdd ess allll potett ntitt ai l thtt reatstt tott anyn compm etitt tii itt ve advdd antatt ga e we maya
have.ee

The degree of fuff tut re protection affff off rded by our intellectut al propertytt rights is uncertain because intellectut al
propertytt rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our business, or permit us to maintain our
competitive advana tage. The foff llowing examples are illustrative:

• Others may be aba le to make compounds that are the same as or similar to our current or fuff tut re product
candidates but that ara e not covered by the claims of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed.

• We might not have been the fiff rst to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent
apa plication that we own or have exclusively licensed.

• We or any of our licensors or strategic partners might not have been tht e fiff rst to fiff le patent apa plications covering
certain of our inventions.

• Others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate anaa y of our technologies
without infrff inging our intellectutt al property rights.

• It is possible that our pending patent apa plications will not lead to issued patents.

• Issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or
may be held invalid or unenfoff rceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors.

• Our competitors might conduct research and development activities in the U.S. and other countries that provide
a safeff harbr or frff om patent infrff ingement claims foff r certain research and development activities, as well as in
countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the infoff rmation learned frff om such activities to
develop competitive produdd cts foff r sale in our maja or commercial markets.

• We may not develop additional proprietaryrr technologies that are patentable.

• The patents of others may have an adverse effff eff ct on our business.

Our tett chnololl go ygg maya be foff und tott inii fn rff inii gn e upu on thtt irii d-dd p- artytt inii tett llll ell ctual propo ertytt rigi htstt .

Third para ties, may in the fuff tut re, assert claims or initiate litigation related to tht eir patent, copyright, trademarkrr
and other intellectutt al property rights in technology that is important to us. The asserted claims and/or litigation
could include claims against us, our licensors or our suppliers alleging infrff ingement of intellectutt al propertytt rights
with respect to our products or components of tht ose products. Regardless of the merit of the claims, they could be
time consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel, or require us to
develop a non-infrff inging technology or enter into license agreements. We cannot assure you that licenses will be
available on acceptable terms, if at all. Furthermore, because of the potential foff r signififf cant damage awards, which
are not necessarily predictable, it is not unusual to fiff nd even arguably unmeritorious claims resulting in large
settlements. If any infrff ingement or otht er intellectut al propertytt claim made against us by ana y third party is successfuff l,
or if we faff il to develop non-infrff inging technology or license the proprietary rights on commercially reasonable termrr s
and conditions, our business, operating results and fiff nana cial condition could be materially and advd ersely affff eff cted.

If our products, methods, processes and other technologies infrff inge upon the proprietary rights of other parties, we
could incur substantial costs and we may have to:

• obtain licenses, which may not be available on commercially reasonable termrr s, if at all;

• abandon an infrff inging drur g or therapa y canaa didate;
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• redesign our products or processes to avoid infrff ingement;

• stop using the subjb ect matter claimed in the patents held by others;

• pay damages; or

• defeff nd litigation or administrative proceedings which mayaa be costly whether we win or lose, and which could
result in a substantial diversion of our fiff nancial and management resources.

WeWW maya need tott lill cense inii tett llll ell ctual propo ertytt frff om thtt irii d partitt es,s and such lill censes maya not be availii all blell or maya
not be availii all blell on commerciaii llll yll reasonablell tett rmrr s.

A third partytt may hold intellectut al property, including patent rights that are important or necessary to the
development of our products. It may be necessary foff r us to use the patented or proprietary technology of a third
party to mana ufaff ctutt re, or otherwrr ise commercialize, our own technology or products, in which case we would be
required to obtain a license frff om such third party. Licensing such intellectut al property mayaa not be available or may
not be available on commercially reasonable terms, which could have a material advd erse effff eff ct on our business and
fiff nancial condition.

IfII we are unablell tott protett ct thtt e confn iff dedd ntitt ai lill tii ytt ofo our trtt adedd secretstt ,s our businii ess and compm etitt tii itt ve positii itt on wouldll be
harmrr ed.dd

In addition to seeking patents foff r some of our technology and product candidates, we also rely on trtt ade
secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and othtt er proprietaryrr infoff rmation, to maintain our compm etitive
position. We seek to protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confiff dentiality
agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employees, corpr orate collaborators, outside scientififf c
collaborators, contract mana ufaff ctut rers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. We also enter into confiff dentiality
and invention or patent assignment agreements with our empm loyees and consultants. Despite these effff off rts, any of
these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary infoff rmrr ation, including our trade secrets, and
we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies foff r such breaches. Enfoff rcing a claim thtt at a party illegally disclosed
or misappropriated a trade secret is diffff iff cult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In
addition, some courts inside ana d outside of the U.S. ara e less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of
our trade secrets were to be lawaa fuff lly obtained or independently developed by a compm etitor, we would have no right
to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, frff om using that technology or infoff rmation to compete with
us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a compm etitor, our compm etitive
position would be harmrr ed.

Risks Related to Owning Shares of Our Common Stock

Our share price maya be volall titt lii ell ,e which couldll subjb ect us tott securitii itt es clall ss actitt on lall wsuitii stt and prevent you frff om
beinii gn ablell tott sellll your shares at or above thtt e price at which you purchased thtt em.

Our stock could be subu jb ect to wide flff uctut ations in response to many risk faff ctors listed in this section, and
others beyond our control, including:

• results of our clinical trials;

• results of clinical trials of our competitors’ produdd cts;

• regulatoryrr actions with respect to our products or our competitors’ produdd cts;

• actut al or anticipated flff uctut ations in our fiff nancial condition ana d operating results;
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• actut al or anticipated changes in our growth rate relative to our compm etitors;

• actut al or anticipated flff uctut ations in our competitors’ operating results or chana ges in their growth rate;

• competition frff om existing products or new products that mayaa emerge;

• announcements by us or our competitors of signififf cant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventut res,
collaborations or capa ital commitments;

• issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;

• flff uctut ations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;

• delisting of the Compana y’s common shares frff om the exchana ge on which they trade dudd e to the Company not
being in compliance with tht e listing requirements of the exchange;

• share price and volume flff uctutt ations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares;

• additions or departut res of key management or scientififf c personnel;

• disputes or other developments related to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability
to obtain patent protection foff r our technologies;

• announcement or expectation of additional fiff nancing effff off rts;

• sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or our otht er shareholders;

• market conditions foff r biopharmrr aceutical stocks in general; ana d

• general economic and markrr et conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume flff uctutt ations that have affff eff cted
and continue to affff eff ct the mara krr et prices of equity securities of many compm anies. These flff uctut ations oftff en have been
unrelated or disproportionate to the operating perfoff rmance of those compm anies. In particular, stock markrr ets have
experienced extreme volatility in the fiff rst quara ter of 2020 due to the ongoing coronavirur s pandemic and investor
concerns and uncertainty related to the impm act of the outbt reak on the economies of countries worldwide. These
broad market anaa d industry flff uctutt ations, as well as general economic, political and mara ket conditions such as
recessions, interest rate changes or international currency flff uctut ations, may negatively impm act the market price of
shares of our common stock. In addition, such flff uctut ations could subjb ect us to securities class action litigation,
which could result in substantial costs and divert our mana agement’s attention frff om otht er business concerns, which
could seriously harm our business. If the markrr et price of shares of our common stock does not exceed your buyu ing
price, you may not realize any retut rn on your investment in us and may lose some or all of your investment.

Our didd rii ectott rsrr ,s exee ecutitt ve ofo fff iff cersrr and prinii cipii al shareholdll edd rsrr contitt nii ue tott have substatt ntitt ai l contrtt ol over ourr
compm anyn and couldll dedd lall ya or prevent a changn e inii corprr oratett contrtt ol.ll

As of March 15, 2023 our directors, executive offff iff cers and principal shareholders, together with theirr
affff iff liates, benefiff cially own, in the aggregate, at least 11.8 million shares or apa proximately 38.8% of our outstanding
common stock, and could own apa proximately 14.2 million shares or approximately 43.3% of our outstanding
common stock if they fuff lly exercise their outstanding stock options. As a result, these shareholders, if acting
together, have the aba ility to determine the outcome of matters submitted to our shareholders foff r apa proval, including
the election of directors and ana y merger, consolidation or sale of all or subu stantially all of our assets. In addition,
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these persons, acting together, have the aba ility to control the management ana d affff aff irs of the Company. Accordingly,
this concentration of ownership may harm the market price of our common stock by:

• delaying, defeff rring or preventing a chana ge in control of tht e Company;

• impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving tht e Company; or

• discouraging a potential acquirer frff om making a tender offff eff r or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the
Company.

WeWW have broad didd sii cretitt on inii thtt e use ofo thtt e net proceedsdd frff om thtt e JaJJ nssen TrTT ansactitt on and maya not use thtt em
efe fff eff ctitt velyll .yy

We intend to continue to allocate the net proceeds that we received frff om our public offff eff rings and the Janssen
Transaction to fuff nd discoveryrr and development of our next generation Trurr e Humana ™ anti-IL-1⍺ antibody program
and to advance other ana tibodydd therapa eutics in our pipeline. However, our management will have broad discretion in
the actut al application of the net proceeds, anaa d we mayaa elect to allocate proceeds diffff eff rently if we believe it would be
in our best interests to do so. For exampm le, in Februrr ary 2020, we completed a cash tender offff eff r in which we
repurchased $420 million of our common shares. In July 2021, we distributed $75 million cash dividend to our
shareholders. Our shareholders may not agree with the manaa ner in which our management chooses to allocate and
spend the net proceeds. Our management mayaa also faff il to apaa ply these fuff nds effff eff ctively, which could have a material
adverse effff eff ct on our business. We may invest our cash on hand in a manner that does not produdd ce income or thtt at
loses value.

PrPP ovisii ions in our chartett r dodd cumentstt undedd r CaCC nadidd an lall w couldll make an acquisii itii itt on ofo us,s which maya be
benefe iff cial tott our shareholdll edd rsrr ,s more didd fi fff iff cultll .tt

Our authorized prefeff rred capital stock is available foff r issuance frff om time to time at the discretion of our Board
of Directors, without sharaa eholder apa proval. Our Articles of Incorpr oration (“Articles”) grant our Board of Directors
the authority, subjb ect to the corpr orate law of British Columbia, to determine or alter tht e special rights and
restrictions granted to or impm osed on any wholly unissued series of prefeff rred shara es, and such rights may be superior
to those of our common stock.

Limitations on the ability to acquire and hold our common stock may be imposed by thtt e Competition Act
(Canada). This legislation permrr its the Commissioner of Competition of Canada to review any acquqq isition of a
signififf cant interest in us. This legislation grants the Commissioner jurisdiction to challenge such an acquqq isition
befoff re tht e Canadian Competition Tribunal if the Commissioner believes that it would, or would be likely to, result
in a substantial lessening or prevention of compm etition in anaa y market in Canada. The Investmtt ent Canada Act
(Canada) subjb ects an acquqq isition of control of a compana y by a non-Canadian to government review if the value of
our assets as calculated pursuana t to the legislation exceeds a threshold amount. A reviewable acquisition may not
proceed unless the relevant minister is satisfiff ed that the investment is likely to be a net benefiff t to Canada.

Any of tht e foff regoing could prevent or delay a change of control and mayaa deprive or limit strategic
opportut nities foff r our shara eholders to sell their shares and/or affff eff ct the markrr et price of our shares.

WeWW maya be a passive foff reigi n inii vestmtt ent compm anyn foff r USUU tatt xaa purprr oses which maya nege atitt velyll afa fff eff ct USUU inii vestott rsrr .

Although XBiotech does not meet the defiff nition of “Investmtt ent Company”, foff r US feff deral income taxation
purpr oses, we will be a passive foff reign investment company (PFIC) if in any taxable year either: (a) 75% or more of
our gross income consists of passive income; or (b) 50% or more of the value of our assets is attributable to assets
that produdd ce, or are held foff r the produdd ction of,ff passive income. If we meet either test, our shares held by a US
person in that year will be PFIC shares foff r that year ana d all foff r subsequent years in which tht ey are held by that
person. In previous taxaba le years, we likely were a PFIC because our gross income consisted principally of interest.
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In 2019, however, the chara acter of our gross income changed signififf cantly as a result of the Janssen Agreements,
and the determination of whethtt er we were a PFIC in 2022 is uncertain. Moreover, the PFIC rur les can apa ply
diffff eff rently to diffff eff rent US shara eholders depending on whether a specififf c shareholder has made certain elections with
respect to the ownership of PFIC shares. Because these rur les are extremely complex anaa d apaa ply diffff eff rently based
upon whether ana d when a US shareholder has made certain elections, new and existing US shareholders should
consult with their tax advisors as to the tax implications of acquiring, owning and disposing of our stock.

WeWW are governrr ed byb thtt e corprr oratett lall wsww inii Britii itt sii h CoCC lumbiai ,a CaCC nadadd which inii some cases have a didd fi fff eff rent efe fff eff ct
on shareholdll edd rsrr thtt an thtt e corprr oratett lall wsww inii Delall ware,e UnUU itett d StSS att tett s.

The material diffff eff rences between the BCBCA as compared to the Delaware General Corpr oration Law
(DGCL) which may be of most interest to shareholders include the foff llowing:

(i) foff r material corpr orate transactions (i.e. mergers and amalgamations, other extraordinary corpr orate transactions,
amendments to our Articles) tht e BCBCA generally requires two-thirds maja ority vote by shareholders, whereas
DGCL generally only requires a maja ority vote of shareholders;

(ii) the quorur m foff r shareholders meetings is not prescribed under the BCBCA and is only two persons representing
20% of the issued shares under our Articles, whereas under DGCL, quorur m requires a minimum of one-third of
the shares entitled to vote to be present and compana ies’ certififf cates of incorprr oration frff equqq ently require a higher
percentage to be present;

(iii) under tht e BCBCA, a holder of 5% or more of our common stock can requisition a special meeting at which anaa y
matters that can be voted on at our ana nual meeting can be considered, whereas the DGCL does not give this
right;

(iv) our Articles require two-thirds maja ority vote by shara eholders to pass a resolution foff r one or more directors to be
removed, whereas DGCL only requires the affff iff rmative vote of a maja ority of thtt e shareholders; however, mana y
public compm any charters limit removal of directors to a removal foff r cauaa se; and

(v) our Articles may be amended by resolution of our directors to alter our authorized share strurr ctut re, including to
consolidate or subu divide ana y of our shara es, whereas under DGCL, a maja ority vote by shareholders is generally
required to amend a corpr oration’s certififf cate of incorprr oration and a separate class vote mayaa be required to
authorize alterations to a corprr oration’s authorized shara e strur ctut re.

We cannot predict if investors will fiff nd our common stock less attractive because of these material diffff eff rences. If
some investors fiff nd our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading mara ket foff r our
common stock and our share price may be more volatile.

General Risk Factors

Raisii inii gn adddd idd tii itt onal capa itii att l maya cause didd lii utitt on tott our exee isii titt nii g shareholdll edd rsrr ,s restrtt ict our opo eratitt ons or requirii e us tott
relill nii quisii h rigi htstt tott our tett chnololl go ies or product candidd dadd tett s.

The terms of ana y fiff nancing arrangements we enter into may adversely affff eff ct tht e holdings or the rights of our
shareholders and the issuance of additional securities, by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cauaa se the
market price of our shares to decline. The sale of additional equity or convertible securities would dilute all of our
shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fiff xed payaa ment obligations and, potentially,
the imposition of restrictive covenants. Those covenana ts may include limitations on our ability to incur additional
debt, limitations on our aba ility to acquire, sell or license intellectut al property rights and othtt er operating restrictions
that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. We could also be required to seek fuff nds through
arrangements with collaborators or otherwise at an eara lier stage than otherwise would be desirable resulting in the
loss of rights to some of our product cana didates or other unfaff vorable termrr s, any of which may have a material
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adverse effff eff ct on our business, operating results and prospects. Additional fuff ndraising effff off rts may divert our
management frff om their dayaa -to-day activities, which mayaa adversely affff eff ct our ability to develop and commercialize
our produdd cts.

FuFF ture salell s,s or thtt e possibi ilii ill tii ytt ofo fff uff ture salell s,s ofo a substatt ntitt ai l number ofo our common stott ck couldll advdd ersrr elyll
afa fff eff ct thtt e price ofo thtt e shares and didd lii utett shareholdll edd rsrr .

WeWW maya have a lill mii itii ett d abilii ill tii ytt tott use some or allll ofo our net opo eratitt nii gn loll ss and research tatt xaa credidd tii carryr fyy off rwardsdd
inii thtt e fuff ture.ee

As a result of prior operating losses and research and development activities, we have net operating loss, or
“NOL,” and research tax credit carryfoff rwards (collectively, the “carryfoff rwards”) foff r U.S. feff deral income tax
purpr oses. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, substantial changes in the
Company’s ownership may limit the amount of cara ryfoff rwards that could be utilized annually in the fuff tutt re to offff sff et
U.S. taxable income anaa d/or income tax. Specififf cally, this limitation may arise in the event of a cumulative chanaa ge in
ownership of the Compana y of more than 50% within a tht ree-year period. Any such ana nual limitation may
signififf cantly reduce the utilization of the carryfoff rwards befoff re they expire.

Futut re sales of a substantial number of our common stock, or the perception that such sales will occur, could
cause a decline in the market price of our common stock. As of March 15, 2023, we had 30,439,275 common shares
outstanding.

In the fuff tutt re, we may issue additional common stock or othtt er equity or debt securities convertible into
common stock in connection with a fiff nancing, acquisition, litigation settlement, employee arrangements or
otherwise. Any such issuance could result in subu stantial dilution to our existing shareholders and could cause our
common share price to decline.

IfII we faff ilii tott mainii tatt inii an efe fff eff ctitt ve sys stett m ofo inii tett rnrr al contrtt ol over fiff nii anciai l repee ortitt nii gn ,gg we maya not be ablell tott
accuratett lyll repee ort our fiff nii ancial resultll stt or prevent frff aud.dd As a resultll ,tt shareholdll edd rsrr couldll loll se confn iff dedd nce inii our
fiff nii anciai l and othtt er publill c repe ortitt nii gn ,gg which wouldll harmrr our business and thtt e trtt adidd nii gn price ofo our common stott ck.kk

Effff eff ctive internal controls over fiff nancial reporting are necessary foff r us to provide reliable fiff nancial reports
and, together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, are designed to prevent frff auaa d. Any faff ilure to
implement requqq ired new or impm roved contrtt ols, or diffff iff culties encountered in tht eir implementation could cause us to
faff il to meet our reporting obligations. In addition, any testing by us condudd cted in connection with Section 404 or any
subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting fiff rm, mayaa reveal defiff ciencies in our internal
controls over fiff nana cial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require prospective or
retroactive chana ges to our fiff nana cial statements or identifyff other areas foff r fuff rther attention or improvement. Infeff rior
internal controls could also cauaa se investors to lose confiff dence in our reported fiff nancial infoff rmation, which could
have a negative effff eff ct on the trading price of our common stock.

We are required to disclose changes made in our internal controls and procedudd res on a quara terly basis and our
management is required to assess the effff eff ctiveness of these controls annually. However, foff r as long as we are a
“smaller reporting compana y” with under $100 million in annual revenue, our independent registered pubu lic
accounting fiff rm will not be required to attest to the effff eff ctiveness of our internal controls over fiff nana cial reporting
pursuant to Section 404. An independent assessment of the effff eff ctiveness of our internrr al controls could detect
problems that our mana agement’s assessment might not.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company owns 48 acres of indudd strial-zoned property located fiff ve miles frff om Austin’s central business
district at the address of 5217 Winnebago Ln, Austin, TX, 78744. In 2016 the company built a new combined R&D
and manun faff ctut ring faff cility on this property. The Compm any uses this faff cility to conduct research, discover new
produdd ct candidates, produdd ce product foff r clinical stutt dies and provide administrative space to support its drur g
development and other activities. In 2019, XBiotech construr cted a new faff cility to house infeff ctious disease and
animal faff cilities. Located in a separate building on our campus, just a short walk frff om the Company’s main
manufaff ctut ring headquqq arters, tht e new faff cility incorpr orates an animal biological safeff ty level 2 (ABSL2) laboratory
and other laboratories foff r developing ana d testing Compana y’s Trur e Humana ™ antibodies against infeff ctious disease
targets. XBiotech owns the 48-acre campm us—and all strur ctutt res on the property—debt-frff ee and envisions fuff rther
expansion of faff cilities on the propertytt .

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is not currently subjb ect to any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not apa plicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Infoff rmation
Our common stock began trtt ading on tht e NASDAQ Global Select Market on April 15, 2015 under the

symbol “XBIT.” Prior to thtt at time, there was no established public trading markrr et foff r our common stock.

Holders of record
There were 10 record holders of our common stock as of Februr ary 22, 2023.

Dividends
In July 2021, we paid $2.50 per share in dividends to shareholders. We currently intend to retain any

earnings foff r fuff tutt re growth and, therefoff re, do not expect compm arable cash dividends will continue to be paid in the
foff reseeable fuff tutt re. Any fuff tutt re determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our Board of
Directors, subjb ect to apa plicable laws, and will depend on a number of faff ctors, including our fiff nancial condition,
results of operations, capa ital requirements, contractutt al restrictions, general business conditions, and other faff ctors
that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
[None.]

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
[None.]

ITEM 6. RESERVED

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

YouYY should read the folff lowing disii cussion and analyll syy isii of our fiff nancial condition and
resultstt of operations together with our audited consolidated fiff nancial statementstt forff the year
ended December 31, 2022 and related notes thereto, which have been prepe ared in accordance
with U.S.UU GAGG AP,P included elsll ewhere in thisii annual repore t on ForFF m 10-K.KK Some of the
inforff mation contained in thisii disii cussion and analyl syy isii or set forff th elsll ewhere in thisii annual repore t
on ForFF m 10-K,KK including inforff mation with respes ct to our plans and stratege ygg forff our business and
related fiff nancing, includes forff ward-looking statementstt within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (t(( he “Securities Act”)” , and Section 21E of the Securities
ExEE change Act of 1934, as amended (t(( he “E“ xEE change Act”)” , and isii subject to the safeff harbor
created by those sections. As a result of many facff torsrr , including those facff torsrr set forff th in the
“R“ isii k FacFF torsrr ” section of thisii annual repore t on ForFF m 10-K,KK our actual resultstt could difi fff eff r
materiallyl frff om the resultstt described in or implm ied by the forff ward-looking statementstt contained
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in the folff lowing disii cussion and analyl syy isii . ForFF more inforff mation, see “CautCC ionaryr Statement
About ForFF ward-L- ooking Statementstt .” InII particular,r we encourage you to review the risii kskk and
uncertainties described in “R“ isii k FacFF torsrr ” in thisii annual repore t on ForFF m 10-K.KK TheTT se forff ward-
looking statementstt are made as of the date of thisii repore t,t and we do not intend, and do not
assume any obligati ion, to update these forff ward-looking statementstt , exee cepe t as required by law.
All dollar amountstt stated herein are in U.S.UU dollarsrr unless spes cifi iff ed otherwisii e.

Overview

XBiotech Inc. (“XBiotech” or the “Company) is a pre-mara ket biopharmrr aceutical compm any engaged in
discovering ana d developing Trurr e Human™ monoclonal ana tibodies foff r treating a variety of diseases. Trur e Human™
monoclonal antibodies are those which occur natut rally in human beings—as opposed to being derived frff om animal
immunization or otherwise engineered. We believe that natut rally occurrrr ing monoclonal antibodies have the potential
to be safeff r and more effff eff ctive than their non-natut rally occurring counterpr arts. XBiotech is foff cused on developing its
Trur e Humana ™ pipeline and manufaff ctutt ring system.

Following the Janssen Transaction in December 2019, the tender offff eff r in Februr araa y 2020, and the dividends
paid in July 2021, retained earnrr ings as of December 31, 2022 were ($27.7) million. We had a net loss of $32.9
million foff r tht e year ended December 31, 2022, compara ed to a net loss of $17.4 million foff r the year ended Decembm er
31, 2021. During the fiff scal year of 2023, we don’t expect to generate any revenues. In addition, we expect to incur
signififf cant and increasing operating losses foff r the foff reseeable fuff tut re as we advance our drur g candidates frff om
discovery through preclinical testing and clinical. In addition to these research ana d development expenses, we
expect general and administrative costs to increase, particulara ly in consideration of currrr ent inflff ationary trends. We
will need to generate signififf cana t revenues to achieve or sustain profiff taba ility, and we may never do so. As of
December 31, 2022, we had 85 employees.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

Prior to receiving payaa ments under the clinical manufaff ctutt ring agreement entered into in connection with the
sale of bermikimaba , we had not generated any revenue. Under the clinical manufaff ctut ring agreement, we
manufaff ctut red bermekimaba foff r use by Janssen in clinical trials, in exchange foff r fiff xed payments, paid in quqq arterly
installments through 2021. In Februr ary 2022, we entered a new manufaff ctut ring contract with a Janssen-related
company whereby we continued to manun faff ctut re bermekimaba through November 2022.

OpOO eratitt nii gn ExEE pxx enses

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expense consists of expenses incurred in connection with identifyff ing and
developing our drdd ur g canaa didates. These expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, share-based
compensation, tht e purchase of equipment, laboratory ana d mana ufaff ctut ring supplies, faff cility costs, costs foff r preclinical
and clinical research, development of quality control systems, quality assurance programs and manun faff ctut ring
processes. We charge all research and development expenses to operating expenses as incurred.

Clinical development timelines, likelihood of success and total costs vary widely. We do not currently track
our internrr al research ana d development costs or our personnel and related costs on an individual drurr g candidate basis.
We use our research ana d development resources, including employees and our drurr g discovery technology, across
multiple drur g development programs. As a result, we cannot state precisely the costs incurred foff r each of our
research and development programs or our clinical ana d preclinical drur g cana didates. From inception through
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December 31, 2022, we have recorded total research and development expenses, including share-based
compensation, of $279.1 million. Our total research ana d development expenses foff r thtt e yearaa ended December 31,
2022 was $31.5 million, compared to $28.3 million the year ended Decembm er 31, 2021. Share-based compm ensation
accounted foff r $3.6 million foff r the year ended Decembm er 31, 2022 ana d $2.0 million foff r the year ended December 31,
2021.

Research and development expenses as a percentage of total operating expenses was 83% foff r the year
ended Decembm er 31, 2022, and 75% foff r the year ended December 31, 2021. The percentages, excluding share-based
compensation, were 85% foff r tht e year ended Decembm er 31, 2022, ana d 79% foff r the year ended December 31, 2021.

We will select drur g candidates and research projo ects foff r fuff rtht er development on ana ongoing basis in
response to their preclinical and clinical success and commercial potential. For research and development canaa didates
in early stages of development, it is prematutt re to estimate when material net cash inflff ows frff om these projo ects might
occur.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and related expenses foff r personnel in
administrative, fiff nance, business development and human resource fuff nctions, as well as the legal costs of pursuing
patent protection of our intellectut al property and patent fiff ling and maintenance expenses, share–b– ased
compensation, ana d profeff ssional feff es foff r legal services. Our total general and administration expenses was $6.3
million foff r thtt e year ended December 31, 2022, and $9.4 million foff r the yeara ended Decembm er 31. Share-based
compensation accounted foff r $1.4 million foff r tht e year ended December 31, 2022, ana d $2.2 million foff r tht e year ended
December 31, 2021.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ana d Results of Operations is based on
our fiff nancial statements, which have been prepared in confoff rmity with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States (US GAAP). The preparation of our fiff nancial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affff eff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and expenses incurred during the reported
periods.

We base estimates on our historical experience, knkk own trends and various other faff ctors that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which foff rmrr the basis foff r making judgments about the cara rying
value of assets and liabilities that are not apaa parent frff om other sources. Actut al results may diffff eff r frff om these estimates
under diffff eff rent assumptions or conditions.

While our signififf cant accounting policies are more fuff lly described in the notes to our fiff nancial statements
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe tht at the foff llowing accounting policies are the most
critical to understanding ana d evaluating our reported fiff nancial results.

ShSS are-B- ased CoCC mpm ensatitt on

Stock-based awards are measured at faff ir value at each grant date. We recognize share-based compensation
expenses ratably over the requisite service period of tht e option award.

Detett rmrr inii atitt on ofo thtt e FaFF irii VaVV lue ofo ShSS are-B- ased CoCC mpm ensatitt on GrGG antstt

The determination of the faff ir value of sharaa e-based compensation arrangements is affff eff cted by a nun mber of
variables, including estimates of the expected stock price volatility, risk-frff ee interest rate ana d the expected lifeff of the
award. We value stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which was developed foff r use in
estimating the faff ir value of traded options that are fuff lly transfeff rable and have no vesting restrictions. Black-Scholes
option-pricing model ana d otht er option valuation models require the input of highly subu jb ective assumptions,
including tht e expected stock price volatility. If we made diffff eff rent assumptions, our share-based compensation
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expenses, net loss, and net loss per common share could be signififf cantly diffff eff rent. We determine that the faff ir value
of common stock as the closing price of the Compana y’s common stock as reported by NASDAQ on the option grana t
date.

The foff llowing summarizes the assumptions used foff r estimating the faff ir value of stock options granted
during the periods indicated:

With the exception of the dividend paid in 2021, we have assumed no dividend yield becauaa se we do not
expect to payaa dividends in the foff reseeable fuff tutt re. The risk-frff ee interest rate assumption is based on observed interest
rates foff r U.S. Treasuryrr securities with matut rities consistent with the expected lifeff of our stock options. The expected
lifeff represents the period of time the stock options are expected to be outstanding ana d is based on the simplififf ed
method when the stock option includes “plain vana illa” terms. Under the simplififf ed method, the expected lifeff of anaa
option is presumed to be the midpd oint between the vesting date and the end of the agreement term. We used the
simplififf ed method due to the lack of suffff iff cient historical exercise data to provide a reasonaba le basis upon which to
otherwise estimate the expected lifeff of tht e stock options. For stock options that did not include “plain vanilla” terms,
we used the contrtt actut al lifeff of the stock option as the expected lifeff . Such stock options consisted primarily of
options issued to our board of directors that were immediately vested at issuance. Expected volatility is based on
historical volatilities foff r publicly traded stock of comparaba le companies over the estimated expected lifeff of tht e stock
options. The Company accounts foff r foff rfeff itut res as they occur rather than on ana estimated basis.

InII come TaTT xaa es

We account foff r income taxes under tht e asset and liability method. We record defeff rred tax assets and
liabilities foff r the fuff tut re tax consequences attributable to diffff eff rences between the fiff nancial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as foff r operating loss and tax credit
carryfoff rwards. We measure defeff rred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxaba le
income in the years in which we expect to recover or settle those temporara y diffff eff rences. We recognize the effff eff ct of a
change in tax rates on defeff rrrr ed tax assets and liabilities in the results of operations in the period that includes the
enactment date. We assess the likelihood tht at defeff rrrr ed tax assets will be realized, and we recognize a valuation
allowance if it is more likely tht an not that some portion of tht e defeff rrrr ed tax assets will not be realized. This
assessment requires judgment as to the likelihood and amounts of fuff tut re taxable income by tax jurisdiction. To date,
with the exception of certain Canada defeff rred tax assets that will reverse in a period in which they mayaa be carrrr ied
back, we have provided a valuation allowance against our defeff rred tax assets as we believe the objb ective ana d
verififf able evidence of our historical pretax net losses outweighs any positive evidence of our foff recasted fuff tut re
results. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax determination involves
signififf cant judgment. We will continue to monitor the positive and negative evidence ana d will adjd ust the valuation
allowance as suffff iff cient objb ective positive evidence becomes available.

We account foff r uncertain tax positions by recognizing the fiff nancial statement effff eff cts of a tax position only
when, based upon technical merits, it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination.
We recognize potential accrur ed interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax positions within our global
operations in income tax expense.

ClCC ill nii ical TrTT iai l Accrualsll

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Weighted-average grant date faff ir value per share..... $ 4.92 $ 9.29
Expected volatility.................................................... 82%-83% 83%-91%
Risk-frff ee interest rate................................................ 1.5%-4.1% 0.5%-1.4%
Expected lifeff (in years)............................................. 5.38–6.25 5.38–6.25
Dividend yield .......................................................... — —
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Expense accrur als related to clinical trials are based on tht e Company’s estimates of services received and
effff off rts expended pursuana t to contracts with third para ty service providers conduct and manage clinical trials on the
Company’s behalf.ff The fiff nancial terms of these agreements vary frff om contract to contract and may result in uneven
payment flff ows. Payments under some of tht ese contracts depend on faff ctors such as the successfuff l enrollment of
patients and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accrur ing costs, the Company estimates the period over
which services will be perfoff rmrr ed and the level of effff off rt to be expended in each period based upon patient
enrollment, clinical site activations, or infoff rmation provided to the Company by its vendors on their actutt al costs
incurred. Any estimates of the level of services perfoff rmed or the costs of these services could diffff eff r frff om actut al
results.

Results of Operations

Revenue

Revenue during the year ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 are summarized as foff llows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Revenue
Manufaff ctutt ring revenue $ 4,010 $ 18,000
Clinical Trial revenue - 394

Total revenue $ 4,010 $ 18,394

We had not generated ana y revenue befoff re the year 2020. Under the clinical mana ufaff ctut ring agreement with
Janssen and the addendum, foff r the year ended December 31, 2022, we have recorded $4.0 million as manufaff ctutt ring
revenue.

Under the clinical mana ufaff ctutt ring agreement with Janssen, we have recorded $18.0 million as
manufaff ctut ring revenue foff r the year ended December 31, 2021. Clinical trial revenue foff r tht e year ended December
31, 2021 includes $303 tht ousana d pass-through revenun e foff r twtt o ongoing trials and $91 thousand mark-up revenue.

CoCC st ofo GoGG odsdd SoSS ldll

Cost of goods sold during the year ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 are summarized as foff llows (in
thousands):

We had not incurred any cost of goods sold befoff re tht e year 2020.The mana ufaff ctut ring cost represents period
expense foff r manun faff ctut ring, quqq ality assurance and quqq ality control depara tments. Drur g foff r the Janssen Transaction was
mainly manufaff ctutt red in the year 2020. Part of the cost was defeff rred to the yeara 2021. Clinical trial cost foff r the yeara
ended Decembm er 31, 2021, is $303 tht ousand, which is the pass-through expenses foff r two trtt ials. These two trials
were completed in December 2020.

ExEE pxx enses

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Cost of goods sold
Manufaff ctutt ring cost $ 651 $ 5,517
Clinical trial cost - 303

Total cost of goods sold $ 651 $ 5,820
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Research and Developo ment

Research and Development costs are summarized as foff llows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, Increase % Increase

2022 2021 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Salaries and related expenses $ 10,534 $ 12,235 $ (1,701) -14%
Laboratoryrr and manun faff ctut ring
supplies 6,477 4,749 1,728 36%

Clinical trials and sponsored
research 2,047 1,390 657 47%

Share-based compm ensation 3,641 2,020 1,621 80%

Other 8,845 7,874 971 12%

Total $ 31,544 $ 28,268 $ 3,276 12%

We do not currently track our internal research ana d development costs or our personnel and related costs on
an individudd al drurr g candidate basis. We use our research and development resources, including employees and our
drur g discovery technology, across multiple drur g development programs. As a result, we cannot state precisely the
costs incurred foff r each of our research and development programs or our clinical ana d preclinical drur g cana didates.

Research and development expenses increased 12% to $31.5 million foff r year ended December 31, 2022
compared to $28.3 million foff r the year ended Decembm er 31, 2021. The increase was mainly due to the shiftff in
operating activities as a result of the termination of the clinical trial manufaff ctut ring agreement in the Janssen
Transaction. The increase of share-based compensation is due to the new grants to employees in the foff urth quarter of
2021. Salaries and related expenses decreased because of the year-end bonus to empm loyees only in 2021.

General and Admdd inisii trt ative

General and administrative costs are summarized as foff llows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, Increase % Increase

2022 2021 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Salaries and related expenses $ 2,494 $ 3,971 $ (1,477) -37%
Patent fiff ling expense 540 794 (254) -32%
Share-based compm ensation 1,421 2,162 (741) -34%
Profeff ssional feff es 1,035 1,469 (434) -30%
Other 815 992 (177) -18%
Total $ 6,305 $ 9,388 $ (3,083) -33%
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General and administrative expenses decreased 33% to $6.3 million foff r tht e year ended December 31, 2022
compared to $9.4 million foff r the year ended Decembm er 31, 2021. The salaries and related expenses decreased $1.5
million mainly dudd e to a $3.8 million bonun s to the Chief Executive Offff iff cer in June 2022 compared to a $7.0 million
bonus in June 2021, 40% of which was allocated to general and administrative expenses foff r botht periods. The share-
based compensation decrease was mainly due to tht e fuff lly amortized grants to employees in the previous year. In
addition, profeff ssional feff es decreased $0.4 million mainly due to the decrease in audit and tax service feff es in 2022.

Othtt er InII come

The foff llowing table summarizes other income (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Interest income $3,823 $467
Other expense (121) (132)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) (2,800) (711)
Total $902 $(376)

The interest income foff r the year ended December 31, 2022 ana d 2021 was mainly due to the interest
generated frff om tht e Company’s Canadian bank accounts and time deposits. Foreign exchange loss was mainly due to
the flff uctut ation between the US dollar and tht e Canadian dollar in the yeara ended December 31, 2022 compara ed to
2021.

InII come TaTT xaa es

The Company's income tax benefiff t foff r tht e tax yeara s end December 31, 2022 ana d 2021 of $0.7 million, and
$8.0 million, were primarily drd iven by estimated Canadian loss carrybacks to 2019 of $0.6 million and $9.5 million,
respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash requqq irements could change materially as a result of the progress of our research ana d development
and clinical programs, licensing activities, acquisitions, divestitut res or other corpr orate developments.

Since our inception on March 22, 2005 tht rough Decembm er 31, 2022, we have fuff nded our operations
principally through private placements and public offff eff rings of equity securities, which have provided aggregate cash
proceeds of approximately $118.2 million. We received $675 million in cash proceeds frff om the Janssen Transaction
in the year ended December 31, 2019. In June 2021, we received the remaining $75 million in cash frff om the escrow
receivable frff om the same trana saction. In July 2021, we paid $75 million in dividends to shareholders. In July 2022,
we purchased interest bearing time deposits in the amount of $63.3 million foff r a one year term. At December 31,
2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $157.3 million as compared to cash and cash equivalents of $237.0
million at December 31, 2021. The foff llowing table summara izes our sources and uses of cash (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Net cash (used in) provided by: 2022 2021
Operating activities $(14,824) $69,445

Investing activities (63,892) (3,525)
Financing activities - (67,008)
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Effff eff ct of foff reign exchange rate on cash and cash
equivalents (961) 705

Net change in cash ana d cash equivalents $(79,677) $(383)

OpO erating Activities

During the years ended December 31, 2022 ana d 2021 net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
was $(14.8) million and $69.4 million, respectively. Net cash used in the year ended December 31, 2022 primarily
resulted frff om our net income and losses, whereas foff r the year ending December 31, 2021 the compana y received $75
million frff om escrowed fuff nds frff om the sale of bermekimab.

InII vesting Activities

During the years ended December 31, 2022 ana d 2021, our investing activities used net cash of $63.9
million, and $3.5 million, respectively. The change in the year 2022 was mainly cauaa sed by the interest bearing time
deposits we purchased in July 2022, in the amount of $63.3 million, the matut rity term of which is one yeara . The use
of cash in the year 2021 was foff r building expansion ana d the warehouse in construr ction.

FiFF nancing Activities

During the years ended December 31, 2022 ana d 2021, our fiff nancing activities used net cash proceeds of $0
and $67 million, respectively. In July 2021, we paid $75 million in dividends to shara eholders. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, employee exercised stock options to purchase a total of 1.1 million shara es of our common stock
foff r apa proximately $8.0 million in net proceeds.

We expect to continue to incur operating losses in the fuff tut re. The clinical manun faff ctut ring agreement with
Janssen terminated in Novembm er 2022, aftff er which we do not expect to receive any additional revenue under that
agreement othtt er thanaa the potential milestone payment. As of December 31, 2022, our principal sources of liquqq idity
were our cash ana d cash equivalents, which totaled apa proximately $157.3 million.

Based on our cash anaa d liquqq id assets, we believe that our cash and liquid assets will provide us with
suffff iff cient fiff nancial resources to fuff nd operations and meet our capa ital requirements and ana ticipated obligations as
they become due.

Offff -ff Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since inception, we have not engaged in any offff -ff balance sheet activities, including the use of strur ctut red
fiff nance, special purpr ose entities or variable interest entities.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

We are a smaller reporting company as defiff ned by RuRR le 12b-2 of tht e Exchange Act ana d are not requqq ired to
provide the infoff rmation requqq ired under this item.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Boara d of Directors of XBiotech Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audiaa ted the accompam nying consolidated balance sheet of XBiotech Inc. and subsu idiaries
(the “Compm any”) as of Decembem r 31, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprmm ehensive
loss, shareholders’ equity,tt and cash flff ows forff the year then ended, anda the related notes (collectively refeff rrr ed to
as the “fiff nancial statements”). In our opinion, the fiff nancial statements present faff irly, in all material respects, the
fiff nancial position of the Compam ny as of Decembem r 31, 2022, and the results of their operations anda their cash
flff ows forff the year then ended, in confoff rmr itytt with accounu ting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Basis forff Opinion

These fiff nancial statements are the responsibilitytt of the Compam ny’s manaaa gement. Our responsibilitytt is to exprx ess
an opinion on the
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of XBiotech Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompana ying consolidated balance sheets of XBiotech Inc. (the Company) as of December
31, 2021 ana d 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders'
equity and cash flff ows foff r each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, ana d the related notes
(collectively refeff rrrr ed to as the “consolidated fiff nana cial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated fiff nancial
statements present faff irly, in all material respects, the fiff nancial position of tht e Company at December 31, 2021 ana d
2020, and tht e results of its operations and its cash flff ows foff r each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2021, in confoff rmrr ity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis foff r Opinion

These fiff nancial statements are the responsibility of the Compm any's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on tht e Company’s fiff nancial statements based on our audits. We are a pubu lic accounting fiff rm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are requqq ired to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with tht e U.S. feff deral securities laws and the applicable rur les and regulations
of the Securities and Exchana ge Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our auaa dits in accordance with tht e standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perfoff rmrr the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whetht er the fiff nancial statements are frff ee of material
misstatement, whether due to error or frff auaa d. The Companaa y is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perfoff rmrr ,
an audit of its internal contrtt ol over fiff nancial reporting. As part of our audits we are requqq ired to obtain an
understanding of internal contrtt ol over fiff nancial reporting but not foff r the purpr ose of expressing an opinion on the
effff eff ctiveness of the Compm any's internal control over fiff nancial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included perfoff rming procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of tht e fiff nancial statements,
whether due to error or frff auaa d, and perfoff rming procedudd res that respond to those risks. Such procedudd res included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regara ding the amounts ana d disclosures in the fiff nancial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used ana d signififf cant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the fiff nancial statements. We believe that our auaa dits provide a reasonable basis
foff r our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter ara ising frff om tht e currrr ent period audit of the fiff nancial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the auaa dit committee and that: (1) relates to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the fiff nana cial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjb ective or complex judgements. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any wayaa our
opinion on tht e consolidated fiff nancial statements, taken as a whole, and we ara e not, by communicating the critical
audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on tht e accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Accrued ClCC ill nii ical TrTT iai l CoCC st
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/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Compana y‘s auditor since 2005.

Austin, Texas

March 15, 2022

Descripi tion ofo
thtt e MaMM tter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated fiff nana cial statements, the Company records accrurr als foff r clinical
trial activities based upon estimates of costs incurred through the balance sheet date that have yet to be
invoiced by the clinical trial sites and third-party service providers. The Compm any’s accrurr al foff r clinical trial
costs totaled $618 tht ousand at December 31, 2021.

Auditing the Compana y’s accrurr als foff r clinical trials is challenging due to the faff ct that infoff rmrr ation necessary
to estimate the accrur al includes signififf cant assumptions derived frff om patient visits and projo ect duration, ana d
such assumptions are accumulated frff om multiple sources. Specififf cally, in certain circumstances, the
determination of the natut re ana d level of servrr ices received dudd ring the reporting period requires judgement
because the timing ana d patternrr of the vendor invoicing may not corrrr espond to the timing ana d level of services
provided and there may be a delay in invoicing frff om clinical trial sites and third party service providers.

HoHH w we
Adddd rdd essed thtt e
MaMM tter in Our
Audit

To evaluate the accrur al foff r clinical trial cost, our auaa dit procedures included, among others, testing the
completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used in the estimates and evaluating the signififf cant
assumptions including, but not limited to, patient visits and projo ect duration, that ara e used by management to
estimate the recorded accrur als. To assess the reasonableness of the signififf cant assumptions, we corroborated
the progress of clinical trials with the Company’s clinical trial management team by perfoff rming inquiries of
management, obtaining evidence directly frff om active patient sites, and verifyff ing the active patient sites and
currently enrolled patients to contracts or othtt er third partytt documentation. We perfoff rmed a look back
analysis to identifyff and evaluate material inconsistencies within the historically recorded accrur als and actut al
amounts realized through the current period. We also obtained subsequent invoices received frff om such third
parties and any pending change orders to assess the impact to the recorded accrur als through our report date
and compm ared tht at to the accrurr ed clinical trial cost as of the balance sheet date.
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XBiotech Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equqq ivalents $ 157,306 $ 236,983
Interest beara ing time deposit 60,172 -
Accrur ed interest receivaba le 1,216 -
Income tax receivable 548 8,953
Prepaid expenses and otht er currrr ent assets 601 934

Total current assets 219,843 246,870
Property and equqq ipment, net 26,260 28,307
Total assets $ 246,103 $ 275,177

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payaa able $ 2,408 $ 2,069
Accrur ed expenses 1,603 1,374
Income tax payaa able 55 10

Total current liaba ilities 4,066 3,453
Long-termrr liabilities:

Income tax payable 1,576 1,466
Defeff rred tax liability 59 873

Total liabilities 5,701 5,792

Shareholders’ equity:
Prefeff rred stock, no par value, unlimited shares
authorized, no shara es outstanding - -

Common stock, no para value, unlimited shares
authorized, both 30,439,275 shares issued and
outstanding at Decembm er 31, 2022 and December 31,
2021 267,325 262,263

Accumulated other compm rehensive income 826 1,971
(Accumulated defiff cit) retained earnings (27,749) 5,151

Total shareholders’ equity 240,402 269,385

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 246,103 $ 275,177

SeSS e accompm anyn ing notes to consolidadd ted fiff nancial statementstt .
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XBiotech Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Revenue:

Manufaff ctut ring revenue $ 4,010 $ 18,000
Clinical trial service revenue - 394

Total revenue 4,010 18,394
Cost of goods sold:

Manufaff ctut ring cost 651 5,517
Clinical trial cost - 303

Total cost of goods sold 651 5,820
Gross margin 3,359 12,574

Operating expenses:
Research and development 31,544 28,268
General and administrative 6,305 9,388

Total operating expenses 37,849 37,656
Loss frff om operations (34,490) (25,082)

Other income (loss):
Interest income 3,823 467
Other expense (121) (132)
Foreign exchange loss (2,800) (711)

Total other income (loss) 902 (376)

Income befoff re income taxes (33,588) (25,458)

Benefiff t foff r income taxes 688 8,044

Net loss $ (32,900) $ (17,414)

Net loss per share—b— asic $ (1.08) $ (0.58)
Shares used to compm ute basic net loss per
share 30,439,275 30,043,380

Net loss per share—diluted $ (1.08) $ (0.58)

Shares used to compm ute diluted net loss per
share

30,439,275 30,043,380

SeSS e accompm anyn ing notes to consolidadd ted fiff nancial statementstt .
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XBiotech Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Net loss $ (32,900) $ (17,414)
Reclassififf cation adjd ustment foff r foff reign
currency translation adjd ustment (1,567) -

Foreign currrr ency translation adjd ustment 422 705

Comprehensive loss $ (34,045) $ (16,709)

SeSS e accompm anyn ing notes to consolidadd ted fiff nancial statementstt .
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XBiotech Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(in thousands)
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

Retained
EarningsNumber of

Shares

Common
Stock
Amount Income (Loss) (Accumula

ted defiff cit) Total

Balance at December 31, 2020 29,304 $249,805 $1,266 $97,568 $348,639

Net loss - - - (17,414) (17,414)

Foreign currrr ency translation adjd ustment - - 705 - 705
Issuance of common stock under stock
option plan 1,135 7,995 - - 7,995

Dividends - - - (75,003) (75,003)

Share-based compm ensation expense - 4,463 - - 4,463

Balance at December 31, 2021 30,439 262,263 1,971 5,151 269,385

Net loss - - - (32,900) (32,900)

Foreign currrr ency translation adjd ustment - - 422 - 422

Realized comprehensive income - - (1,567) - (1,567)

Share-based compm ensation expense - 5,062 - - 5,062

Balance at December 31, 2022 30,439 267,325 826 (27,749) 240,402

eSS e accompm anyn ing notes to consolidadd ted fiff nancial statementstt .
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XBiotech Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Operating activities
Net loss $(32,900) $(17,414)
Adjd ustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
(used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 2,614 2,648
Foreign exchana ge loss 2,800 -
Share-based compensation expense 5,062 4,463

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Account receivable - 4,113
Income tax receivable 8,556 (2,380)
Defeff rred cost of goods sold - 2,177
Accrur ed interest receivable (1,216) -
Escrow receivable - 75,063
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 334 (352)
Defeff rred tax asset - 533
Accounts payable 357 (514)
Accrur ed expenses 229 23
Income tax payable 155 212
Defeff rred tax liability (815) 873

Net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities (14,824) 69,445

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (585) (3,525)

Purchase of interest beara ing time deposit (63,307) -
Net cash used in investing activities (63,892) (3,525)

Financing activities
Dividends - (75,003)
Issuance of common stock under stock option
plan - 7,995
Net cash used in fiff nancing activities - (67,008)
Effff eff ct of foff reign exchange rate on cash and cash
equivalents (961) 705

Net change in cash ana d cash equivalents (79,677) (383)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 236,983 237,366
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 157,306 $ 236,983
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Supplemental Infoff rmation:

Purchases of property ana d equipment in accounts payaba le 18 93

SeSS e accompm anyn ing note tott consolidadd ted fiff nancial statementstt .
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XBiotech Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

XBiotech Inc. (XBiotech or tht e Company) was incorpr orated in Canada on Mara ch 22, 2005. XBiotech USA,
Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiara y of tht e Company, was incorprr orated in Delaware, United States in November 2007.
XBiotech Germany GmbH, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was incorpr orated in Germany in Januaryrr
2014. The Company’s headquarters are located in Austin, Texas.

Since its inception, XBiotech has foff cused on advancing technology to rapaa idly identifyff and clone antibodies
frff om individuals that have resistance to disease. At the heart of the Compana y is a proprietaryrr technical knkk owhow to
translate natut ral human immunity into therapaa eutic produdd ct candidates. The Compana y has in its pipeline both anti-
infeff ctive and ana ti-inflff ammatoryrr candidate thtt erapeutics derived frff om this technology.

An area of medical foff cus foff r XBiotech are therapa ies that block a potent substance natutt rally produced by
body, known as interleukin-1 alpha (IL-1α), that mediates tissue breakdown, angiogenesis, the foff rmation of blood
clots and inflff ammation. IL-1α is a protein that is on or in cells of the body and is involved in the bodydd ’s response to
injn ury or trauma. In almost all chronic anaa d in some acute injn ury scenarios (such as stroke or heart attack), IL-1α may
mediate harmfuff l disease-related activity.

At the end of 2019, XBiotech sold a Trur e Human™ ana tibodydd that blocked IL-1α activity foff r $1.35 billion in
cash and potential milestone payments (the “Janssen Transaction”). As part of the Janssen Transaction, XBiotech
maintained the right to develop new antibodies that block IL-1a and develop these therapaa eutics in all areas of
medicine except dermatology. Moreover, all patents acquqq ired by Janssen relating to IL-1a would be asserted foff r the
benefiff t of XBiotech to protect its fuff tutt re IL-1a related therapa ies in all non-dermatological indications. Consequently,
XBiotech is pursuing the development of other Trur e Human™ antibodies targeting IL-1α foff r areas of medicine
outside of dermatology. Due to the speed ana d effff eff ctiveness of the Compana y’s Trurr e Humana ™ antibody discovery
technology, the Compm any has identififf ed new IL-1α targeting produdd ct candidates and has already brought one such
candidate into a clinical stut dy in oncology. While the Company previously was foff cused on a single Trur e Human™
antibody targeting IL-1α, it now plans to develop more than one product cana didate that targets IL-1α to be used in
diffff eff rent ara eas of medicine.

The Company continues to be subjb ect to a numbm er of risks common to companaa ies in similar stages of
development. Principal among these risks are the uncertainties of technological innovations, dependence on key
individuals, development of tht e same or similar technological innovations by the Compm any’s competitors and
protection of proprietary technology. The Compana y’s ability to fuff nd its planned clinical operations, including
completion of its planned trials, is expected to depend on the amount ana d timing of cash receipts frff om fuff tut re
collaboration or produdd ct sales and/or fiff nancing transactions. The Company believes that its cash and cash
equivalents of $157.3 million at December 31, 2022, will enable the Company to achieve several maja or inflff ection
points, including potential new clinical stut dies with lead product candidates. The Compana y expects to have
suffff iff cient cash through 12 months frff om tht e date of this report.

2. Signififf cant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated fiff nancial statements have been prepara ed in confoff rmity with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“US GAAP”). In the opinion of manaa agement, the accompanaa ying consolidated fiff nana cial
statements reflff ect all adjd ustments (consisting only of normal recurring items) considered necessary to present faff irly
the Company’s fiff nancial position at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the results of its operations and comprehensive
loss foff r the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, and the cash flff ows foff r tht e years ended December 31, 2022,
and 2021.
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Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated fiff nancial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All signififf cant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of fiff nana cial statements in accordana ce with accounting principles generally accepted in the
U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affff eff ct the reported values of amounts in the
fiff nancial statements and accompanying notes. Actut al results could diffff eff r frff om those estimates.

Revenue

Revenue frff om JaJJ nssen Agreementstt

The Company recognizes revenues frff om its Janssen Agreements as foff llows.

The Company entered into its clinical manufaff ctut ring and clinical trial services arrangements in connection
with its sale of certain intellectut al property on December 30, 2019. These contracts commenced Januaryrr 1, 2020.
The Company executed an addendum related to manufaff ctut ring agreement, which generated revenue through
November 2022. While these agreements are not considered contracts with a customer based on thtt e terms thereof,ff
the Company is apa plying the revenue recognition guidance by analogy.

XBiotech is still in the research and development phase; however, the eventut al outpt ut of tht e Company’s
intended ordinara y activities will be the licensing of intellectut al property and/or sale of commercialized compounds
foff r use in pharmaceutical treatmtt ent of disease, not the perfoff rmrr ance of manufaff ctut ring of development stage
compounds or clinical trials foff r others. Although Janssen is not a customer, as these services are not the outpt ut of
XBiotech’s ordinary activities, the Company evaluated the terms of the agreements and has analogized to
Accounting Standards Codififf cation, Topic 606, Revenue frff om CoCC ntrtt actstt withtt CuCC stomersrr (“ASC 606”) foff r clinical
manufaff ctut ring ana d clinical trial services revenue recognition.

Under ASC 606, ana entity recognizes revenue when (or as) its customer obtains control of promised goods
or services, in an amount that reflff ects the consideration tht at the entity expects to receive in exchange foff r those goods
or services. To determine revenue recognition foff r ara rangements that an entity determrr ines ara e within the scope of
ASC 606 (or foff r those analogized to it), the Compm any perfoff rmrr s the foff llowing fiff ve steps: (i) identifyff tht e contract(s)
with a customer; (ii) identifyff tht e perfoff rmance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv)
allocate the transaction price to the perfoff rmanaa ce obligations in the contract; ana d (v) recognize revenue when (or as)
the entity satisfiff es a perfoff rmanaa ce obligation. The Compm any only apa plies the fiff ve-step model to contracts (including
by analogy) when it is probable that the Company will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange foff r the
goods or services it transfeff rs to the counterpr araa ty. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within
the scope of or anaa alogized to ASC 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contrtt act
and determine those that ara e perfoff rmana ce obligations, and assesses whether each promised good or service is
distinct. The Company then recognizes as revenun e the amount of the trtt ansaction price that is allocated to the
respective perfoff rmance obligation when (or as) the perfoff rmana ce obligation is satisfiff ed.

MaMM nufu aff cturinii gn Revenue

The Company had a Clinical Manufaff ctutt ring Agreement that it accounts foff r by ana alogy to ASC 606, underr
which it agreed to manufaff ctut re bermekimaba foff r use by Janssen in clinical trials, in exchange foff r payments of $4.5
million per quqq arter, foff r tht e yeara ended 2020 and 2021. In 2022 the Company executed a new manufaff ctut ring
agreement with a Janssen related compana y. The agreement generated $4.0 million in revenue through November
2022.

ClCC ill nii ical TrTT iai l SeSS rvice Revenue
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On December 30, 2019, the Company entered into a Transition Services Agreement with Janssen. Pursuantt
to the Transition Servrr ices Agreement, the Compana y agreed to continue operational mana agement, on a feff e-foff r-
service basis, of two clinical trials related to bermekimaba .

Research and Development Costs

All research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred. Research ana d development costs
include salaries and personnel-related costs, consulting feff es, feff es paid foff r contract clinical trial research services, the
costs of laboratoryrr consumables, equipment ana d faff cilities, license feff es and other externrr al costs. Costs incurred to
acquire licenses foff r intellectut al property to be used in research and development activities with no alternative fuff tut re
use are expensed as incurred as research and development costs.

Nonrefuff ndable advance payments foff r goods or services to be received in tht e fuff tutt re foff r use in research and
development activities are defeff rred and capitalized. The capitalized amounts are expensed as the related goods are
delivered or the services are perfoff rmed.

Clinical Trial Accruals

Expense accrurr als related to clinical trials are based on the Company’s estimates of services received and
effff off rts expended pursuant to contracts with third party service providers that conduct and manage clinical trials on the
Company’s behalf.ff The fiff nancial terms of these agreements vary frff om contract to contract and may result in uneven
payment flff ows. Payments under some of tht ese contracts depend on faff ctors such as the successfuff l enrollment of patients
and the completion of clinical trial milestones. In accrur ing costs, the Company estimates the period over which
services will be perfoff rmed and the level of effff off rt to be expended in each period based upon patient enrollment, clinical
site activations, or infoff rmation provided to tht e Company by its vendors on their actut al costs incurred. Any estimates
of the level of services perfoff rmrr ed or tht e costs of these services could diffff eff r frff om actut al results.

Income Taxes

The Compana y accounts foff r income taxes under tht e asset and liability method, which requqq ires the
recognition of defeff rred tax assets and liabilities foff r the fuff tutt re tax consequences attributable to temporara y diffff eff rences
between the fiff nana cial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. The
Company measures defeff rred tax assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates foff r tht e years and jurisdictions in
which the temporary diffff eff rences are expected to be recovered. A change to the tax rates used to measure tht e
Company’s defeff rred taxes is recognized in income during the period in which the new rate(s) were enacted.

The Company recognizes defeff rred tax assets to the extent the Company’s assets are more likely than not to
be realized. In making such a determination, thtt e Company considers all available positive and negative evidence,
including thtt e fuff tut re reversals of existing taxaba le temporary diffff eff rences, projo ected fuff tut re taxable income exclusive of
reversing temporaryrr diffff eff rences and carryfoff rwards, tax-planning strategies, taxable income in prior carryrr back years
if permitted under tax law, and the results frff om prior years. If the Compana y determines it is more likely thana not,
that all or a portion of a defeff rred tax asset will not be realized a valuation allowance is recorded with a charge to
income tax expense. Alternatively, if the Compm any determines that all or a portion of a defeff rred tax asset previously
not meeting tht e more likely than not threshold will be realized, the Compana y reduces its valuation allowance and
recognizes a benefiff t in income tax expense.

The Company recognizes and measure uncertain tax benefiff ts in accordana ce with ASC 740 Income Taxes
(“ASC 740”) based on a two-step process in which (1) tht e Company determines whetht er it is more likely thana not
that the tax position will be sustained based on tht e technical merits of the position, and (2) foff r those tax positions
that meet the more-likely-thana -not recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefiff t
that is more than fiff ftff y percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. The
Company's policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, in income tax
expense.
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts foff r its share-based compensation awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718,
CoCC mpm ensation-Stock CoCC mpm ensation (“ASC 718”), which requqq ires all share-based payaa ments to employees, including
grants of empm loyee stock options, to be recognized in thtt e statements of operations based on their grant date faff ir
values. For stock options grana ted to employees and to members of the board of directors foff r their services on thtt e
board of directors, the Compm ana y estimates the grant date faff ir value of each option award using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The use of the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requqq ires management to make
assumptions with respect to the expected term of tht e option, the expected volatility of thtt e common stock consistent
with the expected lifeff of the option, risk-frff ee interest rates anaa d expected dividend yields of the common stock. To
determine the faff ir value of its common stock, the Compm any uses the closing price of the Company’s common stock
as reported by NASDAQ. For awards subjb ect to service-based vesting conditions, the Compm any recognizes share-
based compensation expense, equal to the grant date faff ir value of stock options on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period. The Company accounts foff r foff rfeff itut res as they occur rather than on an estimated basis.

Share-based compm ensation expense recognized foff r the years ended Decembm er 31, 2022, and 2021 was
included in the foff llowing line items on the Consolidated Statements of Operations (in thousands).

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021

Research and development $ 3,641 $ 2,019
General and administrative 1,421 2,162
Cost of goods sold - 282
Total share-based compensation expense $5,062 $4,463

The faff ir value of each option is estimated on the date of grana t using the Black-Scholes metht od with the
foff llowing assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Weighted-average grant date faff ir value per share... $ 4.92 $ 9.29
Expected volatility .................................................. 82%-83% 83%-91%
Risk-frff ee interest rate.............................................. 1.5%-4.1% 0.5%-1.4%
Expected lifeff (in years) ........................................... 5.38–6.25 5.38–6.25
Dividend yield ........................................................ — —

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investments with a matut rity of 90 days or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consisted primara ily of cash on deposit in U.S., German, and Canadian
banks. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates faff ir value.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instrur ments that potentially subjb ect the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents. The Compm any holds these investments in highly-rated fiff nana cial institut tions, and limits the amounts of
credit exposure to any one fiff nancial institut tion. These amounts at times may exceed feff derally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any credit losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to ana y signififf cana t
credit risk on tht ese fuff nds. The Company has no offff -ff balance sheet concentrations of credit risk, such as foff reign
currency exchana ge contracts, option contracts or other hedging arrana gements.
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Fair Value Measurements

The consolidated fiff nancial statements include fiff nana cial instrur ments foff r which the faff ir value of such
instrur ments may diffff eff r frff om amounts reflff ected on a historical cost basis. Financial instrur ments of the Compana y
consist of cash deposits, time deposits, accounts and other receivables, accounts payaa able, and certain accrur ed
liabilities. These fiff nancial instrur ments are held at cost, which generally apa proximates faff ir value due to their short-
term natutt re.

The Company foff llows ASC Topic 820, FaFF ir VaVV lull e MeMM asurementstt and Disii closures, which establishes a faff ir
value hierarchy foff r those instrur ments measured at faff ir value that distinguishes between assumptions based on mara ket
date (observaba le inputs) and tht e Company’s own assumptions (unobservable inpn uts). The hierarchy consists of three
levels:

• Level 1—U— nadjd usted quqq oted prices in active markets foff r identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2—Quoted prices foff r similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in markets that
are not active, or inpn uts which are observaba le, either directly or indirectly, foff r substantially the fuff ll term
of the asset or liability.

• Level 3—U— nobservaba le inputs that reflff ect the Compana y’s own assumptions about tht e assumptions
market participana ts would use in pricing tht e asset or liability in which there is little, if any, market
activity foff r the asset or liability at the measurement date.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Compm any did not have any assets or liabilities that are measured at faff ir
value on a recurring basis. The carrying amounts reflff ected in the balance sheets foff r cash ana d cash equqq ivalents,
interest bearing time deposit, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, and accrurr ed expenses
approximate their faff ir values at December 31, 2022 ana d 2021, due to their short-term natut re.

Property and Equipment

Property and equqq ipment, which consists of land, construr ction in process, fuff rnitutt re and fiff xtutt res, computers
and offff iff ce equipment, scientififf c equipment, leasehold impm rovements, vehicles and building are stated at cost and
depreciated using the straight line method over the estimated usefuff l lives of the assets, with the exception of lana d
and construr ction in process which are not depreciated. The usefuff l lives are as foff llows:

• Furnitut re and fiff xtut res 7 years

• Offff iff ce equipment 5 years

• Scientififf c equipment 5 years

• Vehicles 5 years

• Mobile faff cility 27.5 years

• Building 39 years

Costs of maja or additions and betterments are capa italized; maintenance and repairs, which do not impm rove or
extend the lifeff of the respective assets, are charged to expense as incurred. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of the
disposed asset and the related accumulated depreciation araa e removed frff om the accounts and the resulting gain or loss
is recognized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets foff r potential impairmrr ent in accordance with ASC
Topic 360, Propo ertytt ,yy Plant and Equipi ment. Potential impairmrr ent is assessed when there is evidence that events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. Recoverability of these
assets is assessed based on undiscounted expected fuff tut re cash flff ows frff om the assets, considering a numbm er of
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faff ctors, including past operating results, budgets and economic projo ections, mara ket trends and produdd ct development
cycles. If impairments are identififf ed, assets are written down to their estimated faff ir value. The Company has not
recognized any impm airment tht rough December 31, 2022.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Certain transactions are denominated in a currency other than the Company’s fuff nctional currency of tht e
U.S. dollar, and the Compana y generates assets and liabilities that are fiff xed in terms of the amount of foff reign
currency that will be received or paid. At each balance sheet date, the Company adjd usts the assets and liabilities to
reflff ect the currrr ent exchange rate, resulting in a trana slation gain or loss. Transaction gains ana d losses are also realized
upon a settlement of a foff reign currency transaction in determining net loss foff r the period in which the transaction is
settled.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

ASC Topic 220, CoCC mpm rehensive InII come, requires that all components of compm rehensive income (loss),
including net income (loss), be reported in the fiff nancial statements in the period in which they are recognized.
Comprehensive income (loss) is defiff ned as the chana ge in equity during a period frff om trana sactions and other events
and circumstances frff om non-owner sources, including foff reign currency trana slation adjd ustments.

Segment and Geographic Infoff rmation

Operating segments are identififf ed as components of an enterprr rise about which separate discrete fiff nancial
infoff rmation is available foff r evaluation by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making groupuu , in making
decisions on how to allocate resources and assess perfoff rmance. The Compana y’s chief operating decision maker is
the Chief Executive Offff iff cer. The Company and tht e chief operating decision maker view the Company’s operations
and manage its business as one operating segment. Subu stantially all of the Companaa y’s operations are in the U.S.
geograpaa hic segment.

Net Income/Loss per Share

Net income/loss per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average numbm er of
common shares outstanding dudd ring each period. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income/loss by the
weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding (if dilutive) dudd ring each
period. The nun mber of common share equivalents, which include stock options, is computed using the trtt easury stock
method.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recentlyll IsII sued Accounting Pronouncementstt

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instrur ments—Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instrur ments. This ASU requires instrur ments measured at amortized cost
to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. Entities are also required to record allowances foff r
available-foff r-sale debt securities rather than reduce tht e carryrr ing amount. On November 15, 2019, the FASB delayed
the effff eff ctive date of the standaraa d foff r certain small pubu lic companies and other private companies. As amended, the
effff eff ctive date of ASC Topic 326 was delayed until fiff scal years beginning aftff er Decembm er 15, 2022 foff r SEC fiff lers
that are eligible to be smaller reporting compana ies under the SEC’s defiff nition, as well as private companies and not-
foff r-profiff t entities. The Compm ana y expects that the adoption will not have a material impact on its consolidated
fiff nancial statements.
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3. Revenue

On December 30, 2019, the Company entered into a Transition Services Agreement with Janssen. Pursuantt
to the Transition Servrr ices Agreement, the Compana y has agreed to continue operational management, on a feff e-foff r-
service basis, of two ongoing clinical trials related to bermekimab. In consideration foff r all of the services to be
provided, foff r each calendar quarter during the term of such agreement, Janssen shall pay tht e Company a feff e foff r such
quarter equal to all pass-through costs incurred by the Company during such calendara quara trr er, exclusive of the
allocation of certain internal costs that are not considered pass-through pursuant to the agreement, plus a maraa kupu of
30%. On Februr ara y 2, 2022, the Company ana nounced anaa addendum to the 2019 Janssen Manufaff ctutt ring Agreement
XBiotech continued to manufaff ctut re bermekimab foff r use by Janssen in its clinical trials through November 2022. For
the year ended Decembm er 31, 2022, the Compana y has recorded $4.0 million of gross revenue under the Februr ary
2022 agreement.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Compana y has recorded $18.0 million of mana ufaff ctut ring revenue
and $394 thousand of clinical trial service revenue.

4. Property and Equipment and Building Construction in Progress

Property and equqq ipment consisted of the foff llowing as of December 31, 2022 anaa d 2021 (in thousands):

2022 2021
Computer and offff iff ce equipment .......................................................... $ 274 $ 557
Furnitut re and fiff xtut res .......................................................................... 129 130
Land..................................................................................................... 1,418 1,418
Scientififf c equipment............................................................................ 16,059 16,829
Vehicle ................................................................................................ 112 82
Building .............................................................................................. 24,173 22,773
Mobile faff cility .................................................................................... 189 189
Construr ction in process ....................................................................... 401 2,061
Accumulated depreciation................................................................... (16,495) (15,732)

$ 26,260 $ 28,307
7

Depreciation expenses related to property ana d equqq ipment amounted to botht apa proximately $2.6 million, foff r
the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Construr ction in process is related to research ana d
development and manufaff ctory equipment. Depreciation expense is recorded to cost of goods sold, research and
development and general and administrative expense line items on the Consolidated Statements of Operations (in
thousands).

5. Accrued Expenses

Accrur ed expenses consist of the foff llowing as of December 31, 2022, and 2021 (in thousana ds):

2022 2021
Accrur ed compm ensation ana d related expenses................................... $489 $480
Accrur ed profeff ssional feff es................................................................ 117 163
Accrur ed clinical trial expenses ........................................................ 928 618
Other................................................................................................ 69 113

$1,603 $1,374
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6. Common Stock

Pursuant to its Articles, the Company has an unlimited numbm er of shares available foff r issuance with no par
value.

From January 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021, 1.1 million shares of common stock were issued upon
the exercise of stock options at a price of $3.27 to $15.00 per share foff r total proceeds of $8.0 million.

No stock options were exercised frff om January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022.

7. Common Stock Options

On November 11, 2005, tht e Board of Directors of the Company adopted the XBiotech Inc. 2005 Incentive
Stock Option Plan (the “2005 Plan”), and on March 24, 2015, the board of directors of the Company adopted the
XBiotech Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”) pursuant to which the Compana y may grant incentive
stock and non-qualififf ed stock options to directors, offff iff cers, employees or consultants of tht e Company or an affff iff liate
or other persons as the Compm ensation Committee may apa prove.

All options under botht Plans will be non-trana sfeff rable and may be exercised only by tht e para ticipant, or in
the event of the deatht of the participant, a legal representative until the earlier of tht e options’ expiration date or the
fiff rst anniversary of the participant’s death, or such other date as may be specififf ed by the Compensation Committee.

The term of the options is at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, but mayaa not exceed 10 years
frff om the grant date. The options expire on the earlier of the expiration date or tht e date three months foff llowing the
day on which the participant ceases to be an offff iff cer or employee of or consultant to the Company, or in the event of
the termination of the participant with cause, the date of such termination. Options held by non-employee Directors
have an exercise period cotermrr inous with the term of the options.

The numbm er of common shara es reserved foff r issuance to any one person pursuant to the 2005 Plan shall not,
in aggregate, exceed 5% of thtt e total number of outstanding common shares. The exercise price per common share
under each option will be the faff ir market value of such shares at the time of the grant. Upon stock option exercise,
the Company issues new shares of common stock.

A summary of changes in common stock options issued under the 2005 Plan anaa d under thtt e 2015 Plan is as
foff llows:

The weighted average faff ir value of the options issued to directors, employees and consultants during thtt e
fiff scal years ended Decembm er 31, 2022, ana d 2021, was $4.92 and $9.29, respectively. The total intrinsic value of
options exercisable and total options outstanding at December 31, 2022 was immaterial. The total faff ir value of

Options Exercise Price

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
Options outstanding at Decembm er 31, 2020 5,327,425 $2.71-$21.99 $6.09

Granted 809,500 11.35-20.20 13.47
Exercised (1,348,374) 3.27-15.00 7.78
Forfeff itut res (131,874) 4.14-21.99 12.23

Options outstanding at Decembm er 31, 2021 4,656,677 $2.71-$21.74 $10.68
Granted 152,600 3.65-11.25 7.07
Exercised - - -
Forfeff itut res (250,375) 3.27-21.74 12.31

Options outstanding at Decembm er 31, 2022 4,558,902 $2.71-$21.74 $10.47
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options vested dudd ring the yeara s ended December 31, 2022, ana d 2021 was $5.6 million, and $4.8 million,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, there was approximately $2.8 million of unrecognized compensation cost,
related to stock options grana ted under the Plan which will be amortized to stock compm ensation expense over the next
1.12 years. The weighted-average remaining contrtt actut al termrr of outstanding options as of December 31, 2022 is
5.75 years. Total exercisable stock options as of December 31, 2022 is 4.1 million. The weighted-average exercise
price of options exercisable as of December 31, 2022 is $10.32 per share and the weighted-average remaining
contractut al term is 5.42 years.

8. Net Income/Loss Per Share

The foff llowing summarizes the computation of basic and diluted net income(loss) per share foff r the years
ended Decembm er 31, 2022, and 2021 (in thousands, except share and per sharaa e data):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Net loss $ (32,900) $ (17,414)

Weighted-average numbm er of common
shares—basic

30,439,275 30,043,380

Net loss per share—basic $(1.08) $(0.58)

Weighted-average numbm er of common
shares—diluted

30,439,275 30,043,380

Net loss per share—diluted $(1.08) $(0.58)

The foff llowing potentially dilutive securities outstanding, prior to the use of the treasury stock method or if-ff
converted method, have been excluded frff om the compm utation of diluted weighted-average common shares
outstanding, because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effff eff ct due to the losses reported.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Stock options 4,558,902 4,656,677

9. Income Taxes

The components of income befoff re income taxes are as foff llows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

United States $ (28,161) $ 5,301

Canada (4,973) (30,127)
Other Foreign (454) (632)

Total $ (33,588) $ (25,458)
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The components of the provision foff r income taxes are as foff llows foff r the years ended December 31, 2022,
and 2021 (in thousands):

Current 2022 2021
United States $ 457 $ 17
Canada (334) (9,486)
Other Foreign 5 14
Total $128 ($9,455)

Defeff rred
United States - -
Canada (805) 1,505
Other Foreign (11) (94)
Total (816) 1,411

Total income tax
expense $ (688) $ (8,044)

The provision foff r income taxes diffff eff rs frff om the amount compm uted by apa plying tht e Canada statut tory rate to
pre-tax income as foff llows foff r the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021:

2022 2021

Income tax benefiff t computed at feff deral tax rate 27.0% 27.0%
Foreign operations (4.1)% (0.9)%
Capa ital gains and foff reign exchange 0.0% 0.0%
Change in valuation allowance (14.6)% 4.1%
Tax credits generated 3.5% 1.6%
Prior year adjd ustments 0.4% 0.9%
Changes in uncertain tax positions (0.3)% (1.5)%
Foreign exchange gain and loss (1.6)% 1.5%
Stock compensation (2.3)% 2.2%
Non-dedudd ctible compm ensation (5.8)% (3.0)%
Other (0.2)% (0.3)%
Total 2.0 % 31.6 %

The effff eff ctive tax rate foff r the period ended December 31, 2022 varied frff om the Canadiana statut tory rate
primarily dudd e to losses in jurisdictions foff r which a valuation allowance is recorded and no benefiff t is recognized, a
shiftff in income between jurisdictions related to certain tranaa sfeff r pricing adjd ustments which impacted the benefiff t
associated with available loss carrybacks, and non-deductible compensation. The effff eff ctive tax rate foff r the period
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ended Decembm er 31, 2021 varied frff om the Canadian statut toryrr rate primara ily due to valuation allowance activity ana d
non-deductible compensation.

The tax effff eff ct of tempm oraryrr diffff eff rences between tht e fiff nancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases that give rise to defeff rred tax assets and liabilities is as foff llows:

2022 2021
Net operating loss carryrr foff rwards - 112
Research and other credits 3,820 3,360
Stock based compm ensation 2,703 3,235
Capitalized research expenses 5,210 -
Share issue costs 229 425
Accrur ed liabilities 294 227
Foreign exchange 687 206
Defeff rred tax assets befoff re Valuation allowance 12,944 7,565
Valuation allowance (11,225) (6,474)
Defeff rred tax assets 1,719 1,091

Depreciation 710 824
Prepaid assets 93 69
Uncollectible debts 975 1,057
Foreign exchange - 14
Defeff rred tax liability 1,777 1,964
Net defeff rred tax asset (liability) (59) (873)

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Compana y had no Canadian or USA net operating loss
carryfoff rwards. The Canadian taxable loss foff r the period ended December 31, 2022 of $2.2 million will be carried
back to offff sff et prior year taxable income. The Company also has $5.3M of feff deral research and development tax
credits carryfoff rwards which ara e presented in tht e fiff nancial statements net of $1.4M of related uncertain tax positions,
which will begin to expire in 2037. Also, aftff er weighing all available and positive and negative evidence the
Company determined a fuff ll valuation allowance foff r the USA, Canada, and other foff reign activity was necessary,
consistent with prior yeara .

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Compana y has not recorded any outside basis diffff eff rence
defeff rred given its intention to indefiff nitely reinvest earnings frff om its foff reign operations. In addition, given the
Company's estimated outside tax basis in its USA investment is in excess of book basis, there is no unrecognized
defeff rred tax liability.

The Company is subjb ect to income tax in multiple jurisdictions, including Canada, USA, anaa d the state of
Texas. The Compana y has Canadian, USA, and Texas income tax retut rnrr s that are open to examination foff r the 2019,
2019, and 2018 tax years, respectively. In addition, tht e utilization of tax carryfoff rwards, frff om periods prior to those
previously mentioned may also be audited by the taxing autht orities once utilized. As a result, the Company
continuously monitors its current and prior fiff ling positions in order to determine if ana y unrecognized tax positions
need to be recorded. The analysis involves considerable judgement and is based on the best infoff rmation available. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefiff ts as of December 31, 2022, and 2021
is as foff llows (in thousands):

2022 2021
Balance as of January 1 2,389 2,060
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 130 42
Additions foff r tax positions of prior years 346 287
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Balance at December 31 2,864 2,389

The Company recognized interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefiff ts of $63 thousand, and
$56 thousand as a component of income tax expense foff r the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021,
respectively. As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, there are $1.6 million, and $1.5 million, respectively, of
unrecognized tax benefiff ts that if recognized would affff eff ct the annual effff eff ctive tax rate. In addition, it is reasonably
possible that apa proximately $0.5 million of the unrecognized tax benefiff ts may be recognized in the next 12 months
as a result of a lapa se of the statut te of limitations. No other positions are expected to signififf cantly increase or
decrease within 12 months..

10. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) foff r tht e year ended Decembm er 31, 2022 ana d 2021 is
presented below (in thousands except per share data):

2022 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Loss frff om operations
$(7,845) $(12,094) $(6,389) $(8,162)

Net loss (5,395) (11,644) (12,658) (3,203)
Net loss per share—basic and
diluted (0.18) (0.38) (0.42) (0.10)

2021 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Loss frff om operations $(3,553) $(10,605) $(3,731) $(7,193)
Net loss (2,568) (5,118) (3,261) (6,467)
Net loss per share—basic and
diluted (0.09) (0.17) (0.11) (0.21)

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Management's Evaluation of our Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, an evaluation was carried out by the
Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Offff iff cer and Principal Financial Offff iff cer, of
the effff eff ctiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedudd res, as defiff ned in RuRR le 13a-15(e) ana d 15d-15(e)
under thtt e Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based on such evaluation, the Chief Executive Offff iff cer and Principal
Financial Offff iff cer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effff eff ctive to ensure that
infoff rmation requqq ired to be disclosed in the reports the Company fiff les or fuff rnishes under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized ana d reported within the time periods specififf ed in the SEC’s rur les and
regulations, and are operating in an effff eff ctive manner.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible foff r establishing ana d maintaining adequate internrr al control over fiff nancial
reporting (as defiff ned in RuRR le 13a-15(f)ff under the Exchange Act). We conducted ana assessment of the effff eff ctiveness
of our internal control over fiff nancial reporting based on the criteria set foff rth in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organa izations of the Treadway Commission (2013 frff ameworkrr ).
Based on our assessment, we have concluded that our internal control over fiff nancial reporting was effff eff ctive as of
December 31, 2022, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fiff nancial reporting ana d the
preparation of fiff nancial statements in accordana ce with GAAP.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over fiff nancial reporting tht at occurred during the foff urtht quara ter of
the year ended Decembm er 31, 2022 tht at has materially affff eff cted, or is reasonaba ly likely to materially affff eff ct, our
internal control over fiff nana cial reporting.

Limitations on Effff eff ctiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed ana d operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving the desired control objb ectives. In addition, tht e design of disclosure controls and procedudd res must reflff ect
the faff ct that there araa e resource constraints, and that management is required to apa ply judgment in evaluating the
benefiff ts of possible controls ana d procedures relative to their costs.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORARR TE GOVERNANCE

We incorpr orate by refeff rence tht e infoff rmation required by this Item with respect to directors and the Audit
Committee frff om the infoff rmrr ation under the capa tion “ELECTION OF DIRECTORS,” including in particular the
infoff rmation under “Nominating and Corprr orate, Governana ce and Review Committee” , “Audit Committee”, “Report
of the Audit Committee & the Board of Directors”, “Code of Ethics” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” and
“EXECUTIVE OFFICERS” contained in our defiff nitive Proxy Statement (the “Proxy Statement”), which we will fiff le
on or about April 28, 2023 withtt the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation of
proxies foff r our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockhkk olders to be held on June 23, 2023.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The infoff rmation requqq ired by tht is item is incorpr orated herein by refeff rence to the infoff rmation contained
under tht e sections capa tioned “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION”, “DIRECTOR COMPENSATION”,
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Empm loyment Arrangements” and “Compensation
Committee Report” of the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The infoff rmation required by this item will be set foff rth under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain
Benefiff cial Owners and Management" in our Proxy Statement and is incorprr orated herein by refeff rence.

The infoff rmation required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be set foff rth in the section headed “Equity
Compensation Plan Infoff rmation” in our Proxy Statement ana d is incorpr orated herein by refeff rence.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRARR NSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The infoff rmation required by this item will be set foff rth in the section headed “Transactions with Related
Persons” in our Proxy Statement and is incorpr orated herein by refeff rence.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The infoff rmation required by this item will be set foff rth in the section headed “Ratififf cation of Selection of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement and is incorpr orated herein by refeff rence.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8 of Part II.

Financial Statement Schedules

None

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

2.1† Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2019, between XBiotech Inc. and Janssen Biotech,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 30, 2019)

3.1 Certificate of Continuation dated September 23, 2005, issued by the Registrar of Companies, Province of
British Columbia, Canada (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on February 2, 2015)

3.2 Notice of Articles, dated December 8, 2005, issued by the Registrar of Companies, Province of British
Columbia, Canada (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed with the SEC on February 2, 2015)

3.3 Articles of XBiotech Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on March 27, 2015)

4.1 Description of Registrant’s securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934

10.1+ Executive Employment Agreement dated as of March 22, 2005 between XBiotech and John Simard
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
with the SEC on February 2, 2015)

10.2+ Change in Control Agreement dated as of March 22, 2005 between XBiotech and John Simard
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
with the SEC on February 2, 2015)

10.3 Confidentiality and Assignment of Inventions Agreement dated as of March 22, 2005 between XBiotech
and John Simard (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed with the SEC on February 2, 2015)

10.4+ XBiotech 2005 Incentive Stock Option Plan (Restated) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on October 19, 2015)
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10.5+ Form of indemnification agreement between XBiotech and each director of XBiotech (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
February 2, 2015)

10.6 Licensing Agreement dated January 16, 2015 between XBiotech USA, Inc. and Lonza Sales AG
(portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment under Rule
406 of the Securities Act. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on March 10, 2015)

10.7 Research and Collaboration Agreement dated December 15, 2014 by and between XBiotech USA, Inc.
and the South Texas Blood & Tissue Center (portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933. incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC
on March 10, 2015)

10.8+ XBiotech Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on March 10, 2015)

10.9+ Form of Incentive Share Option Agreement under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

10.10+ Form of Nonqualified Share Option Agreement under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

10.11+ Second Amendment to the XBiotech Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Annex A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 29, 2020)

10.12+ Third Amendment to the XBiotech Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex
B to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 29, 2020)

10.13+* Board Member Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2018, by and between XBiotech Inc. and Jan-Paul
Waldin.

10.14+* Board Member Agreement, dated as of March 20, 2018, by and between XBiotech Inc. and Donald H.
MacAdam.

10.15+ Board Member Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2019, by and between XBiotech Inc. and Peter Libby
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July
16, 2019)

10.16† IP Non-Assertion and License Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2019, between XBiotech Inc. and
Janssen Biotech, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2019)

10.17† Clinical Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2019, between XBiotech Inc. and Janssen
Biotech, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on July 16, 2019)

10.18† Transition Services Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2019, between XBiotech Inc. and Janssen
Biotech, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on July 16, 2019)

21.1* List of subsidiaries
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23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Whitley Penn LLP

23.2* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Ernst & Young LLP

31.1* Certififf cation of the Principal Executive Offff iff cer Required Under RuRR les 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuana t to Section 302 of tht e Sarbr anes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.2* Certififf cation of the Principal Financial Offff iff cer Required Under RuRR les 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of tht e
Securities Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuana t to Section 302 of tht e Sarbr anes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.1** Certififf cation of Chief Executive Offff iff cer pursuant to18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbr anes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2** Certififf cation of Chief Financial Offff iff cer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbr anes-Oxley Act of 2002

101* The foff llowing fiff nancial statements frff om the XBiotech Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K foff r the quarter
ended Decembm er 31, 2022, foff rmrr atted in Inline Extensive Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i)
condensed consolidated balance sheets, (ii) condensed consolidated statements of operations, (iii)
condensed consolidated statements of compm rehensive loss, (iv) condensed consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity; (v) condensed consolidated statements of cash flff ows and (vi) notes to condensed
consolidated fiff nana cial statements (detail tagged).

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the inline iXBRL document and contained in Exhibit
101).

† Certain identififf ed infoff rmation has been excluded frff om tht is exhibit because the Compm any does not
believe it is material and is the type that the Compm any customarily treats as private and confiff dential.
Redacted infoff rmation is indicated by [*****]. The Company hereby agrees to fuff rnrr ish a copy of any
omitted schedule or attachment to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon requqq est.

+ Indicates management contrtt act or compm ensatory plan
* Filed herewith
** Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 shall not be deemed “fiff led” foff r purprr oses of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, or otherwise subjb ect to the liability of tht at Section. Such exhibits shall not be deemed
incorpr orated by refeff rence into any fiff ling under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934.

ITEM 16. FORM 10–K SUMMARYR
Not apa plicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dudd ly autht orized on March 15, 2023.

XBIOTECH INC.,

/s/ JOHNH SIMARDRR

Name: John Simard
Title: President and Chief Executive Offff iff cer

(Principal Executive Offff iff cer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, tht is report has been signed by the foff llowing
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capa acities and on the dates indicated.

Signature and Title Date

/s/ JOHN SIMARD

John Simard, Chief Executive Offff iff cer (Principal Executive Offff iff cer) and
Director

March 15, 2023

/s/ ANAA GELA HU

Angela Hu, Principal Financial Offff iff cer and Principal Accounting Offff iff cer
March 15, 2023

/s/ W. THORPE MCKENZIE

W. Thorpr e McKenzie, Director
March 15, 2023

/s/ JANAA -PAULWALDINII

Jan-Paul Waldin, Director
March 15, 2023

/s/ DONALDMACADAM

Donald MacAdam, Director
March 15, 2023

/s/ PETER LIBBY
Peter Libby, Director

March 15, 2023
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Exhibit 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
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DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRARR NT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The foff llowing summaryrr describes the common shares, no para value, of XBiotech Inc. (the “Company,”
“we,” “our,” “us,” and “our”), which are the only securities of the Compana y registered pursuant to Section 12 of tht e
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The foff llowing description is a summary and does not purpr ort to be complete. It is subjb ect to and quqq alififf ed
in its entirety by refeff rence to our Articles, which are incorpr orated by refeff rence as an exhibit to the Annun al Report on
Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.1 is a para t. We encourage you to read our Articles and tht e apa plicable provisions
of the British Columbia Business Corpr orations Act (“BCBCA”) foff r additional infoff rmation.

Authorized and Outstanding Stock

Our authorized share capaa ital as described in our Articles consists of an unlimited numbm er of common shares
and prefeff rred shares without par value.

As of December 31, 2022, 30,439,275 shares of the Compm any’s common shares were outstanding. No
prefeff rred shares are outstanding.

Common Shares

VoVV titt nii gn Rigi htstt . Holders of common shares are entitled to one vote in respect of each common share held at
any meeting of the Company. Except as otherwise provided with respect to any particular series of prefeff rred shares
and except as otherwise required by law, tht e registered holders of prefeff rred shares shall not be entitled as a class to
receive notice of or to attend to vote at ana y meetings of the Company.

Under our Articles, the holders of our common shares will be entitled to one vote foff r each common share
held on all matters submitted to a vote of the shara eholders, including the election of directors. Our Articles do not
provide foff r cumulative voting rights. Because of this, the holders of a plurality of our common shares entitled to
vote in any election of directors can elect all of the directors standing foff r election, if they should so choose.

Dividedd nd Rigi htstt . Subjb ect to the BCBCA, and subjb ect to the prior rights of ana y holders of prefeff rred shares,
the holders of the common shares in the absolute discretion of the directors, shall be entitled to receive, and tht e
Company shall payaa thereon, out of moneys of the Compana y properly apa plicable to the payment of dividends, when
declared by the directors, only such dividends as may be declared frff om time to time in respect of the common
shares. The prefeff rred shares are entitled to prefeff rence over tht e common shares with respect to the payaa ment of
dividends. We have not paid ana y dividends since our incorpr oration. At the discretion of our boara d of directors, we
will consider paying dividends in fuff tut re as our operational circumstances may permrr it having regara d to, among otht er
things, our earnings, cash flff ow and fiff nana cial requqq irements.

Liqii uidadd titt on Rigi htstt . Subjb ect to the prior payaa ment to the holders of the prefeff rred shares described below, in
the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-upuu of the Company or other distribution of the assets of the
Company among its shareholders, the holders of the shara es of our common shares shall be entitled to share pro rata
in the distribution of the balance of the assets. The prefeff rred shares shall be entitled to a prefeff rence over the
common shares with respect to the distribution of assets of tht e Company, whether voluntara y or involuntary, or in the
event of ana y other distribution of assets of the Company among its shareholders foff r the purpr ose of winding up its
affff aff irs; and the prefeff rrrr ed stock may be given such other prefeff rence not inconsistent with our Articles.

Othtt er Rigi htstt . Our common shares have no preemptive rights, no conversion rights, no redemption or
sinking fuff nd provisions, anaa d araa e not liable foff r fuff rther call or assessment.

Lisii titt nii gn . Our common shares currently trade on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol
“XBIT.”
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Anti-Takeover Provisions

CeCC rtatt inii TaTT keover Bid Requirementstt . Unless such offff eff r constitut tes an exempt transaction, an offff eff r made
by a person, an “offff eff ror”, to acquire outstanding shares of a Canadian entity that, when aggregated with the offff eff ror’s
holdings (ana d those of persons or compm anies acting jointly with the offff eff ror), would constitut te 20% or more of the
outstanding shares in a class, would be subu jb ect to the take-over provisions of Canadiana securities laws. The
foff regoing is a limited and general summary of certain aspects of applicable securities law in the provinces and
territories of Canada, all in effff eff ct as of the date hereof.ff

In addition to those takeover bid requirements noted aba ove, tht e acquisition of our shares may trigger the
apa plication of statut tory regimes including among others, the Investment Canada Act (Canada) and the Competition
Act (Canada).

Limitations on the ability to acquire and hold our common shares may be imposed by the Competition Act
(Canada). This legislation permrr its the Commissioner of Competition, or the Commissioner, to review any
acquisition of control over or of a signififf cant interest in us. This legislation grants the Commissioner jurisdiction, foff r
up to one yeara , aftff er ana y such acquisition, to challenge this type of acquisition befoff re tht e Canadian Competition
Tribunal on the basis that it would, or would be likely to, subu stantially prevent or lessen competition in ana y mara ket
in Canada.

This legislation also requires ana y person who intends to acquire our common shares to fiff le a pre-closing
notififf cation with the Canadiana Competition Bureau if certain fiff nancial thresholds are exceeded and if that person
(and their affff iff liates) would hold more tht an 20% of our common shares. If a person (and its affff iff liates) already owns
20% or more of our common shares, a notififf cation must be fiff led when the acquisition of additional shares would
bring that person’s holdings to over 50%. Where a notififf cation is required, the legislation prohibits compm letion of the
acquisition until the expiration of a statut tory waiting period, unless the Commissioner provides written notice that
she does not intend to challenge the acquqq isition.

The Investment Canada Act requires any person that is a “non-Canadian” (as defiff ned in the Investment
Canada Act) who acquqq ires control of ana existing Canadian business, where the acquisition of contrtt ol is not a
reviewable transaction, to fiff le a notififf cation with Industry Canada. The Investment Canada Act generally prohibits
the implementation of a reviewable transaction unless, aftff er review, the relevant minister is satisfiff ed that the
investment is likely to be of net benefiff t to Canada. Under thtt e Investment Canada Act, the acquisition of control of us
(either through the acquqq isition of our common shara es or all or substantially all our assets) by a non-Canadian who is
a World Trade Organization member countryrr investor, including a US investor, would be reviewable only if our
enterpr rise value was equqq al to or greater than a specififf ed amount. Currently, the specififf ed amount foff r is CAD$600
million, but will eventutt ally increase to CAD$1.0 billion. We believe that we are not a cultut ral business foff r
Investment Canada Act purpr oses and that the lower threshold foff r reviews of acquisitions of such businesses does not
apa ply. The threshold amount is subjb ect to an annual adjd ustment on the basis of a prescribed foff rmula in the
Investment Canada Act to reflff ect changes in Canadian gross domestic product.

The acquisition of a maja ority of the voting interests of an entity is deemed to be acquisition of control of
that entity. The acquisition of less than a maja ority but one-tht ird or more of the voting shares of a corprr oration or ana
equivalent undivided ownership interest in the voting shares of a corpr oration is presumed to be an acquisition of
control of that corpr oration unless it can be established that, on the acquisition, the corpr oration is not contrtt olled in
faff ct by the acquirer through the ownership of voting shares. The acquisition of less than one-third of the voting
shares of a corprr oration is deemed not to be ana acquisition of control of that corpr oration.

Under the new national securitytt regime in the Investment Canada Act, review on a discretionary basis may
also be undertaken by the feff deral government in respect of a much broader range of investments by a non-Canadiana
to “acquire, in whole or in partrr , or to establish an entity carryrr ing on all or ana y part of its operations in Canada.” The
relevant test is whether such ana investment by a non-Canadian could be “injn urious to national security.” The
Minister of Indudd stry has broad discretion to determrr ine whether an investor is a non-Canadian and may be subjb ect to
national security review. Review on national security grounds is at the discretion of the feff deral government and may
occur on a pre- or post-closing basis, subjb ect to certain limitation provisions. The governrr ment has the power in a
national security review to direct that the investment not be implemented, to direct that thtt e investor provide
undertakings or tht e investor implement the investment on prescribed terms or conditions and to order the investor to
divest itself of the investment.
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There is no law, governmental decree or regulation in Canada that restricts the export or impm ort of capa ital
or which would affff eff ct the remittance of dividends or other payments by us to non-Canadiana holders of our common
shares or prefeff rred shara es, other than withholding tax requqq irements.

Our Articles do not contain anaa y change of control limitations with respect to a merger, acquqq isition or
corprr orate restrur ctut ring that involves us.

This summary is not a comprehensive description of relevant or apa plicable considerations regarding such
requirements and, accordingly, is not intended to be, and should not be interpr reted as, legal advice to ana y
prospective purchaser anaa d no representation with respect to such requqq irements to anaa y prospective purchaser is made.
Prospective investors should consult their own Canadian legal advisors with respect to any questions regarding
securities law in the provinces and territories of Canada.

Actitt ons Requirii inii gn a SpSS eciai l MaMM ja oritii ytt . Under the BCBCA and our Articles, certain corprr orate actions
require the apa proval of a special maja ority of shareholders, meaning holders of shares representing not less than 66
2⁄22 3⁄⁄ % of those votes cast in respect of a shareholder vote addrd essing such matter. Subjb ect to the BCBCA, those items
requiring the apa proval of a special maja ority generally relate to fuff ndamental chana ges with respect to our business,
and include among otht ers, resolutions: (i) to alter its articles or authorized shara e strur ctutt re; (ii) to remove a director
befoff re tht e expiryrr of his or her term; and (iii) to provide foff r a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the
Company’s propertytt .

ShSS areholdll edd r PrPP opo osalsll . Under the BCBCA, shareholders may make proposals foff r matters to be
considered at the annual general meeting of shara eholders. Such proposals must be sent to us in advance of any
proposed meeting by delivering a timely written notice in proper foff rm to our registered offff iff ce in accordana ce with the
requirements of the BCBCA. The notice must include infoff rmrr ation on the business the shareholder intends to bring
befoff re thtt e meeting.

Advdd ance NoNN titt ce PrPP ovisii ions. Our Articles contain provisions (the “Advance Notice Provisions”) which
provide that advana ce notice to the Company must be made ana d the procedudd res set out in tht e Articles must be
foff llowed foff r persons to be eligible foff r election to the our boara d of directors. Nomination of persons foff r election to
the board of directors mayaa only be made at an ana nual meeting of shareholders or at a special meeting of shara eholders
called foff r ana y purpr ose which includes the election of directors.

Among otht er things, the Advana ce Notice Provisions fiff x a deadline by which holders of record of common
shares must submit director nominations to us prior to ana y ana nual or special meeting of shara eholders and set foff rtht
the specififf c infoff rmrr ation that a shareholder must include in the written notice to the Compana y foff r an effff eff ctive
nomination to occur. No person will be eligible foff r election as a director of the Compana y unless nominated in
accordance with tht e provisions of the Advana ce Notice Provisions.

In the case of an annual meeting of shareholders, notice to us must be made not less than 30 or more thanaa
65 days prior to the date of the annual meeting; provided, however, that if the annual meeting is to be held on a date
that is less than 50 days aftff er tht e date on which the fiff rst public announcement of the date of the annual meeting was
made, notice may be made not later than the close of business on the 10th dayaa foff llowing such public ana nouncement.
In the case of a special meeting of shareholders (which is not also an annual meeting), notice to us must be made not
later than the close of business on the 15th day foff llowing the day on which the fiff rst pubu lic announcement of the date
of the special meeting was made.

The boara d of directors may, in its sole discretion, waive any requirement of the Advance Notice Provisions.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnififf cation
We are subjb ect to the provisions of Part 5, Division 5 of the BCBCA. Under Section 160 of the BCBCA,

we may, subjb ect to Section 163 of the BCBCA:

(1) indemnifyff an individual who:

(a) is or was a director or offff iff cer of the Companaa y;

(b) is or was a director or offff iff cer of anothtt er corpr oration (i) at a time when such corpr oration is or was
an affff iff liate of the Company; or (ii) at the Compana y’s request, or

(c) at the Company’s request, is or was, or holds or held a position equivalent to that of,ff a director or
offff iff cer of a paraa tnership, trtt ur st, joint ventut re or other unincorpr orated entity, ana d including, subjb ect to
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certain limited exceptions, the heirs and personal or other legal representatives of tht at individual
(collectively, an “eligible partytt ”), against all eligible penalties to which the eligible para ty is or may
be liable; and

(2) aftff er fiff nal disposition of an eligible proceeding, pay tht e expenses actut ally and reasonaba ly incurred by
an eligible party in respect of tht at proceeding, where:

(a) “eligible penalty” meanaa s a judgment, penalty or fiff ne awarded or impm osed in, or ana amount paid in
settlement of,ff and eligible proceeding.

(b) “eligible proceeding” meana s a proceeding in which an eligible party or any of the heirs and
personal or other legal representatives of the eligible party, by reason of the eligible party being or
having been a director or offff iff cer of,ff or holding or having held a position equivalent to that of a
director or offff iff cer of,ff the Compm any or an associated corpr oration (i) is or may be joined as a party,
or (ii) is or may be liable foff r or in respect of a judgment, penalty or fiff ne in, or expenses related to,
the proceeding.

(c) “proceeding” includes any legal proceeding or investigative action, whether current, threatened ,
pending or completed.

Under Section 161 of the BCBCA, and subjb ect to Section 163 of the BCBCA, we must, aftff er the fiff nal
disposition of an eligible proceeding, pay the expenses actut ally and reasonably incurred by an eligible party in
respect of that proceeding if the eligible party (i) has not been reimbursed foff r those expenses, and (ii) is wholly
successfuff l, on the merits or otht erwise, in the outcome of the proceeding or is substantially successfuff l on the merits
in the outcome of the proceeding.

Under Section 162 of the BCBCA, and subjb ect to Section 163 of the BCBCA, we may payaa , as they are
incurred in advd ance of the fiff nal disposition of an eligible proceeding, the expenses actut ally and reasonably incurred
by an eligible party in respect of the proceeding, provided that the Company must not make such payments unless
we fiff rst receive frff om the eligible party a written undertaking that, if it is ultimately determrr ined that the payment of
expenses is prohibited under Section 163 of tht e BCBCA, the eligible party will repayaa the amounts advana ced.

Under Section 163 of the BCBCA, we must not indemnifyff an eligible party against eligible penalties to
which the eligible para ty is or may be liable or payaa the expenses of an eligible partytt in respect of that proceeding
under Sections 160, 161 or 162 of the BCBCA, as the case may be, if any of the foff llowing circumstances apa ply:

• if the indemnity or payment is made under ana earlier agreement to indemnifyff or payaa expenses and, at
the time that the agreement to indemnifyff or pay expenses was made, the Compana y was prohibited frff om
giving the indemnity or paying the expenses by the Compm any’s memorana dum or Articles;

• if the indemnity or payment is made otherwise than under an earlier agreement to indemnifyff or pay
expenses and, at tht e time that the indemnity or payment is made, the Compana y is prohibited frff om
giving the indemnity or paying the expenses by the Compm any’s memorana dum or Articles;

• if,ff in relation to the subjb ect matter of the eligible proceeding, the eligible partytt did not act honestly and
in good faff ith with a view to the best interests of the Company or the associated corpr oration, as the case
may be; or

• in the case of ana eligible proceeding otht er than a civil proceeding, if tht e eligible para ty did not have
reasonable grounds foff r believing that the eligible party’s conduct in respect of which tht e proceeding
was brought was lawfuff l.

If an eligible proceeding is brought against an eligible party by or on behalf of the Companaa y or by or on
behalf of an associated corprr oration, we must not either indemnifyff the eligible party against eligible penalties to
which the eligible para ty is or may be liable, or payaa the expenses of the eligible paraa ty under Sections 160, 161 or 162
of the BCBCA, as the case may be, in respect of thtt e proceeding.

Under Section 164 of the BCBCA, and despite any other provision of Part 5, Division 5 of the BCBCA and
whether or not payment of expenses or indemnififf cation has been sought, authorized or declined under Part 5,
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Division 5 of the BCBCA, on apa plication of the Compana y or an eligible partytt , the Supuu reme Court of British
Columbia may do one or more of the foff llowing:

• order us to indemnifyff ana eligible party against any liability incurred by tht e eligible para ty in respect of
an eligible proceeding;

• order us to pay some or all of tht e expenses incurred by ana eligible party in respect of an eligible
proceeding;

• order tht e enfoff rcement of,ff or payment under, ana agreement of indemnififf cation entered into by us;

• order us to pay some or all of thtt e expenses actutt ally and reasonably incurred by anaa y person in obtaining
an order under Section 164 of the BCBCA; or

• make any other order the courtrr considers apa propriate.

Section 165 of the BCBCA provides that we may purchase and maintain insurance foff r the benefiff t of an
eligible party or the heirs and personal or other legal representatives of the eligible party against any liability that
may be incurred by reason of tht e eligible party being or having been a director or offff iff cer of,ff or holding or having
held a position equivalent to tht at of a director or offff iff cer of,ff tht e Company or ana associated corprr oration.

Under our Articles, and subu jb ect to the BCBCA, we must indemnifyff an eligible partytt and his or her heirs
and legal personal representatives against all eligible penalties to which such person is or may be liable, ana d we
must, aftff er the fiff nal disposition of ana eligible proceeding, payaa the expenses actutt ally and reasonably incurred by such
person in respect of that proceeding. Each eligible para ty is deemed to have contracted with the Company on tht e
terms of the indemnity contained in the Articles.

Under our Articles, and subu jb ect to the BCBCA, we may agree to indemnifyff and may indemnifyff any person
(including an eligible party) against eligible penalties and pay expenses incurred in connection with the perfoff rmana ce
of services by that person foff r us.

Under our Articles, and subu jb ect to the BCBCA, we may advana ce expenses to an eligible partrr y.

Pursuant to our Articles, the faff ilure of ana eligible para ty to comply with the BCBCA or the Articles does not,
of itself,ff invalidate any indemnity to which he or she is entitled under the Articles.

Under our Articles, we may purchase and maintain insurana ce foff r the benefiff t of an eligible person (or his or
her heirs or legal personal representatives) against any liability incurred by him or her as a director, offff iff cer or person
who holds or held such equqq ivalent position.

Transfeff r Agent and Registrar

The Transfeff r Agent and Registrar foff r shares of our common shares is American Stock Transfeff r & Trur st
Company, LLC (“AST”). The address foff r AST is 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219 and its telephone
number is (718) 921-8206.
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Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name Country

XBiotech USA, Inc. United States
(Delaware)
XBiotech Germany GmbH Germany
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to tht e incorpr oration by refeff rence in tht e Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-207476 and
333-249288) of our report dated March 15, 2023 relating to the consolidated fiff nancial statements of XBiotech Inc.
and subsidiaries apa pearing in tht is Annual Report on Form 10-K of XBiotech Inc. and subsidiaries foff r the year ended
December 31, 2022.

/s/ Whitley Penn LLP
Austin, Texas
March 15, 2023

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorpr oration by refeff rence in the foff llowing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-207476) pertaining to the 2005 Incentive Stock Option

Plan and 2015 Equity Incentive Plan of XBiotech Inc.; anaa d
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-249288) pertaining to the 2015 Equqq ity Incentive Plan

of XBiotech Inc.

of our report dated March 15, 2022, with respect to the consolidated fiff nancial statements of XBiotech Inc. included
in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of XBiotech Inc. foff r the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 15, 2022
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, John Simard, certifyff that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of XBiotech Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrur e statement of a material faff ct or omit to state a
material faff ct necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the fiff nancial statements, and other fiff nancial infoff rmation included in this report, faff irly
present in all material respects the fiff nancial condition, results of operations and cash flff ows of the registrant as of,ff
and foff r, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyff ing offff iff cer and I ara e responsible foff r establishing ana d maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defiff ned in Exchange Act RuRR les 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internrr al control over fiff nancial
reporting (as defiff ned in Exchana ge Act RuRR les 13a-15(f)ff ana d 15d-15(f)ff ) foff r the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or cauaa sed such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervrr ision, to ensure tht at material infoff rmation relating to thtt e registrtt ant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepara ed;

(b) Designed such internrr al control over fiff nana cial reporting, or caused such internal control over fiff nancial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regara ding tht e
reliability of fiff nana cial reporting and tht e preparation of fiff nancial statements foff r external purpr oses in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effff eff ctiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about tht e effff eff ctiveness of tht e disclosure contrtt ols and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fiff nana cial reporting tht at
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiff scal quarter (the registrant’s foff urth fiff scal quara ter in the
case of an annual report) tht at has materially affff eff cted, or is reasonably likely to materially affff eff ct, the
registrant’s internal control over fiff nancial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyff ing offff iff cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over fiff nancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the auaa dit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons perfoff rming the equivalent fuff nctions):

(a) All signififf cant defiff ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internrr al control over
fiff nancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affff eff ct the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report fiff nancial infoff rmation; ana d

(b) Any frff auaa d, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signififf cant role in the registrant's internal control over fiff nancial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2023
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/s/ John Simard
John Simard
Chief Executive Offff iff cer and President
(Principal Executive Offff iff cer)
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Angela Hu, certifyff that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of XBiotech Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrur e statement of a material faff ct or omit to state a
material faff ct necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the fiff nancial statements, and other fiff nancial infoff rmation included in this report, faff irly
present in all material respects the fiff nancial condition, results of operations and cash flff ows of the registrant as of,ff
and foff r, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyff ing offff iff cer and I ara e responsible foff r establishing ana d maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defiff ned in Exchange Act RuRR les 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internrr al control over fiff nancial
reporting (as defiff ned in Exchana ge Act RuRR les 13a-15(f)ff ana d 15d-15(f)ff ) foff r the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or cauaa sed such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervrr ision, to ensure tht at material infoff rmation relating to tht e registrtt ant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepara ed;

(b) Designed such internrr al control over fiff nana cial reporting, or caused such internal control over fiff nancial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regaraa ding thtt e
reliability of fiff nana cial reporting and thtt e preparation of fiff nancial statements foff r external purpr oses in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effff eff ctiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about tht e effff eff ctiveness of tht e disclosure contrtt ols and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fiff nana cial reporting tht at
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiff scal quarter (the registrant’s foff urth fiff scal quaraa ter in the
case of an annual report) tht at has materially affff eff cted, or is reasonably likely to materially affff eff ct, the
registrant’s internal control over fiff nancial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyff ing offff iff cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over fiff nancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the auaa dit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons perfoff rming the equivalent fuff nctions):

(a) All signififf cant defiff ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internrr al control over
fiff nancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affff eff ct the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report fiff nancial infoff rmation; ana d
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(b) Any frff auaa d, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signififf cant role in the registrant's internal control over fiff nancial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2023

/s/Angela Hu
Angela Hu
Principal Financial Offff iff cer and Principal Accounting Offff iff cer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of XBiotech Inc. on Form 10-K foff r the period ended December 31,
2022 as fiff led with the Securities and Exchana ge Commission on the date hereof (the “Reportrr ”), I, John Simard, Chief
Executive Offff iff cer and President of the Compm any, certifyff , pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906
of the Sarbr ana es-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knkk owledge:

(1) The Report fuff lly compm lies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The infoff rmation contained in the Report faff irly presents, in all material respects, the fiff nancial condition
and results of operations of XBiotech Inc.

/s/JOHN SIMARD
John Simard
Chief Executive Offff iff cer and President
(Principal Executive Offff iff cer)
Date: March 15, 2023
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of XBiotech Inc. on Form 10-K foff r the period ended December 31, 2022 as
fiff led with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Angela Hu, Principal
Financial Offff iff cer and Principal Accounting Offff iff cer of the Company, certifyff , pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbr anes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fuff lly compm lies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The infoff rmation contained in the Report faff irly presents, in all material respects, the fiff nancial condition
and results of operations of XBiotech Inc.

/s/ Angela Hu
Angela Hu
Principal Financial Offff iff cer and Principal Accounting Offff iff cer
Date: March 15, 2023




